
 

Citizens Watchdog Committee 
Meeting Agenda 

Monday, January 10, 2011 
1333 Broadway, Suite 300, Oakland, CA  94612 

 
 

**NOTE: EARLIER TIME FOR AUDIT AND COMPLIANCE REVIEW** 
5:30 to 6:30 p.m. – Audit and Compliance Report Review 
6:30 to 8:30 p.m. – Regular CWC Meeting 

 
 

Meeting Outcomes: 
• Review audit and compliance reports 
• Receive an update on projects, programs, financials, and contracting procedures 
• Receive an update on the Countywide Transportation Plan and Transportation 

Expenditure Plan development (CWTP‐TEP) 
• Receive Committee Leadership Training 

 
5:30 – 6:30 p.m.  1. Audit and Compliance Report Review 

01_Audit_and_Compliance_Report_Summary.pdf – Page 1 
I

6:30 – 6:35 p.m.  2. Welcome to CWC Meeting, and Introductions 

6:35 – 6:40 p.m.  3. Public Comment  I

6:40 – 6:45 p.m.  4. Approval of November 8, 2010 Minutes 
04_CWC_Meeting_Minutes_110810.pdf – Page 3 
04A_CWC_Ad‐hoc_Committee_Minutes_110310.pdf – Page 9 

A

6:45 – 7:00 p.m.  5. Countywide Transportation Plan and Transportation Expenditure 
Plan Development Update 
05_Memo_Regional_SCS/RTP_CWTP‐TEP_Process.pdf – Page 33 
05A_CWTP‐TEP‐SCS_Development_Impl_Schedule.pdf – Page 37 
05B_ABAG_Staff_Report_on_SCS.pdf – Page 41 
05C_SCS_Schedule.pdf – Page 49 
05D_CAWG_and_TAWG_Rosters.pdf – Page 53 
05E_CWTP‐TEP_Planning_Webpage.pdf – Page 59 

I

7:00 – 7:05 p.m.  6. CWC Member Reports/Issues Identification 
06_CWC_Issues_Identification_Form.pdf – Page 61 

I

   



Alameda CTC Citizens Advisory Committee Meeting Agenda  1/10/2011 
    Page 2 

7:05 – 8:20 p.m.  7. Committee Leadership Training 
07A_Brown_Act_Guide.pdf – Page 63 
07B_Brown_Act_Amendment_Brief_2008.pdf – Page 115 
 
Additional materials will be handed out during the training. 

8:20 – 8:30 p.m.  8. Staff Reports/Board Actions 
A. General Items 

08A_Alameda_CTC_Action_Items.pdf – Page 117 
08A1_CWC_Calendar.pdf – Page 123 
08A2_CWC_Roster.pdf – Page 125 

I

8:30 p.m.  9. Adjournment 

Key: A – Action Item; I – Information/Discussion Item; full packet available at www.alamedactc.org  

Next Meeting: 
Date:  March 14, 2011 
Time:  6:30 to 8:30 p.m. 
Location:  Alameda CTC Offices, 1333 Broadway, Suite 300, Oakland, CA  94612 

 
 
Staff Liaisons 
Tess Lengyel, Programs and Public Affairs Manager, (510) 2676111, tlengyel@actia2022.com 
Anees Azad, Finance and Administration Manager, (510) 267‐6101, aazad@actia2022.com  
Angie Ayers, Program Management Team, (510) 267‐6115, aayers@actia2022.com  
 
Location Information: Alameda CTC is located in Downtown Oakland at the intersection of 14th Street and 
Broadway. The office is just a few steps away from the City Center/12th Street BART station. Bicycle parking is 
available inside the building, and in electronic lockers at 14th and Broadway near Frank Ogawa Plaza (requires 
purchase of key card from bikelink.org). There is garage parking for autos and bicycles in the City Center Garage 
(enter on 14th Street between Broadway and Clay). Visit the Alameda CTC website for more information on how to 
get to the Alameda CTC: http://www.alamedactc.com/directions.html. 
 
Public Comment: Members of the public may address the committee regarding any item, including an item not on 
the agenda. All items on the agenda are subject to action and/or change by the committee. The chair may change 
the order of items. 
 
Accommodations/Accessibility: Meetings are wheelchair accessible. Please do not wear scented products so that 
individuals with environmental sensitivities may attend. Call (510) 893‐3347 (Voice) or (510) 834‐6754 (TTD) five 
days in advance to request a sign‐language interpreter. 

http://www.actia2022.com/
mailto:tlengyel@actia2022.com
mailto:aazad@actia2022.com
mailto:aayers@actia2022.com
http://www.alamedactc.com/directions.html


AGENCY/JURISDICTION Sender

Signee 

(if other than sender)

Item Received: 

Audit (DUE 12/27/10) or

Compliance (incl. Table 1) 

(DUE 12/31/10)

Date Hard 

Copy Rec'd

Date 

Electronic  

Copy Rec'd

Alameda‐Contra Costa Transit District  Barbara Daniels Audit 12/23/2010 12/23/2010

Alameda‐Contra Costa Transit District  Barbara Daniels Mary V. King Compliance 12/30/2010 12/30/2010

Bay Area Rapid Transit  Christopher Gan Audit 12/29/2010 12/23/2010

Bay Area Rapid Transit  Laura Timothy Compliance 12/30/2010 12/28/2010

Livermore Amador Valley Transit Authority  Beverly Adamo Paul Matsuoka Audit 11/15/2010
Downloaded from 

website

Livermore Amador Valley Transit Authority  Tamara Edwards Paul Matsuoka Compliance 10/11/2010 11/17/2010

Alameda County Public Works Agency  Fifi Ngom Audit 12/23/2010 12/23/2010

Alameda County Public Works Agency  James Chu William Lepere Compliance 12/29/2010 12/29/2010

Altamont Commuter Express  Margaret Merin Audit 12/28/2010 12/27/2010

Altamont Commuter Express  Compliance 1/4/2011

City of Alameda (with Ferries) Audit 12/23/2010

City of Alameda (with Ferries) Compliance 12/23/2010

City of Albany Audit

City of Albany Compliance 12/23/2010 12/21/2010

City of Berkeley Peggy Kirihara Audit 12/28/2010 12/27/2010

City of Berkeley Peggy Kirihara Compliance 12/28/2010 12/27/2010

City of Dublin Nicole Gonzales Audit 12/23/2010 12/21/2010

City of Dublin Nicole Gonzales Compliance 12/23/2010 12/21/2010

City of Emeryville Karan Reid Audit 12/20/2010 12/15/2010

City of Emeryville Karan Reid Compliance 12/20/2010 12/15/2010

City of Fremont Deepak Sharma Audit 12/29/2010 12/27/2010

City of Fremont Tish Saini Fred Diaz Compliance 12/29/2010 12/27/2010

City of Hayward Todd Strojny Fran David Audit 12/21/2010 12/21/2010

City of Hayward Todd Strojny Fran David Compliance 12/21/2010 12/21/2010

City of Livermore Audit

City of Livermore Michael Irby Linda Barton Compliance 12/22/2010 12/21/2010

City of Newark Teresa Francisco Audit 12/23/2010 12/22/2010

City of Newark Soren Fajeau ‐ resent 12/22 John Becker Compliance 12/23/2010 12/20/2010

City of Oakland Ming Emperador Audit 12/23/2010 12/23/2010

City of Oakland Compliance 12/30/2010 12/30/2010

City of Piedmont Ken Lee Audit 12/20/2010 12/15/2010

City of Piedmont Geoff Grote Compliance 12/20/2010

City of Pleasanton Diane Punzo Audit 12/28/2010 12/27/2010

City of Pleasanton Juan Gomez Compliance 12/30/2010 12/28/2010

City of San Leandro Carla Rodriguez Audit 12/23/2010 12/22/2010

City of San Leandro Carla Rodriguez Compliance 12/23/2010 12/22/2010

City of Union City/Union City Transit Audit 1/3/2011 1/4/2011

City of Union City/Union City Transit Wilson Lee Compliance 12/20/2010 12/17/2010

END‐OF‐YEAR PROGRAM COMPLIANCE INTAKE SHEET

FISCAL YEAR 2009 ‐ 2010

TRANSIT AGENCIES

ALAMEDA COUNTY AGENCIES

CITY AGENCIES

F:\Programs\EOY Compliance Reports\2009‐2010\Intake Sheet\Compliance‐Audit Intake Sheet_FY09‐10.xlsx
1/4/2011

3:43 PM

CWC Meeting 1/10/11 
              Attachment 01

Page 1



 

 
 

This page intentionally left blank. 
 
 

 Page 2



 

Alameda CTC Citizens Watchdog Committee Meeting Minutes 
Monday, November 8, 2010, 6:30 p.m., 1333 Broadway, Suite 300, Oakland 

  
Attendance Key (A = Absent, P = Present) 

Members: 
__P__ James Paxson, Chair 
__P__ Jo Ann Lew, Vice Chair 
__P__ Pamela Belchamber 
__P__ Roger Chavarin 
__P__ Mike Dubinsky 
__A__ Thomas Gallagher 

__A__ Arthur Geen 
__A__ James Haussener 
__P__ Miriam Hawley 
__A__ Erik Jensen 
__A__ Melody Marr 
__P__ Harriette Saunders 

__A__ Dave Stark 
__A__ George Zika 
__P__ Hale Zukas 
 

Staff: 
__P__ Arthur L. Dao, Executive Director 
__P__ Anees Azad, Finance and Administration Manager 

__P__ Tess Lengyel, Programs and Public Affairs Manager 
__P__ Angie Ayers, Acumen Building Enterprise, Inc. 

  
 

1. Welcome and Introductions 
James Paxson, CWC Chair, called the meeting to order at 6:35 p.m. and welcomed the new 
members Mike Dubinsky and Miriam Hawley. 
 

2. Public Comments 
There were no public comments. 
 

3. Approval of July 12, 2010 Minutes 
Pamela Belchamber moved to approve the minutes. Roger Chavarin seconded the motion. 
The motion carried with one abstention, Miriam Hawley (7‐1). 
 

4. ACTIA Independent Audit Presentation 
Mark Wong from the independent auditing firm of Maze and Associates, LLP presented 
ACTIA’s audit report for fiscal year 2009‐2010. The auditors reviewed ACTIA’s internal 
operating controls, systems, and processes, as well as the accuracy and reliability of its 
financial records. Mr. Wong reviewed the draft basic financial statements, ACTIA single 
audit financial statements, and the limitations worksheet. 

• Regarding the report of ACTIA’s financial statements, the auditor found no material 
weaknesses or items of administrative concern, and Maze and Associates issued a 
“clean” or “unqualified” opinion, meaning that the information stated is materially 
accurate. 

• The single audit was required for transactions involving federal funds of more than 
$500,000. Federal State Transportation Improvement Program (STIP) and Surface 
Transportation Program (STP) funds in the amount of $823,000 were used for the 
I‐580/Redwood Road Interchange and I‐580 Castro Valley Interchange Improvement 
projects. 

• Anees Azad reviewed the limitations worksheet in detail. 

CWC Meeting 1/10/11 
              Attachment 04

Page 3



Alameda CTC Citizens Watchdog Committee November 8, 2010 Meeting Minutes  2 

 
Anees stated that the Expenditure Plan mandates that the staff salary and benefits must be 
1 percent below the revenue net. It also requires that other administrative costs are less 
than 4.5 percent of the sales tax revenue. Anees mentioned that this is the first year for the 
new cost allocation policy, which separates administrative costs into direct and indirect 
costs. This is also the first time for the ratio of indirect and direct costs. 
 
CWC members made the following inquiries: 

• The financial highlights show $26.1 million for local transportation. Does this also 
include funds for paratransit? Staff stated that the paratransit costs are in mass 
transit. Local transportation is for local streets and roads for jurisdictions. 

• On the balance sheets/statement of net assets, it appears that a portion of the 
reserves are for the Countywide Transportation Plan (CWTP). Staff explained that 
the total CWTP effort will cost $2 million, and the $1 million shown on the balance 
sheet is the amount that the Alameda County Transportation Improvement 
Authority (ACTIA) is matching with the Alameda County Congestion Management 
Agency (ACCMA). 

• Why is Measure B money being used to plan for another set of projects in the 
CWTP? Staff explained that Alameda CTC is using a mix of fund sources, such as the 
Bicycle and Pedestrian Safety funds used to update the Countywide Bicycle and 
Pedestrian Plans (that will also feed into the CWTP); the Congestion Emergency 
Relief fund; the Express Bus fund for use in the transit section of the CWTP; and the 
unused portion of the 4.5 percent of sales tax revenue for administrative costs. 

• When was the transfer of ACTA to ACTIA? The transfer took place on June 24, 2010. 
• Is the date correct for the indirect costs on the limitations worksheet? Yes. 
• How are the retirement plans funded? Are the retirement plans covered under the 

administrative expense? Yes. 
 

5. Discussion of Amendment to 2000 Measure B Expenditure Plan 
Matt Todd discussed the I‐80 Integrated Corridor Mobility Project/San Pablo Avenue 
Arterial and Transit Improvement Project with the CWC. He informed members that a 
request to allocate additional funds and amend the professional services agreement for this 
project will go to the Commission in December. 
 
Staff informed the CWC of an emergency contingency fund, which is part of the Expenditure 
Plan, and is available to fund high‐priority projects that address major regional congestion 
problems that emerge during the life of the plan. The Congestion Relief Emergency fund 
contains $7.6 million, and Alameda CTC wants to use a portion of the funds for a project 
that will relieve congestion on I‐880 at 29 th and 23rd Avenue. This project will tear down the 
overcrossing, which is a major route for trucks. Replacing the overcrossing will improve the 
congestion in 12 lanes and provide longer ramp and auxiliary lanes. To use the Congestion 
Relief Emergency fund, the project must meet three criteria as follows: (1) high priority; (2) 
high congestion; (3) new project emerged during the life of the Expenditure Plan. 

Page 4



Alameda CTC Citizens Watchdog Committee November 8, 2010 Meeting Minutes  3 

 
JoAnn Lew made an expression of support for the project. Harriette Saunders seconded the 
motion. The motion passed unanimously (8‐0). 
 

6. CWC Annual Report Outreach Summary 
A. Summary of Costs 

Tess Lengyel stated that a different approach was taken this year for the CWC Annual 
Report to the public. Staff placed more ads online to redirect traffic back to the website 
to the full online report and placed fewer print advertisements. The budget for the 
Annual Report was $50,000 and the actual cost was $44,973. The CWC inquired how 
many hits occurred on the website for the annual report. Staff will bring that 
information to the next meeting. 
 

B. Summary of Feedback 
Staff stated that one complaint received was that the font was too small in the 
Pleasanton Weekly paper. All other responses were positive. 

 
7. Program Compliance Workshop Update 

Tess Lengyel informed the CWC members that Alameda CTC held a Programs Compliance 
Workshop on September 16, 2010. A total of 23 people attended, which included 
representatives from cities and agencies. Staff stated that program compliance materials 
are on the website, and Alameda CTC is aiming for 100 percent compliance. If an agency is 
not in compliance, Alameda CTC can withhold funds. At the next workshop, staff will 
discourage the cities from using “see attached” and have them expand their answers on the 
forms. 
 

8. CWC Member Reports/Issues Identification and Report from CWC Ad‐hoc Committee 
Meeting 
James Paxson gave an overview of the Issues Identification process and explained that an 
Ad‐hoc Committee is formed once the CWC identifies an issue. The CWC reviewed the CWC 
Ad‐hoc Committee recommendation regarding the City of Fremont and the City of Oakland 
ending balances for fiscal year 2008‐2009.  
 
The Ad‐hoc Committee recommendations to the CWC are: 

1. Should there be a cap on the amount of money an agency has for an ending 
balance? The Paratransit Advisory and Planning Committee (PAPCO) currently has a 
cap in place on how cities deal with reserves, and is a model that can be used for 
Bicycle and Pedestrian Safety, and Local Streets and Roads programs. PAPCO has a 
time period for cities to spend down their money for the paratransit program. How 
should the agreements help to direct those funds? Arthur L. Dao stated that policy 
decisions will be brought to the Commission at the Retreat on December 17. 
 
Should Alameda CTC put more aggressive measures in place to enforce Measure B 
expenditures? Staff stated that when Alameda CTC works with the jurisdiction 

Page 5



Alameda CTC Citizens Watchdog Committee November 8, 2010 Meeting Minutes  4 

agreements, staff can bring them to the CWC for review; and Alameda CTC staff will 
bring potential policy decisions to the Commission Retreat in December. 

2. The CWC should request more project reporting at the CWC meetings annually with 
the jurisdictions to help the cities focus on their delivery processes and 
expenditures. 

3. Alameda CTC can modify the program compliance spreadsheet by allowing the 
jurisdictions to provide more detail. 

 
The CWC members agreed by consensus to send a message to the Commission to review and 
comment on next year’s policy development in preparation for the 2012 agreements. The 
members also want to adopt items 2 and 3 of the CWC Ad‐hoc Committee recommendations 
at the earliest possible time. 
 
The CWC members stated that they would like greater transparency and to make the 
reporting requirements clearer rather than tackle the policy of when people should spend 
money. The cities need to disclose to the public how and when they spend the money. 
 

9. Staff Reports/Commission Actions 
A. Merger Update 

Due to time constraints, this topic was not covered. 
 

B. Semi‐Annual Local Business Enterprise/Small Local Business Enterprise Report 
(LBE/SLBE) Update 
Arun Goel presented to the CWC members the LBE/SLBE utilization report for the period 
of January 1, 2010 to June 30, 2010. During this period, ACTIA had 31 active contracts 
with Local Business Contract Equity (LBCE) Program goals. 
 
Staff monitors the goals and achievements of each contract. ACTIA reserves the right to 
audit the activities of the contracting organizations to ensure they use the funds as 
specified. The purpose of the semi‐annual ACTIA Board report is to ensure staff enforces 
the guidance established by the ACTIA Board. 
 
ACTIA also participates with the Disadvantage Business Enterprise Program, which 
includes minority‐owned and woman‐owned business enterprises. 
 
The Semi‐Annual LBE/SLBE [Local Business Enterprise/Small Local Business Enterprise] 
report indicated that through June 30, 2010, on all active projects, 92 percent of funds 
went to LBE certified firms, and 52 percent went to SLBEs. 
 

   

Page 6



Alameda CTC Citizens Watchdog Committee November 8, 2010 Meeting Minutes  5 

C. General Items 
• Tess Lengyel highlighted items in the Commission Action Items report. 
• Robert Raburn was elected as BART Board of Director for District 4 in November 

2010. 
• A Commission Retreat will take place on December 17, 2010. 
• The City of Union City put a half‐cent sales tax measure on the ballot, and it 

passed; the City of San Leandro put a quarter‐cent sales tax measure on the 
ballot, and it passed; the CMA’s Measure F also passed. 

 
10. Adjournment/Next Meeting 

The meeting adjourned at 9 p.m. 
 
The next meeting is January 10, 2011 at Alameda CTC offices. Please note: To allow for 
review of the Year‐end Program Compliance Reports and Audits, the meeting will begin 
one hour earlier at 5:30 p.m. 

Page 7



 

 
 

This page intentionally left blank. 
 
 

 Page 8



 

Citizens Watchdog Committee Adhoc Committee Meeting Minutes 
Wednesday, November 3, 2010, 3 p.m., 1333 Broadway, Suite 300, Oakland 

  
Attendance Key (A = Absent, P = Present) 

Ad‐hoc Committee Members: 
__P__ James Paxson, Chair 
__P__ Jo Ann Lew, Vice Chair 

__P__ James Haussener 
 

Staff: 
__A__ Arthur L. Dao, Executive Director 
__P__ Anees Azad, Finance and Administration Manager 

__P__ Tess Lengyel, Programs and Public Affairs Manager 
__P__ Angie Ayers, Acumen Building Enterprise, Inc. 

  
 

1. Welcome and Introductions 
James Paxson, CWC Chair, called the meeting to order at 3:05 p.m. and explained the 
desired outcome of the meeting. 
 
Guests Present: City of Fremont: Rene Dalton, Associate Transportation Engineer; Norm 
Hughes, City Engineer; City of Oakland: Mike Neary, Deputy Director of Public Works 
Agency; Bruce Williams, Senior Transportation Planner; and Wladimir Wlassowsky, Civil 
Principal Engineer 
 

2. Overview of CWC Ad‐hoc Committee Process 
Staff and the CWC Chair explained the CWC Ad‐hoc Committee process. The CWC may 
establish an ad‐hoc committee to conduct an investigation and/or review Measure B 
expenditures; the role of the citizens’ oversight committee is written into the Expenditure 
Plan. 
 

3. City of Fremont Presentation 
The City of Fremont staff explained that the City had been a recipient of stimulus funds and 
Measure B funds for Local Streets and Roads. The City has tried to spend the stimulus funds 
first, since Measure B funds do not have the same constraints as federal funds. The ending 
balance for Measure B Bicycle and Pedestrian Safety and Local Streets and Roads funds was 
$1.9 million for fiscal year 2008‐2009. 
 
The City of Fremont provided handouts and explained that it has three categories of 
projects as follows: 

• Category 1 – Uncompleted Projects: Typically, the City completes projects within 
two to three years. Four projects in this category are associated with the $1.9 million 
reserves listed in the CWC issues form:  

o The Central Park Gomes Park Union Pacific Railroad (UPRR) Pedestrian 
Crossing Project was delayed due to UPRR and the California Public Utilities 

CWC Meeting 1/10/11 
           Attachment 04A

Page 9



Citizens Watchdog Committee Ad‐hoc Committee November 3, 2010 Meeting Minutes  2 

Commission permitting process. This project was first funded in 2003 and will 
be complete by September 2011. 

o The School Traffic Safety Program was first funded in 2005, and preliminary 
engineering analysis is ongoing for this project. The project is scheduled to be 
complete by December 2012  

o The Mission Blvd Sidewalk/Street Improvements (I‐680 to Mission Creek) 
Project is delayed due to higher‐priority projects. This project was first 
funded in 2007 and is scheduled to be complete by August 2012. 

o The Pedestrian Accessibility Improvements Project is on schedule and is 
50 percent complete. However, the City plans to use the reserves from this 
project for Americans with Disabilities Act (ADA) issues. 

 
The CWC Ad‐hoc Committee noted that once the Category 1 projects are complete, the $1.9 
million will be reduced dramatically. 
 

• Category 2 – Ongoing Projects: Two capital projects, the East‐West Connector and 
the BART Warm Springs Extension, pay staff support out of Local Streets and Roads 
funds. Four Measure B projects received state grant funds, Proposition 42 funds, and 
Proposition 1B funds. The City spent the funds from the other sources first, which 
left remaining balances for Measure B funds. 

• Category 3 – Completed Projects: These are shown in Attachment A. 
 

4. CWC Member Questions and Answers for City of Fremont 
The following inquiries were made by the CWC members: 

• On the Local Streets and Roads projects, if projects get other funding, how do you 
use the Measure B funds? The City of Fremont staff replied that they would use the 
funds on Congestion Management Programs (CMPs). 

• For delayed Bicycle and Pedestrian Safety projects, do they still incur administrative 
costs? The City of Fremont replied that some salaries are charged as overhead. 
Administrative time/cost is not charged if the project is delayed. However, the City 
receives interest when projects are delayed, and uses that for the project. 

• Do you have a five‐year Capital Improvement Program (CIP)? Yes. More detailed 
planning occurs the first two years of a five‐year CIP. The third, fourth, and fifth 
years are for planning regarding anticipated funding, which the City looks at every 
two years. 

 
5. Next Steps for the City of Fremont 

The CWC Ad‐hoc Committee made a determination that the City of Fremont does not 
require additional follow up. The Committee was satisfied with the explanation that the City 
provided. 
 

6. City of Oakland Presentation 
The City of Oakland staff explained that the City revenues increased faster than expected 
due to a booming economy at the beginning of the decade, and that similar to the City of 

Page 10



Citizens Watchdog Committee Ad‐hoc Committee November 3, 2010 Meeting Minutes  3 

Fremont, some projects were funded with other sources, such as the American 
Reinvestment and Recovery Act (ARRA) funds, which have specific spend‐down deadlines. 
Staff also discussed how the Current Capital Improvement Program (CIP) works, whereby 
design and construction funds are appropriated for a project in a single year; however, the 
actual construction will take place in a later year than appropriated, leaving a fund balance. 
The City of Oakland is in the process of modifying its CIP policy to be more in alignment with 
project development stages and funding needs. The City of Oakland staff also explained 
how they appropriate funds and the draw‐down period that will occur over the next few 
years, as shown on Attachment B. The handouts show how the funds will be depleted by 
2014. 
 
Oakland staff stated that they are moving to a better approach for project delivery. They 
are creating an on‐call team of contractors that will reduce the project delivery time. 
 

7. CWC Member Questions and Answers for City of Oakland 
• Are there unmet needs so that the City can use the money instead of keeping it in 

the bank? How is the City spending the money down? The City of Oakland explained 
that when the money is looked at from a budget point of view, the large balances do 
not show versus a snapshot in a point in time that can reflect large balances. The 
City also explained that the large balance is a red flag to the department. The City 
does not want to spend everything appropriated at one time. Last year, for example, 
the audit showed $13 million; however $11 million was appropriated and will not be 
spent in the year appropriated. 

• The CWC stated that the public may have issues with the large amount that is 
maintained by the City. Something more needs to be put in the audit report to 
explain the Measure B fund amount. Alameda CTC stated that the City of Oakland 
can add more of a description when reporting to the Alameda CTC. 

• How does the City of Oakland break down non‐project expenses? The City stated 
that personnel and material costs are related to operations and maintenance, which 
are spent annually. 

 
8. Next Steps for the City of Oakland 

The City of Oakland showed how the funds will be depleted by 2014. Also, the City will 
provide more detail on the audit reports to explain how the City appropriated the funds and 
when it will spend the funds. 
 

9. CWC Ad‐hoc Committee Recommendation to Full CWC 
The CWC Ad‐hoc Committee was satisfied with the verbal explainations and handout 
materials given by the City of Fremont and City of Oakland staff. The Ad‐hoc Committee 
considerations and recommendations to the CWC are as follows: 

1. Should there be a cap on the amount of money an agency has for an ending 
balance? Should Alameda CTC put more aggressive measures in place to enforce 
Measure B expenditures? 

Page 11



Citizens Watchdog Committee Ad‐hoc Committee November 3, 2010 Meeting Minutes  4 

2. The CWC should request more project reporting at the CWC meetings annually with 
the jurisdictions to help the cities to focus on their delivery processes and 
expenditures. 

3. Alameda CTC can modify the program compliance spreadsheet by allowing the 
jurisdictions to provide more detail instead of putting information under the other 
category. For example, the form could have other options so the City of Oakland’s 
$5.7 million in administrative costs that went under the other category, could 
include more detailed information. 

 
10. Adjournment 

The meeting adjourned at 5 p.m. 

Page 12



Page 13



Page 14



Page 15



Page 16



Page 17



Page 18



Page 19



Page 20



Page 21



 

 
 

This page intentionally left blank. 
 
 

 Page 22



Page 23



Page 24



Page 25



Page 26



Page 27



Page 28



Page 29



Page 30



Page 31



 

 
 

This page intentionally left blank. 
 
 

 Page 32



  
                  

 
 
 
 
 

 

          
Memorandum 

 
 

DATE: December 29, 2010 
 
TO: CWTP-TEP Technical Advisory Working Group 
 CWTP-TEP Community Advisory Working Group 

 
FROM: Beth Walukas, Manager of Planning 
 Tess Lengyel, Manager of Programming and Public Affairs 

 
SUBJECT: Review Sustainable Community Strategy (SCS)/Regional Transportation Plan (RTP) 

and Countywide Transportation Plan (CWTP)/Transportation Expenditure Plan 
Information 

 
Recommendations: 
This item is for information only.  No action is requested. 
 
Summary: 
This item provides information on regional and countywide transportation planning efforts related to 
the updates of the Countywide Transportation Plan and Sales Tax Transportation Expenditure Plan 
(CWTP-TEP) as well as the Regional Transportation Plan (RTP) and the development of the 
Sustainable Community Strategy (SCS).   
 
Discussion: 
In an effort to keep our various committees up to date on the regional and countywide planning 
processes, staff will be submitting monthly reports to ACTAC; the Planning, Policy and Legislation 
Committee (PPLC); the Alameda CTC Board; the Citizens Watchdog Committee, Paratransit 
Advisory and Planning Committee, Citizens Advisory Committee, and Bicycle and Pedestrian 
Advisory Committee detailing what information is being discussed and reviewed by the CWTP-TEP 
Steering Committee and the CWTP-TEP Technical and Community Advisory Working Groups.  
Since our countywide planning efforts parallel the regional planning efforts, this report will also 
provide relevant information on regional processes.  The purpose is to identify on a regular basis 
where input from Committee members is desired.  All documents and agendas are posted on the 
Alameda CTC website. 
 
Summary of Countywide Planning Efforts 
The three year CWTP-TEP schedule showing countywide and regional planning milestones is 
attached (Attachment A).  In the next three months, the CWTP-TEP Committees will be focusing on: 

• finalizing the vision and goals; 
• placing the CWTP-TEP update in context of Alameda County demographics and current 

performance of the transportation system.  The Committees are currently reviewing and 

CWC Meeting 1/10/11 
              Attachment 05

Page 33



providing comment on a Briefing Book, available on the Alameda CTC’s website, that is 
intended to be an information and reference document and a point of departure for the 
discussion on transportation needs; 

• discussing and identifying performance measures and a methodology for prioritizing 
improvements;  

• identifying transportation needs and issues including review of a series of white papers 
identifying best practices and strategies; 

• conducting polling for an initial read on voter perceptions; 
• discussing and identifying how to do the call for projects, particularly how we can combine 

with the regional call and what kind of supplemental information we will need; 
• coordinating with ABAG and local jurisdictions on defining the Vision Scenarios for the 

Sustainable Communities Strategy; 
• defining a public participation approach and beginning public outreach efforts; and 

 
Additionally, the Alameda CTC Board met on December 17, 2010 for its annual retreat.  One of the 
key items discussed was the CWTP-TEP update.  Staff is in the process of documenting the results of 
the discussion and will provide information at the meeting as it is available. 
 
Summary of Regional Planning Efforts 
We have been coordinating the CWTP-TEP efforts with work on the Regional Transportation Plan 
(RTP), the Sustainable Communities Strategy (SCS) and other Plans and direction being developed 
by the San Francisco Bay Conservation and Development Commission (BCDC) and the Bay Area Air 
Quality Management District (BAAQMD).  In the first quarter of 2011, the regional efforts are 
focusing developing a SCS Vision Scenario, getting the word out to City Councils and Boards of 
Directors on what the SCS is, beginning the RHNA process, developing financial projections and a 
committed transportation funding policy, developing a call for projects, and completing the work on 
targets and indicators for assessing performance of the projects.   
 
In the next three months, staff will be coordinating with the regional agencies and providing feedback 
on these issues, including:   
 

• participating on the MTC/ABAG Regional Advisory Working Group (RAWG), which is in 
the process of defining performance targets and indicators with which to compare and evaluate 
the SCS land use scenarios, presenting information on how the Priority Development Area 
Assessment will be used in developing the Vision Scenarios; and seeking input on the initial 
Vision Scenario that is being developed.  ABAG is working directly with the local jurisdiction 
Planning Directors to seek input from each local City Council or Board of Directors on the 
Vision Scenario in January and February 2011.  Attachment B contains a draft staff report 
developed by ABAG for use by the local jurisdiction; 

• participating on regional Sub-committees:  on-going performance targets and indicators and 
the equity sub-committee which is being formed by MTC; 

 
These activities will feed into our discussion on revenue and financial projections and availability and 
the discussion of transportation investment both new and existing that will begin around the early 
spring timeframe. 
 
Key Dates and Opportunities for Input 
The key dates shown in Attachment A are indications of where input and comment are desired.  The 
major activities and dates are highlighted below by activity:   

Page 34



 
Sustainable Communities Strategy: 
Presentation of SCS Vision Scenario information to local jurisdictions:  January/February 2011 
Detailed SCS Scenarios Released:  July 2011 
Preferred SCS Scenario Released/Approved:  December 2011/January 2012 
 
RHNA 
RHNA Process Begins:  January 2011 
Draft RHNA Plan released:  February 2012 
Final RHNA Plan released/Adopted:  July 2012/October 2012 
 
RTP 
Develop Financial Forecasts and Committed Funding Policy:   February 2011 
Call for RTP Transportation Projects and Performance Assessment:  March 2011 - September 2011 
Transportation Policy Investment Dialogue:  October 2011 – February 2012 
Prepare SCS/RTP Plan: April 2012 – October 2012 
Draft RTP/SCS for Released:  November 2012 
Adopt SCS/RTP:  April 2013 
 
CWTP-TEP 
Draft List of CWTP screened Projects and Programs:  July 2011 
First Draft CWTP:  September 2011 
TEP Program and Project Packages:  September 2011 
Draft CWTP and TEP Released:  January 2012 
Outreach:  January 2012 – June 2012 
Adopt CWTP and TEP:  July 2012 
TEP Submitted for Ballot:  August 2012 
 
Upcoming Meetings: 
 

Committee Regular Meeting Date and Time Next Meeting 
CWTP-TEP Steering Committee 4th Thursday of the month, noon 

Location: Alameda CTC 
January 27, 2011 
February 24, 2011 

CWTP-TEP Technical Advisory 
Working Group 

1st Tuesday of the month, 11:00 a.m. 
Location: Alameda CTC 

January 4, 2011 
February 1, 2011 

CWTP-TEP Community Advisory 
Working Group 

1st Thursday of the month, 3:00 p.m. 
Location: Alameda CTC 

January 6, 2011 
February 3, 2011 

SCS/RTP Regional Advisory Working 
Group 

1st Tuesday of the month, 9:30 a.m. 
Location:  MetroCenter,Oakland 

January 4, 2011 
February 1, 2011 

SCS/RTP Performance Target Ad Hoc 
Committee 

Varies 
Location:  MetroCenter, Oakland 

January 11, 2011 

SCS/RTP Equity Ad Hoc Committee  TBD TBD 
 
Fiscal Impacts: None.   
 
Attachments:  
Attachment A:  Three Year CWTP-TEP Planning Schedule 
Attachment B:  ABAG Staff Report Template on SCS  

Page 35



 

 
 

This page intentionally left blank. 
 
 

 Page 36



C
o

u
n

ty
w

id
e

 T
ra

n
s

p
o

rt
a

ti
o

n
 P

la
n

 a
n

d
 T

ra
n

s
p

o
rt

a
ti

o
n

 E
x

p
e

n
d

it
u

re
 P

la
n

P
re

li
m

in
a

ry
 D

e
v
e

lo
p

m
e

n
t 

Im
p

le
m

e
n

ta
ti

o
n

 S
c

h
e

d
u

le
 -

 U
p

d
a

te
d

 1
2

/2
2

/1
0

P
ri
n

te
d
: 

1
2
/3

0
/2

0
1
0

C
a

le
n

d
a

r 
Y

e
a

r 
2

0
1

0
A

C
T

C
 F

ir
s
t 

M
e

e
ti

n
g

F
Y

2
0
1
0
-2

0
1
1

T
a
s
k

J
a
n

u
a
ry

F
e
b

ru
a
ry

 
M

a
rc

h
A

p
ri

l
M

a
y

J
u

n
e

J
u

ly
A

u
g

u
s
t

S
e
p

t
O

c
t

N
o

v
D

e
c

S
te

e
ri

n
g

 C
o

m
m

it
te

e
E

s
ta

b
lis

h
 S

te
e
ri
n

g
 

C
o
m

m
it
te

e

W
o
rk

in
g
 m

e
e
ti
n

g
 

to
 e

s
ta

b
lis

h
 r

o
le

s
/ 

 

re
s
p
o
n
s
ib

ili
ti
e

s
, 

c
o
m

m
u
n
it
y
 

w
o
rk

in
g
 g

ro
u
p

R
F

P
 f

e
e
d
b
a
c
k
, 

te
c
h
 w

o
rk

in
g
 

g
ro

u
p

U
p
d
a
te

 o
n
 

T
ra

n
s
p
o
rt

a
ti
o

n
/ 

F
in

a
n
c
e
 I

s
s
u
e
s

A
p
p
ro

v
a
l 
o
f 

C
o
m

m
u
n
it
y
 w

o
rk

in
g
 

g
ro

u
p
 a

n
d
 s

te
e
ri
n

g
 

c
o
m

m
it
te

e
 n

e
x
t 

s
te

p
s

N
o
 M

e
e
ti
n

g
s

F
e

e
d
b
a
c
k
 f

ro
m

 

T
e

c
h
, 

c
o
m

m
 

w
o
rk

in
g
 g

ro
u
p
s

N
o
 M

e
e
ti
n

g
s

E
x
p
a
n
d
 v

is
io

n
 a

n
d
 

g
o
a
ls

 f
o
r 

C
o
u
n
ty

 ?

T
e
c
h

n
ic

a
l 

A
d

v
is

o
ry

 W
o

rk
in

g
 G

ro
u

p
N

o
 M

e
e
ti
n

g
s

 R
o
le

s
, 

re
s
p
, 

s
c
h
e
d
u
le

, 
v
is

io
n
 

d
is

c
u
s
s
io

n
/ 

  
  

  
 

fe
e
d
b
a
c
k

N
o
 M

e
e
ti
n

g
s

E
d
u
c
a
ti
o

n
: 

T
ra

n
s
 

s
ta

ti
s
ti
c
s
, 

is
s
u
e
s
, 

fi
n

a
n
c
ia

ls
 

o
v
e
rv

ie
w

 

C
o

m
m

u
n

it
y
 A

d
v

is
o

ry
 W

o
rk

in
g

 G
ro

u
p

N
o
 M

e
e
ti
n

g
s

 R
o
le

s
, 

re
s
p
, 

s
c
h
e
d
u
le

, 
v
is

io
n
 

d
is

c
u
s
s
io

n
/ 

  
  

  
 

fe
e
d
b
a
c
k

N
o
 M

e
e
ti
n

g
s

E
d
u
c
a
ti
o

n
: 

T
ra

n
s
p
o
rt

a
ti
o

n
 

s
ta

ti
s
ti
c
s
, 

is
s
u
e
s
, 

fi
n

a
n
c
ia

ls
 

o
v
e
rv

ie
w

 

P
u

b
li

c
 P

a
rt

ic
ip

a
ti

o
n

N
o
 M

e
e
ti
n

g
s

S
ta

k
e
h
o
ld

e
r 

o
u
tr

e
a
c
h

A
g

e
n

c
y
 P

u
b

li
c
 E

d
u

c
a
ti

o
n

 a
n

d
 O

u
tr

e
a
c
h

 

T
e
c
h

n
ic

a
l 

S
tu

d
ie

s
/R

F
P

/W
o

rk
 t

im
e
li

n
e

s
: 

 A
ll

 t
h

is
 w

o
rk

 w
il

l 
b

e
 d

o
n

e
 i

n
 r

e
la

ti
o

n
 t

o
 

S
C

S
 w

o
rk

 a
t 

th
e

 r
e

g
io

n
a

l 
le

v
e
l

B
o
a
rd

 

a
u
th

o
ri
z
a
ti
o

n
 f

o
r 

re
le

a
s
e
 o

f 
 R

F
P

s

P
re

-B
id

 m
e
e
ti
n

g
s
  

  
 

P
ro

p
o
s
a
ls

 

re
v
ie

w
e
d

A
L
F

/A
L
C

 a
p
p
ro

v
e
s
 

s
h
o
rt

lis
t 

a
n
d
 

in
te

rv
ie

w
; 

B
o
a
rd

 

a
p
p
ro

v
e
s
 t

o
p
 r

a
n
k
e
d
, 

a
u
th

. 
to

 n
e
g
o
ti
a

te
 o

r 

N
T

P
  

P
o

ll
in

g

L
o
c
a
l 
L
a
n
d
 U

s
e
 

U
p
d
a
te

 P
2
0
0
9
 

b
e
g
in

s
 &

 P
D

A
 

A
s
s
e
s
s
m

e
n
t 

b
e
g
in

s

G
re

e
n
 H

o
u
s
e
 G

a
s
 

T
a

rg
e
t 

a
p
p
ro

v
e
d
 b

y
 

C
A

R
B

.

A
d
o
p
t 

m
e
th

o
d
o
lo

g
y
 f

o
r 

J
o
b
s
/H

o
u
s
in

g
 F

o
re

c
a
s
t 

(S
ta

tu
to

ry
 T

a
rg

e
t)

P
ro

je
c
ti
o

n
s
 2

0
1
1
 

B
a
s
e
 C

a
s
e

A
d
o
p
t 

V
o
lu

n
ta

ry
 

P
e
rf

o
rm

a
n
c
e
 

T
a

rg
e
ts

2
0
1
0

2
0
1
0

S
u

s
ta

in
a
b

le
 C

o
m

m
u

n
it

ie
s
 S

tr
a
te

g
y
/R

e
g

io
n

a
l 
T

ra
n

s
p

o
rt

a
ti

o
n

 P
la

n

S
ta

rt
  

V
is

io
n
 S

c
e
n
a
ri
o

 D
is

c
u
s
s
io

n
s

R
e
g

io
n

a
l 

S
u

s
ta

in
a

b
le

 C
o

m
m

u
n

it
y
 S

tr
a
te

g
y
 D

e
v
e
lo

p
m

e
n

t 
P

ro
c
e
s
s
 -

 F
in

a
l 

R
T

P
 i

n
 

A
p

ri
l 

2
0
1
3

In
fo

rm
a
ti
o

n
 a

b
o
u
t 

u
p
c
o
m

in
g
 C

W
T

P
 U

p
d
a
te

 a
n
d
 r

e
a
u
th

o
ri
z
a
ti
o

n

T
e

c
h
n
ic

a
l 
W

o
rk

A
la

m
e
d

a
 C

T
C

 T
e
c
h

n
ic

a
l 
W

o
rk

A
la

m
e
d

a
 C

T
C

 C
o

m
m

it
te

e
/P

u
b

li
c
 P

ro
c
e
s
s

\\
A

la
m

e
d
a
\m

e
a
s
u
re

b
\S

H
A

R
E

D
\G

o
v
B

o
a
rd

\A
C

T
IA

\C
W

C
\M

e
e
ti
n

g
s
\2

0
1
1
\0

1
.1

0
.1

1
\0

5
A

_
C

W
T

P
-T

E
P

-S
C

S
_
D

e
v
e
lo

p
m

e
n
t_

Im
p
l_

S
c
h
e
d
u
le

.x
ls

, 
T

W
O

-Y
E

A
R

 S
te

e
ri
n

g
C

o
m

m
P

u
b
P

ro
c
e
s
s

1
P

a
g
e
  

1
 o

f 
3

CW
C 

M
ee

ti
ng

 1
/1

0/
11

 
   

   
   

  A
tt

ac
hm

en
t 0

5A

Page 37



C
o

u
n

ty
w

id
e

 T
ra

n
s

p
o

rt
a

ti
o

n
 P

la
n

 a
n

d
 T

ra
n

s
p

o
rt

a
ti

o
n

 E
x

p
e

n
d

it
u

re
 P

la
n

P
re

li
m

in
a

ry
 D

e
v
e

lo
p

m
e

n
t 

Im
p

le
m

e
n

ta
ti

o
n

 S
c

h
e

d
u

le
 -

 U
p

d
a

te
d

 1
2

/2
2

/1
0

P
ri
n

te
d
: 

1
2
/3

0
/2

0
1
0

T
a
s
k

S
te

e
ri

n
g

 C
o

m
m

it
te

e

T
e
c
h

n
ic

a
l 

A
d

v
is

o
ry

 W
o

rk
in

g
 G

ro
u

p

C
o

m
m

u
n

it
y
 A

d
v

is
o

ry
 W

o
rk

in
g

 G
ro

u
p

P
u

b
li

c
 P

a
rt

ic
ip

a
ti

o
n

A
g

e
n

c
y
 P

u
b

li
c
 E

d
u

c
a
ti

o
n

 a
n

d
 O

u
tr

e
a
c
h

 

T
e
c
h

n
ic

a
l 

S
tu

d
ie

s
/R

F
P

/W
o

rk
 t

im
e
li

n
e

s
: 

 A
ll

 t
h

is
 w

o
rk

 w
il

l 
b

e
 d

o
n

e
 i

n
 r

e
la

ti
o

n
 t

o
 

S
C

S
 w

o
rk

 a
t 

th
e

 r
e

g
io

n
a

l 
le

v
e
l

P
o

ll
in

g

S
u

s
ta

in
a
b

le
 C

o
m

m
u

n
it

ie
s
 S

tr
a
te

g
y
/R

e
g

io
n

a
l 
T

ra
n

s
p

o
rt

a
ti

o
n

 P
la

n

R
e
g

io
n

a
l 

S
u

s
ta

in
a

b
le

 C
o

m
m

u
n

it
y
 S

tr
a
te

g
y
 D

e
v
e
lo

p
m

e
n

t 
P

ro
c
e
s
s
 -

 F
in

a
l 

R
T

P
 i

n
 

A
p

ri
l 

2
0
1
3

A
la

m
e
d

a
 C

T
C

 T
e
c
h

n
ic

a
l 
W

o
rk

A
la

m
e
d

a
 C

T
C

 C
o

m
m

it
te

e
/P

u
b

li
c
 P

ro
c
e
s
s

C
a

le
n

d
a

r 
Y

e
a

r 
2

0
1

1

F
Y

2
0
1
1
-2

0
1
2

J
a
n

u
a
ry

F
e
b

ru
a
ry

 
M

a
rc

h
A

p
ri

l
M

a
y

J
u

n
e

J
u

ly
A

u
g

u
s
t

S
e
p

t
O

c
t

N
o

v
D

e
c

A
d
o
p
t 

v
is

io
n
 a

n
d
 

g
o
a
ls

; 
b
e
g
in

 

d
is

c
u
s
s
io

n
 o

n
 

p
e
rf

o
rm

a
n
c
e
 

m
e
a
s
u
re

s
, 

k
e
y
 n

e
e
d
s

C
o
n
ti
n

u
e
 

d
is

c
u
s
s
io

n
 o

n
 

p
e
rf

o
rm

a
n
c
e
 

m
e
a
s
u
re

s
, 

c
o
s
ts

 

g
u
id

e
lin

e
s
, 

c
a
ll 

fo
r 

p
ro

je
c
ts

R
e
v
ie

w
 w

o
rk

s
h
o
p
 

o
u
tc

o
m

e
s
, 

w
h
it
e
 

p
a
p
e
r 

is
s
u
e
s
 ,

  

s
tr

a
te

g
ie

s
 a

n
d
 b

e
s
t 

p
ra

c
ti
c
e
s
, 

c
a
ll 

fo
r 

p
ro

je
c
ts

N
o
 M

e
e
ti
n

g
s

R
e
v
ie

w
 C

a
ll 

fo
r 

P
ro

je
c
ts

 

o
u
tc

o
m

e
s
; 

D
is

c
u
s
s
 T

E
P

 

fu
n
d
in

g
 s

tr
a
te

g
ie

s

N
o
 M

e
e
ti
n

g
s
.

P
ro

je
c
t 

e
v
a
lu

a
ti
o

n
 

o
u
tc

o
m

e
s
; 

o
u
tl
in

e
 o

f 

C
W

T
P

; 
T

E
P

 

S
tr

a
te

g
ie

s

N
o
 M

e
e
ti
n

g
s

1
s
t 

D
ra

ft
  

C
W

T
P

, 

T
E

P
 p

o
te

n
ti
a

l 

p
ro

je
c
t 

a
n
d
 

p
ro

g
ra

m
 

p
a
c
k
a
g
e
s

R
e
v
ie

w
 2

n
d
 d

ra
ft

 

C
W

T
P

; 
1
s
t 

d
ra

ft
 

T
E

P

N
o
 M

e
e
ti
n

g
s

C
o
m

m
e
n
t 

o
n
  

v
is

io
n
 

a
n
d
 g

o
a
ls

; 
b
e
g
in

 

d
is

c
u
s
s
io

n
 o

n
 

p
e
rf

o
rm

a
n
c
e
 

m
e
a
s
u
re

s
, 

k
e
y
 n

e
e
d
s

C
o
n
ti
n

u
e
 

d
is

c
u
s
s
io

n
 o

n
 

p
e
rf

o
rm

a
n
c
e
 

m
e
a
s
u
re

s
, 

c
o
s
ts

 

g
u
id

e
lin

e
s
, 

c
a
ll 

fo
r 

p
ro

je
c
ts

R
e
v
ie

w
 w

o
rk

s
h
o
p
 

o
u
tc

o
m

e
s
, 

w
h
it
e
 

p
a
p
e
r 

is
s
u
e
s
 ,

  

s
tr

a
te

g
ie

s
 a

n
d
 b

e
s
t 

p
ra

c
ti
c
e
s
, 

c
a
ll 

fo
r 

p
ro

je
c
ts

N
o
 M

e
e
ti
n

g
s

R
e
v
ie

w
 C

a
ll 

fo
r 

P
ro

je
c
ts

 

o
u
tc

o
m

e
s
; 

D
is

c
u
s
s
 T

E
P

 

fu
n
d
in

g
 s

tr
a
te

g
ie

s

N
o
 M

e
e
ti
n

g
s
.

P
ro

je
c
t 

e
v
a
lu

a
ti
o

n
 

o
u
tc

o
m

e
s
; 

o
u
tl
in

e
 o

f 

C
W

T
P

; 
T

E
P

 

S
tr

a
te

g
ie

s
  

N
o
 M

e
e
ti
n

g
s

1
s
t 

D
ra

ft
  

C
W

T
P

, 

T
E

P
 p

o
te

n
ti
a

l 

p
ro

je
c
t 

a
n
d
 

p
ro

g
ra

m
 

p
a
c
k
a
g
e
s

R
e
v
ie

w
 2

n
d
 d

ra
ft

 

C
W

T
P

; 
1
s
t 

d
ra

ft
 

T
E

P

N
o
 M

e
e
ti
n

g
s

C
o
m

m
e
n
t 

o
n
  

v
is

io
n
 

a
n
d
 g

o
a
ls

; 
b
e
g
in

 

d
is

c
u
s
s
io

n
 o

n
 

p
e
rf

o
rm

a
n
c
e
 

m
e
a
s
u
re

s
, 

k
e
y
 n

e
e
d
s

C
o
n
ti
n

u
e
 

d
is

c
u
s
s
io

n
 o

n
 

p
e
rf

o
rm

a
n
c
e
 

m
e
a
s
u
re

s
, 

c
o
s
ts

 

g
u
id

e
lin

e
s
, 

c
a
ll 

fo
r 

p
ro

je
c
ts

R
e
v
ie

w
 w

o
rk

s
h
o
p
 

o
u
tc

o
m

e
s
, 

w
h
it
e
 

p
a
p
e
r 

is
s
u
e
s
 ,

  

s
tr

a
te

g
ie

s
 a

n
d
 b

e
s
t 

p
ra

c
ti
c
e
s
, 

c
a
ll 

fo
r 

p
ro

je
c
ts

N
o
 M

e
e
ti
n

g
s

R
e
v
ie

w
 C

a
ll 

fo
r 

P
ro

je
c
ts

 

o
u
tc

o
m

e
s
; 

D
is

c
u
s
s
 T

E
P

 

fu
n
d
in

g
 s

tr
a
te

g
ie

s

N
o
 M

e
e
ti
n

g
s
.

P
ro

je
c
t 

e
v
a
lu

a
ti
o

n
 

o
u
tc

o
m

e
s
; 

o
u
tl
in

e
 o

f 

C
W

T
P

; 
T

E
P

 

S
tr

a
te

g
ie

s
 

N
o
 M

e
e
ti
n

g
s

1
s
t 

D
ra

ft
  

C
W

T
P

, 

T
E

P
 p

o
te

n
ti
a

l 

p
ro

je
c
t 

a
n
d
 

p
ro

g
ra

m
 

p
a
c
k
a
g
e
s

R
e
v
ie

w
 2

n
d
 d

ra
ft

 

C
W

T
P

; 
1
s
t 

d
ra

ft
 

T
E

P

N
o
 M

e
e
ti
n

g
s

P
u
b
lic

 W
o
rk

s
h
o
p
s
 i
n

 

tw
o
 a

re
a
s
 o

f 
C

o
u
n
ty

: 

v
is

io
n
 a

n
d
 n

e
e
d
s
; 

C
e
n
tr

a
l 
C

o
u
n
ty

 

T
ra

n
s
p
o
rt

a
ti
o

n
 F

o
ru

m

P
u
b
lic

 W
o
rk

s
h
o
p
s
 

in
 t

w
o
 a

re
a
s
 o

f 

C
o
u
n
ty

: 
v
is

io
n
 a

n
d
 

n
e
e
d
s

E
a
s
t 

C
o
u
n
ty

 

T
ra

n
s
p
o
rt

a
ti
o

n
 

F
o

ru
m

S
o
u
th

 C
o
u
n
ty

 

T
ra

n
s
p
o
rt

a
ti
o

n
 F

o
ru

m
N

o
 M

e
e
ti
n

g
s

 2
n
d
 r

o
u
n
d
 o

f 

p
u
b
lic

 w
o
rk

s
h
o
p
s
 

in
 t

w
o
 a

re
a
s
 o

f 

C
o
u
n
ty

: 
fe

e
d
b
a
c
k
 

o
n
 C

W
T

P
, 

B
3
; 

N
o
rt

h
 C

o
u
n
ty

 

T
ra

n
s
p
o
rt

a
ti
o

n
 

F
o

ru
m

 2
n
d
 r

o
u
n
d
 o

f 

p
u
b
lic

 w
o
rk

s
h
o
p
s
 

in
 t

w
o
 a

re
a
s
 o

f 

C
o
u
n
ty

: 
fe

e
d
b
a
c
k
 

o
n
 C

W
T

P
, 

B
3

N
o
 M

e
e
ti
n

g
s

W
o
rk

 w
it
h
 

fe
e
d
b
a
c
k
 o

n
 

C
W

T
P

 a
n
d
 

fi
n

a
n
c
ia

l 
s
c
e
n
a
ri
o

s

F
ir
s
t 

D
ra

ft
 C

W
T

P
 

u
s
in

g
 S

c
o
ri
n

g
 a

n
d
 

S
c
re

e
n
in

g
 c

ri
te

ri
a

C
o

n
d

u
c
t 

b
a

s
e
li

n
e

 p
o

ll

P
o
lli

n
g

  
o
n
 p

o
s
s
ib

le
  

E
x
p
e
n
d
it
u
re

 P
la

n
 

p
ro

je
c
ts

 &
 p

ro
g

ra
m

s

 
R

e
le

a
s
e
 V

is
io

n
 

S
c
e
n
a
ri
o

R
e
le

a
s
e
 D

e
ta

ile
d
 

S
C

S
 S

c
e
n
a
ri
o

s

R
e
le

a
s
e
 P

re
fe

rr
e
d
 

S
C

S
 S

c
e
n
a
ri
o

D
is

c
u
s
s
 C

a
ll 

fo
r 

P
ro

je
c
ts

C
a
ll 

fo
r 

T
ra

n
s
p
o
rt

a
ti
o

n
 P

ro
je

c
ts

 a
n
d
 

P
ro

je
c
t 

P
e
rf

o
rm

a
n
c
e
 A

s
s
e
s
s
m

e
n
t

P
ro

je
c
t 

E
v
a
lu

a
ti
o

n

O
n
g
o
in

g
 E

d
u
c
a
ti
o

n
 a

n
d
 O

u
tr

e
a
c
h
 t

h
ro

u
g
h
 N

o
v
e
m

b
e
r 

2
0
1
2
 

D
e
ta

ile
d
 S

C
S

 S
c
e
n
a
ri
o

 D
e
v
e
lo

p
m

e
n
t 

D
e
v
e
lo

p
 D

ra
ft

 2
5
-y

e
a
r 

T
ra

n
s
p
o
rt

a
ti
o

n
 F

in
a
n
c
ia

l 
F

o
re

c
a
s
ts

 a
n
d
 

C
o
m

m
it
te

d
 T

ra
n
s
p
o
rt

a
ti
o

n
 F

u
n
d
in

g
 P

o
lic

y

2
0
1
1

O
n
g
o
in

g
 E

d
u
c
a
ti
o

n
 a

n
d
 O

u
tr

e
a
c
h
 t

h
ro

u
g
h
 N

o
v
e
m

b
e
r 

2
0
1
2
 

T
e

c
h
n
ic

a
l 
w

o
rk

 r
e
fi
n

e
m

e
n
t 

a
n
d
 d

e
v
e
lo

p
m

e
n
t 

o
f 

E
x
p
e
n
d
it
u
re

 p
la

n
, 

2
n
d
 d

ra
ft

 C
W

T
P

T
e

c
h
n
ic

a
l 
A

n
a
ly

s
is

 o
f 

S
C

S
 S

c
e
n
a
ri
o

s
S

C
S

 S
c
e
n
a
ri
o

 R
e
s
u
lt
s
/a

n
d
 f

u
n
d
in

g
 

d
is

c
u
s
s
io

n
s

2
0
1
1

F
e

e
d
b
a
c
k
 o

n
 T

e
c
h
n
ic

a
l 
W

o
rk

, 
M

o
d
if
ie

d
 V

is
io

n
, 

P
re

lim
in

a
ry

 p
ro

je
c
ts

 l
is

ts

\\
A

la
m

e
d
a
\m

e
a
s
u
re

b
\S

H
A

R
E

D
\G

o
v
B

o
a
rd

\A
C

T
IA

\C
W

C
\M

e
e
ti
n

g
s
\2

0
1
1
\0

1
.1

0
.1

1
\0

5
A

_
C

W
T

P
-T

E
P

-S
C

S
_
D

e
v
e
lo

p
m

e
n
t_

Im
p
l_

S
c
h
e
d
u
le

.x
ls

, 
T

W
O

-Y
E

A
R

 S
te

e
ri
n

g
C

o
m

m
P

u
b
P

ro
c
e
s
s

2
P

a
g
e
  

2
 o

f 
3

Page 38



C
o

u
n

ty
w

id
e

 T
ra

n
s

p
o

rt
a

ti
o

n
 P

la
n

 a
n

d
 T

ra
n

s
p

o
rt

a
ti

o
n

 E
x

p
e

n
d

it
u

re
 P

la
n

P
re

li
m

in
a

ry
 D

e
v
e

lo
p

m
e

n
t 

Im
p

le
m

e
n

ta
ti

o
n

 S
c

h
e

d
u

le
 -

 U
p

d
a

te
d

 1
2

/2
2

/1
0

P
ri
n

te
d
: 

1
2
/3

0
/2

0
1
0

T
a
s
k

S
te

e
ri

n
g

 C
o

m
m

it
te

e

T
e
c
h

n
ic

a
l 

A
d

v
is

o
ry

 W
o

rk
in

g
 G

ro
u

p

C
o

m
m

u
n

it
y
 A

d
v

is
o

ry
 W

o
rk

in
g

 G
ro

u
p

P
u

b
li

c
 P

a
rt

ic
ip

a
ti

o
n

A
g

e
n

c
y
 P

u
b

li
c
 E

d
u

c
a
ti

o
n

 a
n

d
 O

u
tr

e
a
c
h

 

T
e
c
h

n
ic

a
l 

S
tu

d
ie

s
/R

F
P

/W
o

rk
 t

im
e
li

n
e

s
: 

 A
ll

 t
h

is
 w

o
rk

 w
il

l 
b

e
 d

o
n

e
 i

n
 r

e
la

ti
o

n
 t

o
 

S
C

S
 w

o
rk

 a
t 

th
e

 r
e

g
io

n
a

l 
le

v
e
l

P
o

ll
in

g

S
u

s
ta

in
a
b

le
 C

o
m

m
u

n
it

ie
s
 S

tr
a
te

g
y
/R

e
g

io
n

a
l 
T

ra
n

s
p

o
rt

a
ti

o
n

 P
la

n

R
e
g

io
n

a
l 

S
u

s
ta

in
a

b
le

 C
o

m
m

u
n

it
y
 S

tr
a
te

g
y
 D

e
v
e
lo

p
m

e
n

t 
P

ro
c
e
s
s
 -

 F
in

a
l 

R
T

P
 i

n
 

A
p

ri
l 

2
0
1
3

A
la

m
e
d

a
 C

T
C

 T
e
c
h

n
ic

a
l 
W

o
rk

A
la

m
e
d

a
 C

T
C

 C
o

m
m

it
te

e
/P

u
b

li
c
 P

ro
c
e
s
s

C
a

le
n

d
a

r 
Y

e
a

r 
2

0
1

2

F
Y

2
0
1
1
-2

0
1
2

J
a
n

u
a
ry

F
e
b

ru
a
ry

 
M

a
rc

h
A

p
ri

l
M

a
y

J
u

n
e

J
u

ly
A

u
g

u
s
t

S
e
p

t
O

c
t

N
o

v
e
m

b
e
r

F
u

ll 
D

ra
ft

 T
E

P
, 

O
u
tc

o
m

e
s
 o

f 
o
u
tr

e
a
c
h
 

m
e
e
ti
n

g
s

F
in

a
liz

e
 P

la
n
s

A
d
o
p
t 

D
ra

ft
 P

la
n
s

A
d
o
p
t 

F
in

a
l 
P

la
n
s

E
x
p
e
n
d
it
u
re

 P
la

n
 

o
n
 B

a
llo

t

V
O

T
E

: 
  

  
  

  
  

  
  

  
  

 

N
o
v
e
m

b
e
r 

6
, 

2
0
1
2

F
u

ll 
D

ra
ft

 T
E

P
, 

O
u
tc

o
m

e
s
 o

f 
o
u
tr

e
a
c
h
 

m
e
e
ti
n

g
s

F
in

a
liz

e
 P

la
n
s

V
O

T
E

: 
  

  
  

  
  

  
  

  
  

 

N
o
v
e
m

b
e
r 

6
, 

2
0
1
2

F
u

ll 
D

ra
ft

 T
E

P
, 

O
u
tc

o
m

e
s
 o

f 
o
u
tr

e
a
c
h
 

m
e
e
ti
n

g
s

F
in

a
liz

e
 P

la
n
s

V
O

T
E

: 
  

  
  

  
  

  
  

  
  

 

N
o
v
e
m

b
e
r 

6
, 

2
0
1
2

V
O

T
E

: 
  

  
  

  
  

  
  

  
  

 

N
o
v
e
m

b
e
r 

6
, 

2
0
1
2

P
o
te

n
ti
a

l 
G

o
/N

o
 

G
o
 P

o
ll 

 f
o
r 

E
x
p
e
n
d
it
u
re

 P
la

n

B
e
g
in

 R
T

P
 

T
e

c
h
n
ic

a
l 

A
n
a
ly

s
is

 &
 

D
o
c
u
m

e
n
t 

P
re

p
a
ra

ti
o

n

R
e
le

a
s
e
 D

ra
ft

 

S
C

S
/R

T
P

 f
o
r 

re
v
ie

w
 

O
n
g
o
in

g
 E

d
u
c
a
ti
o

n
 a

n
d
 O

u
tr

e
a
c
h
 T

h
ro

u
g
h
 N

o
v
e
m

b
e
r 

2
0
1
2
 o

n
 t

h
is

 p
ro

c
e
s
s
 a

n
d
 f

in
a
l 
p
la

n
s

O
n
g
o
in

g
 E

d
u
c
a
ti
o

n
 a

n
d
 O

u
tr

e
a
c
h
 t

h
ro

u
g
h
 N

o
v
e
m

b
e
r 

2
0
1
2
 o

n
 t

h
is

 p
ro

c
e
s
s
 a

n
d
 f

in
a
l 
p
la

n
s

F
in

a
liz

e
 P

la
n
s

P
re

p
a
re

 S
C

S
/R

T
P

 P
la

n
 A

p
p
ro

v
a
l 
o
f 

D
ra

ft
 S

C
S

2
0
1
2

E
x
p
e
n
d
it
u
re

 P
la

n
 C

it
y
 C

o
u
n
c
il/

B
O

S
 A

d
o
p
ti
o

n

\\
A

la
m

e
d
a
\m

e
a
s
u
re

b
\S

H
A

R
E

D
\G

o
v
B

o
a
rd

\A
C

T
IA

\C
W

C
\M

e
e
ti
n

g
s
\2

0
1
1
\0

1
.1

0
.1

1
\0

5
A

_
C

W
T

P
-T

E
P

-S
C

S
_
D

e
v
e
lo

p
m

e
n
t_

Im
p
l_

S
c
h
e
d
u
le

.x
ls

, 
T

W
O

-Y
E

A
R

 S
te

e
ri
n

g
C

o
m

m
P

u
b
P

ro
c
e
s
s

3
P

a
g
e
  

3
 o

f 
3

Page 39



 

 
 

This page intentionally left blank. 
 
 

 Page 40



CWC Meeting 1/10/11 
Attachment 05B 

 

 
Overview of the Sustainable Communities Strategy 
 
 
 
 
November 23, 2010 
 
To:   Planning Directors 
 
From:  Ken Kirkey, ABAG Planning Director 
 
Re: Overview of the Sustainable Communities Strategy 
 
 
ABAG and MTC have prepared an Overview of the Sustainable Communities Strategy (SCS) 
that you can use for a presentation before your city council and/or board of supervisors.  We 
hope you find this report useful in communicating with elected officials and general public that 
might not be familiar with the SCS.  This presentation will allow Bay Area elected officials to be 
informed about the SCS process before the release of the SCS Vision Scenario by February 
2011. 
 
Given the input we have received from various local jurisdictions, we expect this report will be 
used in different ways according to the specific needs of each city or county.  Planning directors 
could (1) use it as a reference to develop their own reports; (2) use it as an attachment to their 
reports; or (3) edit and reformat this report to make it their own.  
 
We would appreciate receiving any input from your elected officials on this SCS Overview 
presentation.  We have created a folder for this input on the online collaboration sites 
(Basecamp) created for each county. 
 
Should you have any questions about the report, please contact me (kennethk@abag.ca.gov) or 
the FOCUS regional planner for your county.

Page 41

mailto:kennethk@abag.ca.gov


 

 
Overview of the Sustainable Communities Strategy 
 
 
 
This staff report describes Senate Bill 375, the Sustainable Communities Strategy (SCS) and the 
effect of the law on local governments as well as the Bay Area as a region.  This report is based 
on reports provided by the Metropolitan Transportation Commission (MTC) and the Association 
of Bay Area Governments (ABAG).   
 
The SCS will be developed in partnership among regional agencies, local jurisdictions and 
Congestion Management Agencies (CMAs) through an iterative process.  The regional agencies 
recognize that input from local jurisdictions with land use authority is essential to create a 
feasible SCS.  The SCS does not alter the authority of jurisdictions over local land use and 
development decisions.   
 
The purpose of this report is to provide council/board members with an overview of the SCS in 
relation to local land use policies, implementation needs, and quality of life, including key policy 
considerations for the City/County of (insert local information) ___________. 
 
 
PURPOSE AND APPROACH 
 
Senate Bill 375 became law in 2008 and is considered landmark legislation for California 
relative to land use, transportation and environmental planning.  It calls for the development of a 
Sustainable Communities Strategy (SCS) in all metropolitan regions in California.  Within the 
Bay Area, the law gives joint responsibility for the SCS to the Metropolitan Transportation 
Commission (MTC) and the Association of Bay Area Governments (ABAG).  These agencies 
will coordinate with the Bay Area Air Quality Management District (Air District) and the Bay 
Conservation and Development Commission (BCDC).   
 
The SCS integrates several existing planning processes and is required to accomplish the 
following objectives:  

1. Provide a new 25-year land use strategy for the Bay Area that is realistic and identifies 
areas to accommodate all of the region’s population, including all income groups; 

2. Forecast a land use pattern, which when integrated with the transportation system, 
reduces greenhouse gas emissions from automobiles and light trucks and is measured 
against our regional target established by the California Air Resources Board (CARB). 

 
The SCS is a land use strategy required to be included as part of the Bay Area’s 25-year 
Regional Transportation Plan (RTP).  By federal law, the RTP must be internally consistent.  
Therefore, the over $200 billion dollars of transportation investment typically included in the 
RTP must align with and support the SCS land-use pattern.  SB 375 also requires that an updated 

 2
Page 42



eight-year regional housing need allocation (RHNA) prepared by ABAG is consistent with the 
SCS.  The SCS, RTP and RHNA will be adopted simultaneously in early 2013. 
 
The SCS is not just about assigning housing need to places or achieving greenhouse gas targets.  
The primary goal is to build a Bay Area which continues to thrive and prosper under the 
changing circumstances of the twenty-first century.  By directly confronting the challenges 
associated with population growth, climate change, a new economic reality and an increasing 
public-health imperative, the SCS should help us achieve a Bay Area which is both more livable 
and more economically competitive on the world stage.  A successful SCS will:  

• Recognize and support compact walkable places where residents and workers have 
access to services and amenities to meet their day-to-day needs;   

• Reduce long commutes and decrease reliance that increases energy independence and 
decreases the region’s carbon consumption; 

• Support complete communities which remain livable and affordable for all segments of 
the population, maintaining the Bay Area as an attractive place to reside, start or continue 
a business, and create jobs. 

• Support a sustainable transportation system and reduce the need for expensive highway 
and transit expansions, freeing up resources for other more productive public 
investments; 

• Provide increased accessibility and affordability to our most vulnerable populations; 

• Conserve water and decrease our dependence on imported food stocks and their high 
transport costs. 

 
In recognition of the importance of these other goals, ABAG and MTC will adopt performance 
targets and indicators that will help inform decisions about land use patterns and transportation 
investments. These targets and indicators will apply to the SCS and the RTP.  The targets and 
indicators are being developed by the Performance Targets and Indicators Ad Hoc Committee of 
the Regional Advisory Working Group (RAWG), which includes local planning and 
transportation staff, non-profit organizations, and business and developers’ organizations. The 
targets are scheduled for adoption early 2011 and the indicators will be adopted in spring 2011.  
 
 
BUILDING ON EXISTING EFFORTS  
 
In many respects the SCS builds upon existing efforts in many Bay Area communities to 
encourage more focused and compact growth while recognizing the unique characteristics and 
differences of the region’s many varied communities.  FOCUS Priority Development Areas 
(PDAs) are locally-identified and regionally adopted infill development opportunity areas near 
transit.  The PDAs provide a strong foundation upon which to structure the region’s first 
Sustainable Communities Strategy.  PDAs are only three percent of the region’s land area.  
However, local governments have indicated that based upon existing plans, resources, and 
incentives the PDAs can collectively accommodate over fifty percent of the Bay Area’s housing 
need through 2035.  

 3
Page 43



 
PDAs have been supported by planning grants, capital funding and technical assistance grants 
from MTC.  The current RTP allocates an average of $60 million a year to PDA incentive-
related funding.  Future RTPs, consistent with the SCS, will be structured to provide policies and 
funding that is supportive of PDAs and potentially other opportunity areas for sustainable 
development in the region.   
 
 
PARTNERSHIP 
 
To be successful, the SCS will require a partnership among regional agencies, local jurisdictions, 
Congestion Management Agencies (CMAs), transit agencies, and other regional stakeholders. 
MTC and ABAG are engaged in an intense information exchange with County-Corridors 
Working Groups throughout the Bay Area.  These Groups are organized by county, by sub-
regions within counties, and by corridors that span counties.  They typically include city and 
county planning directors, CMA staff, and representatives of other key agencies such as transit 
agencies and public health departments.  Working Group members are responsible for providing 
updates and information to their locally elected policymakers through regular reports like this 
one and eventually through recommended council or board resolutions which acknowledge the 
implications of the SCS for each jurisdiction. 
 
Each county has established an SCS engagement strategy and the composition of a 
County/Corridor Working Group according to their needs and ongoing planning efforts.  In the 
City of (insert local information) our working group includes (insert local county information 
here). The County/Corridor Working Groups provide an opportunity for all of the region’s 
jurisdictions to be represented in the SCS process and to provide ongoing information to, and 
input from, local officials through staff reports by working group members (local planning staff) 
to their city councils and/or boards of supervisors as the SCS process evolves through 2011.  In 
addition to the County-Corridor Working Groups, a Regional Advisory Working Group 
(RAWG), composed of local government representatives and key stakeholders provides 
technical oversight at the regional level.   
 
 
PROCESS – SCS SCENARIOS 
 
The final SCS will be the product of an iterative process that includes a sequence of growth and 
supportive transportation scenarios.  Starting with an Initial Vision Scenario (February 2011), 
followed by more detailed SCS scenarios that refine the initial vision scenario (Spring and Fall 
2011), and final draft (early 2012). For more information about the timeline, see SCS Schedule – 
Attachment A.  
 
Initial Vision Scenario 
 
ABAG and MTC will release an Initial Vision Scenario in February 2011 based in large part on 
input from local jurisdictions through the county/corridor engagement process and information 
collected by December 2010.  The Vision Scenario will encompass an initial identification of 

 4
Page 44



places, policies and strategies for long-term, sustainable development in the Bay Area.  Local 
governments will identify places of great potential for sustainable development, including PDAs, 
transit corridors, employment areas, as well as infill opportunities areas that lack transit services 
but offer opportunities for increased walkability and reduced driving.  
 
The Initial Vision Scenario will: 
 Incorporate the 25-year regional housing need encompassed in the SCS;  
 Provide a preliminary set of housing and employment growth numbers at regional, county, 

jurisdictional, and sub-jurisdictional levels;  
 Be evaluated against the greenhouse gas reduction target as well as the additional 

performance targets adopted for the SCS.   
 
Detailed Scenarios 
 
By the early spring of 2011 the conversation between local governments and regional agencies 
will turn to the feasibility of achieving the Initial Vision Scenario by working on the Detailed 
Scenarios.  The Detailed Scenarios will be different than the initial Vision Scenario in that they 
will take into account constraints that might limit development potential, and will identify the 
infrastructure and resources that can be identified and/or secured to support the scenario.  MTC 
and ABAG expect to release a first round of Detailed Scenarios by July 2011.  Local 
jurisdictions will provide input, which will then be analyzed for the release of the Preferred 
Scenario by the end of 2011.  The County/Corridor Working Groups as well as the RAWG will 
facilitate local input into the scenarios through 2011.  The analysis of the Detailed Scenarios and 
Preferred Scenario takes into account the Performance Targets and Indicators. 
 
 
REGIONAL HOUSING NEEDS ALLOCATION 
 
As described above, the eight-year RHNA must be consistent with the SCS. Planning for 
affordable housing in the Bay Area is one of the essential tasks of sustainable development.  In 
the SCS, this task becomes integrated with the regional land use strategy, the development of 
complete communities and a sustainable transportation system.  The process to update RHNA 
will begin in early 2011.  The county/corridor engagement process will include discussions of 
RHNA, since both the SCS and RHNA require consideration of housing needs by income group.  
Cities will discuss their strategies for the distribution of housing needs at the county level and 
decide if they want to form a sub-regional RHNA group by March 2011.  The distribution of 
housing needs will inform the Detailed SCS Scenarios.  Regional agencies will take input from 
local jurisdictions for the adoption of the RHNA methodology by September 2011.  The final 
housing numbers for the region will be issued by the State Department of Housing and 
Community Development (HCD) by September 2011.  The Draft RHNA will be released by 
spring 2012.  ABAG will adopt the Final RHNA by the end of summer 2012.  Local 
governments will address the next round of RHNA in their next Housing Element update.  
 
This is a condensed description of the RHNA process. Additional details about procedural 
requirements (e.g. appeals, revisions and transfers) and substantive issues (e.g. housing by 
income category and formation of subregions) will be described in a separate document. 

 5
Page 45



REGIONAL TRANSPORTATION PLAN 
 
The SCS brings an explicit link between the land use choices and the transportation investments.  
MTC and ABAG’s commitment to the reduction of greenhouse gas emissions and provision of 
housing for all income levels translates into an alignment of the development of places 
committed to these goals and transportation, infrastructure and housing funding. The regional 
agencies will work closely with the CMAs, transportation agencies and local jurisdictions to 
define financially constrained transportation priorities in their response to a call for 
transportation projects in early 2011 and a detailed project assessment that will be completed by 
July/August 2011; the project assessment will be an essential part of the development of Detailed 
SCS Scenarios.  The RTP will be analyzed through 2012 and released for review by the end of 
2012. ABAG will approve the SCS by March 2013. MTC will adopt the final RTP and SCS by 
April 2013.  
 
Regional agencies will prepare one Environmental Impact Report (EIR) for both the SCS and the 
RTP.  This EIR might assist local jurisdictions in streamlining the environmental review process 
for some of the projects that are consistent with the SCS.  Local jurisdictions are currently 
providing input for the potential scope of the EIR.  Regional agencies are investigating the scope 
and strategies for an EIR that could provide the most effective support for local governments.  
 
 
ADDITIONAL REGIONAL TASKS 
 
MTC, ABAG and the Bay Area Air Quality Management District are coordinating the impacts of 
CEQA thresholds and guidelines recently approved by the Air District.  The Air District is 
currently developing tools and mitigation measures related to the CEQA thresholds and 
guidelines to assist with development projects in PDAs.  The four regional agencies will be 
coordinating other key regional planning issues including any adopted climate adaptation-related 
policy recommendations or best practices encompassed in the Bay Plan update recently released 
by BCDC. 
 
 
UNIQUE LOCAL ROLE OF THE CITY OF (insert local jurisdiction) IN THE 
SUSTAINABLE COMMUNITIES STRATEGY 
 
Suggested questions to be addressed by Local Planning Director 
 

- How do local planning efforts (i.e. General Plan, PDAs, Specific/Neighborhood Plans) 
relate to the SCS? 

- What are the key local sustainable development issues/strategies that might be advanced 
through the SCS? (i.e. Employment growth, affordable housing, small town centers, 
schools) 

- What are the key investments for a sustainable development path? 
- How are local elected officials and staff participating in the regional SCS process? 

 
 

 6
Page 46



 7

BENEFITS FOR ALL 
 
The SCS provides an opportunity for the City of (insert local jurisdiction) to advance local goals 
as part of a coordinated regional framework. By coordinating programs across multiple layers of 
government, the SCS should improve public sector efficiency and create more rational and 
coordinated regulation and public funding. The SCS connects local neighborhood concerns—
such as new housing, jobs, and traffic—to regional objectives and resources. As such, it is a 
platform for cities and counties to discuss and address a wide spectrum of challenges, including 
high housing costs, poverty, job access, and public health, and identify local, regional, and state 
policies to address them.  It gives local governments a stronger voice in identifying desired 
infrastructure improvements and provides a framework for evaluating those investments 
regionally. In this way, the SCS rewards those cities whose decisions advance local goals and 
benefit quality of life beyond their borders—whether to create more affordable housing, new 
jobs, or reduce driving.    
Regional agencies are exploring the following support for the SCS: 

 Grants for affordable housing close to transit  
 Infrastructure bank to support investments that can accommodate housing and jobs close 

to transit 
 Transportation investment in areas that can significantly contribute to the reduction of 

greenhouse gas emissions through compact development 
 Infrastructure investments in small towns that can improve access to services through 

walking and transit. 
 
 
NEXT STEPS 
 
 Regional agencies expect to release an initial Vision Scenario in early February 2011. 
 City (or County) staff will subsequently provide a report to (insert local description) 

describing the overall approach, regional context, and local implications for the City of 
(insert local jurisdiction).   

 City (or County) staff will seek Council feedback and response to the initial Vision Scenario 
to be share with regional agencies.  This feedback will serve as a basis for the development 
of Detailed SCS Scenarios through July 2011. 

 
 

Page 47



 

 
 

This page intentionally left blank. 
 
 

 Page 48



M
TC

 P
la

nn
in

g 
Co

m
m

it
te

e

Po
lic

y B
oa

rd
Ac

tio
ns

M
ee

tin
g 

fo
r D

is
cu

ss
io

n/
Pu

bl
ic

 C
om

m
en

t
JO

IN
T 

m
ee

tin
g 

of
 th

e 
AB

AG
 A

dm
in

is
tr

at
iv

e 
Co

m
m

itt
ee

, t
he

 Jo
in

t P
ol

ic
y 

Co
m

m
itt

ee
 

an
d 

th
e 

M
TC

 P
la

nn
in

g 
Co

m
m

itt
ee

 fo
r D

is
cu

ss
io

n/
Pu

bl
ic

 C
om

m
en

t
De

ci
si

on
Do

cu
m

en
t R

el
ea

se
AB

AG
  - 

AB
AG

 A
dm

in
is

tr
at

iv
e 

Co
m

m
itt

ee
JP

C-
 Jo

in
t P

ol
ic

y 
Co

m
m

itt
ee

M
TC

- M
TC

 P
la

nn
in

g 
Co

m
m

itt
ee

M
TC

AB
AG JP
C

*S
ub

je
ct

 to
 ch

an
ge

S
u

st
a

in
a

b
le

 C
o

m
m

u
n

it
ie

s 
S

tr
a

te
g

y
 P

la
n

n
in

g
 P

ro
c

e
ss

: 
P

h
a

se
 1

 D
e

ta
il 

fo
r 

2
0
10

*
Ph

as
e 

1:
 P

e
rf

o
rm

a
n

ce
 T

a
rg

e
ts

 a
n

d
 V

is
io

n
 S

ce
n

a
ri

o

M
ar

ch
M

ay
Ap

ri
l

Ju
ly

Ju
ne

Au
gu

st
Se

pt
em

be
r

O
ct

ob
er

N
ov

em
be

r
D

ec
em

be
r

Local Government and 

Public Engagement

Policy Board 

Action

GH
G 

Ta
rg

et
W

or
ks

ho
p

Pr
oj

ec
ti

on
s

20
11

Ba
se

 C
as

e
D

ev
el

op
m

en
t

CA
RB

/B
ay

 A
re

a
GH

G 
W

or
ks

ho
p

Re
gi

on
al

 R
es

po
ns

e 
to

 
CA

RB
 D

ra
ft

 G
H

G 
Ta

rg
et

 

D
ra

ft
 P

ub
lic

 P
ar

ti
ci

pa
ti

on
 P

la
n

CA
RB

 
Re

le
as

es
D

ra
ft

 G
H

G 
Ta

rg
et

Re
vi

se
d 

D
ra

ft
 P

ub
lic

Pa
rt

ic
ip

at
io

n 
Pl

an

Co
un

ty
/C

or
ri

do
r E

ng
ag

em
en

t o
n 

Vi
si

on
 S

ce
na

ri
o

D
ev

el
op

 V
is

io
n 

Sc
en

ar
io

Fi
na

l P
ub

lic
Pa

rt
ic

ip
at

io
n 

Pl
an

 

Ad
op

t
M

et
ho

do
lo

gy
 

fo
r J

ob
s/

H
ou

si
ng

 
Fo

re
ca

st
(S

ta
tu

to
ry

 
Ta

rg
et

)

Lo
ca

l
Go

ve
rn

m
en

t
Su

m
m

it

Le
ad

er
sh

ip
 R

ou
nd

ta
bl

e 
M

ee
ti

ng
s

CA
RB

 Is
su

es
Fi

na
l G

H
G 

Ta
rg

et

Ad
op

t
Vo

lu
nt

ar
y

Pe
rf

or
m

an
ce

Ta
rg

et
s

Pr
oj

ec
ti

on
s

20
11

Ba
se

 C
as

e

M
TC

 P
ol

ic
y

Ad
vi

so
ry

 C
ou

nc
il

AB
AG

 R
eg

io
na

l
Pl

an
ni

ng
 C

om
m

it
te

e
Re

gi
on

al
 A

dv
is

or
y

W
or

ki
ng

 G
ro

up
Ex

ec
ut

iv
e

W
or

ki
ng

 G
ro

up
Co

un
ty

 a
nd

 C
or

ri
do

r
W

or
ki

ng
 G

ro
up

s

2
0

1
0

October 2010

Ph
as

e 
O

ne
 D

ec
is

io
ns

:

M
TC

AB
AG

 
JP

C

M
TC

AB
AG

 
JP

C

M
TC

 C
om

m
is

si
on

M
TC

AB
AG

 
JP

C

M
TC

AB
AG

 
JP

C

M
TC

 C
om

m
is

si
on

M
TC

AB
AG

 
JP

C

AB
AG

 E
xe

cu
ti

ve
 B

oa
rd

Milestones

CW
C 

M
ee

ti
ng

 1
/1

0/
11

 
   

   
   

   
 A

tt
ah

m
en

t 0
5C

Page 49



Po
lic

y B
oa

rd
Ac

tio
ns

M
ee

tin
g 

fo
r D

is
cu

ss
io

n/
Pu

bl
ic

 C
om

m
en

t
JO

IN
T 

m
ee

tin
g 

of
 th

e 
AB

AG
 A

dm
in

is
tr

at
iv

e 
Co

m
m

itt
ee

, t
he

 Jo
in

t P
ol

ic
y 

Co
m

m
itt

ee
 

an
d 

th
e 

M
TC

 P
la

nn
in

g 
Co

m
m

itt
ee

 fo
r D

is
cu

ss
io

n/
Pu

bl
ic

 C
om

m
en

t
JO

IN
T 

do
cu

m
en

t r
el

ea
se

 b
y 

AB
AG

,
JP

C a
nd

 M
TC

De
ci

si
on

Do
cu

m
en

t R
el

ea
se

AB
AG

  - 
AB

AG
 A

dm
in

is
tr

at
iv

e 
Co

m
m

itt
ee

JP
C-

 Jo
in

t P
ol

ic
y 

Co
m

m
itt

ee
M

TC
- M

TC
 P

la
nn

in
g 

Co
m

m
itt

ee

M
TC

AB
AG JP
C

*S
ub

je
ct

 to
 ch

an
ge

M
TC

AB
AG JP
C

S
u

st
a

in
a

b
le

 C
o

m
m

u
n

it
ie

s 
S

tr
a

te
g

y
 P

la
n

n
in

g
 P

ro
c

e
ss

: 
P

h
a

se
 2

 D
e

ta
il 

fo
r 

2
0
11

*
Ph

as
e 

2:
 S

ce
n

a
ri

o
 P

la
n

n
in

g
, T

ra
n

sp
o

rt
a

ti
o

n
 P

o
li

c
y

 &
 In

v
e

st
m

e
n

t 
D

ia
lo

g
u

e
, a

n
d

 R
e

g
io

n
a

l H
o

u
si

n
g

 N
e

e
d

 A
ll

o
ca

ti
o

n

M
ar

ch
Ja

nu
ar

y/
Fe

br
ua

ry
M

ay
/J

un
e

Ap
ri

l
Au

gu
st

Ju
ly

Se
pt

em
be

r
O

ct
ob

er
N

ov
em

be
r

D
ec

em
be

r
Ja

nu
ar

y/
Fe

br
ua

ry

Local Government and 

Public Engagement Milestones

Policy Board 

Action

2
0

1
1

2
0

1
2

Ta
rg

et
ed

 S
ta

ke
ho

ld
er

 
W

or
ks

ho
p

Re
le

as
e

Vi
si

on
 S

ce
na

ri
o 

W
eb

 S
ur

ve
y

Te
le

ph
on

e 
Po

ll

Ta
rg

et
ed

 S
ta

ke
ho

ld
er

 W
or

ks
ho

p 
an

d 
Co

un
ty

 W
or

ks
ho

ps

M
TC

AB
AG

JP
C

M
TC

AB
AG

JP
C

M
TC

AB
AG

JP
C

M
TC

AB
AG

JP
C

M
TC

AB
AG

 
JP

C

AB
AG

 E
xe

cu
ti

ve
 B

oa
rd

M
TC

 C
om

m
is

si
on

M
TC

AB
AG

 
JP

C

AB
AG

 E
xe

cu
ti

ve
 B

oa
rd

M
TC

 C
om

m
is

si
on

M
TC

AB
AG

 
JP

C

AB
AG

 E
xe

cu
ti

ve
 B

oa
rd

M
TC

 C
om

m
is

si
on

M
TC

AB
AG

 
JP

C

AB
AG

 E
xe

cu
ti

ve
 B

oa
rd

AB
AG

 E
xe

cu
ti

ve
 B

oa
rd

M
TC

 P
ol

ic
y

Ad
vi

so
ry

 C
ou

nc
il

AB
AG

 R
eg

io
na

l
Pl

an
ni

ng
 C

om
m

it
te

e
Re

gi
on

al
 A

dv
is

or
y

W
or

ki
ng

 G
ro

up
Ex

ec
ut

iv
e

W
or

ki
ng

 G
ro

up
Co

un
ty

 a
nd

 C
or

ri
do

r
W

or
ki

ng
 G

ro
up

s

October 2010

D
et

ai
le

d 
SC

S 
Sc

en
ar

io
(s

) 
D

ev
el

op
m

en
t

Re
le

as
e 

D
et

ai
le

d 
SC

S 
Sc

en
ar

io
(s

) 
Re

le
as

e 
Pr

ef
er

re
d

SC
S 

Sc
en

ar
io

Ap
pr

ov
al

 o
f

D
ra

ft
 S

CS
Te

ch
ni

ca
l A

na
ly

si
s 

of
 

SC
S 

Sc
en

ar
io

(s
)

SC
S 

Sc
en

ar
io

 R
es

ul
ts

/
an

d 
Fu

nd
in

g 
D

is
cu

ss
io

ns

D
ev

el
op

 D
ra

ft
 2

5-
Ye

ar
 

Tr
an

sp
or

ta
ti

on
 F

in
an

ci
al

 F
or

ec
as

ts
 a

nd
 

Co
m

m
it

te
d 

Tr
an

sp
or

ta
ti

on
 F

un
di

ng
 P

ol
ic

y

Ca
ll 

fo
r T

ra
ns

po
rt

at
io

n 
Pr

oj
ec

ts
 a

nd
 P

ro
je

ct
 P

er
fo

rm
an

ce
 A

ss
es

sm
en

t

St
ar

t R
eg

io
na

l H
ou

si
ng

 N
ee

d 
 (R

H
N

A)
Re

le
as

e 
D

ra
ft

 R
H

N
A

M
et

ho
do

lo
gi

es
Re

le
as

e 
D

ra
ft

RH
N

A 
Pl

an
Ad

op
t R

H
N

A 
M

et
ho

do
lo

gy
St

at
e 

D
ep

t.
 o

f H
ou

si
ng

 
&

 C
om

m
un

it
y 

D
ev

el
op

m
en

t 
Is

su
es

 H
ou

si
ng

 D
et

er
m

in
at

io
n

W
eb

 A
ct

iv
it

y:
 S

ur
ve

ys
, U

pd
at

es
an

d 
Co

m
m

en
t O

pp
or

tu
ni

ti
es

Te
le

ph
on

e 
Po

ll

Ta
rg

et
ed

 S
ta

ke
ho

ld
er

 W
or

ks
ho

ps
an

d 
Co

un
ty

 W
or

ks
ho

ps

Ph
as

e 
Tw

o 
D

ec
is

io
ns

:
Pu

bl
ic

 H
ea

ri
ng

 o
n

RH
N

A 
M

et
ho

do
lo

gy

Sc
en

ar
io

 P
la

nn
in

g 

Tr
an

sp
or

ta
ti

on
 P

ol
ic

y 
an

d 
In

ve
st

m
en

t D
ia

lo
gu

e

Re
gi

on
al

 H
ou

si
ng

N
ee

d 
A

llo
ca

ti
on

Page 50



Po
lic

y B
oa

rd
Ac

tio
ns

M
ee

tin
g 

fo
r D

is
cu

ss
io

n/
Pu

bl
ic

 C
om

m
en

t
JO

IN
T 

m
ee

tin
g 

of
 th

e 
AB

AG
 A

dm
in

is
tr

at
iv

e 
Co

m
m

itt
ee

, t
he

 Jo
in

t P
ol

ic
y 

Co
m

m
itt

ee
 

an
d 

th
e 

M
TC

 P
la

nn
in

g 
Co

m
m

itt
ee

 fo
r D

is
cu

ss
io

n/
Pu

bl
ic

 C
om

m
en

t
De

ci
si

on
Do

cu
m

en
t R

el
ea

se
AB

AG
  - 

AB
AG

 A
dm

in
is

tr
at

iv
e 

Co
m

m
itt

ee
JP

C-
 Jo

in
t P

ol
ic

y 
Co

m
m

itt
ee

M
TC

- M
TC

 P
la

nn
in

g 
Co

m
m

itt
ee

M
TC

AB
AG JP
C

*S
ub

je
ct

 to
 ch

an
ge

S
u

st
a

in
a

b
le

 C
o

m
m

u
n

it
ie

s 
S

tr
a

te
g

y
 P

la
n

n
in

g
 P

ro
c

e
ss

: 
P

h
a

se
s 

3
 &

 4
 D

e
ta

ils
 f

o
r 

2
0
12

–2
0
13

*
Ph

as
e 

3:
 H

o
u

si
n

g
 N

e
e

d
 A

ll
o

ca
ti

o
n

, E
n

v
ir

o
n

m
e

n
ta

l/
Te

ch
n

ic
a

l A
n

a
ly

se
s 

a
n

d
 F

in
a

l P
la

n
s

Ph
as

e 
4:

 P
la

n
 A

d
o

p
ti

o
n

Ap
ri

l
M

ar
ch

Ju
ly

/A
ug

us
t

M
ay

/J
un

e
N

ov
em

be
r

Se
pt

em
be

r/
O

ct
ob

er
D

ec
em

be
r

Ja
nu

ar
y

Fe
br

ua
ry

M
ar

ch
Ap

ri
l

Local Government and 

Public Engagement

Policy Board 

Action

2
0

1
2

2
0

1
3

AB
AG

 E
xe

cu
ti

ve
 B

oa
rd

M
TC

AB
AG

JP
C

M
TC

AB
AG

JP
C

M
TC

AB
AG

JP
C

AB
AG

 E
xe

cu
ti

ve
 B

oa
rd

M
TC

 C
om

m
is

si
on

M
TC

 P
ol

ic
y

Ad
vi

so
ry

 C
ou

nc
il

AB
AG

 R
eg

io
na

l
Pl

an
ni

ng
 C

om
m

it
te

e
Re

gi
on

al
 A

dv
is

or
y

W
or

ki
ng

 G
ro

up
Ex

ec
ut

iv
e

W
or

ki
ng

 G
ro

up
Co

un
ty

 a
nd

 C
or

ri
do

r
W

or
ki

ng
 G

ro
up

s

October 2010

October 2010

W
eb

 A
ct

iv
it

y:
 S

ur
ve

ys
, U

pd
at

es
 a

nd
 C

om
m

en
t O

pp
or

tu
ni

ti
es

Pr
ep

ar
e 

SC
S/

RT
P 

Pl
an

Co
nd

uc
t E

IR
 A

ss
es

sm
en

t

D
ev

el
op

 C
EQ

A 
St

re
am

lin
in

g 
Co

ns
is

te
nc

y 
Po

lic
ie

s

Re
le

as
e 

D
ra

ft
 S

CS
/R

TP
 

Pl
an

 fo
r 5

5-
D

ay
 R

ev
ie

w
Re

sp
on

se
 

to
 C

om
m

en
ts

 
on

  D
ra

ft
 S

CS
/R

TP
EI

R 
an

d 
Ai

r Q
ua

lit
y

Co
nf

or
m

it
y 

An
al

ys
is

 
Re

le
as

e 
D

ra
ft

 E
IR

fo
r 5

5-
D

ay
 R

ev
ie

w

Ag
en

cy
 

Co
ns

ul
ta

ti
on

 
on

 M
it

ig
at

io
n 

M
ea

su
re

s

EI
R 

Ki
ck

-O
ff

(S
co

pi
ng

) 
Pu

bl
ic

 M
ee

ti
ng

D
ra

ft
 R

H
N

A 
Pl

an
 

Cl
os

e 
of

 C
om

m
en

ts
/

St
ar

t o
f A

pp
ea

ls
 P

ro
ce

ss

AB
AG

 E
xe

cu
ti

ve
 B

oa
rd

Pu
bl

ic
 H

ea
ri

ng
 

on
 R

H
N

A 
Ap

pe
al

s

Re
sp

on
se

 to
 C

om
m

en
ts

 
fr

om
 R

H
N

A 
Ap

pe
al

s

AB
AG

 E
xe

cu
ti

ve
 B

oa
rd

AB
AG

 A
do

pt
s 

Fi
na

l R
H

N
A

St
at

e 
D

ep
ar

tm
en

t o
f 

H
ou

si
ng

 &
 C

om
m

un
it

y 
D

ev
el

op
m

en
t

Re
vi

ew
s 

Fi
na

l R
H

N
A

AB
AG

 E
xe

cu
ti

ve
 B

oa
rd

Re
le

as
e 

Fi
na

l R
H

N
A

Pr
ep

ar
e 

Tr
an

sp
or

ta
ti

on
 C

on
fo

rm
it

y 
An

al
ys

is
Re

le
as

e 
D

ra
ft

 
Co

nf
or

m
it

y 
An

al
ys

is
 

fo
r 3

0-
D

ay
 R

ev
ie

w

Ad
op

t 
Fi

na
l S

CS
/R

TP
Pl

an

Ce
rt

if
y 

Fi
na

l E
IR

M
ak

e
Co

nf
or

m
it

y 
D

et
er

m
in

at
io

n

Co
un

ty
 W

or
ks

ho
ps

/P
ub

lic
  H

ea
ri

ng
s 

on
 D

ra
ft

 S
CS

/R
TP

 &
 E

IR
Ph

as
e 

Th
re

e 
D

ec
is

io
ns

:

P

Ph
as

e 
Fo

ur
D

ec
is

io
ns

:

W
eb

 A
ct

iv
it

y:
 S

ur
ve

ys
, U

pd
at

es
 &

 C
om

m
en

t O
pp

or
tu

ni
ti

es

Milestones Page 51



 

 
 

This page intentionally left blank. 
 
 

 Page 52



A
la

m
ed

a 
C

o
u

n
ty

 T
ra

n
sp

o
rt

at
io

n
 A

u
th

o
ri

ty

C
o

m
m

u
n

it
y 

A
d

vi
so

ry
 W

o
rk

in
g 

G
ro

u
p

C
at

eg
o

ry
O

rg
an

iz
at

io
n

P
la

n
n

in
g

A
re

a
Ti

tl
e

Fi
rs

t 
N

am
e

La
st

 N
am

e

1
H

ea
lt

h

U
C

 B
er

ke
le

y 
Sa

fe
 T

ra
n

sp
o

rt
at

io
n

 

an
d

 E
d

u
ca

ti
o

n
 C

en
te

r
C

W
M

s.
Li

n
d

sa
y 

S.
A

rn
o

ld

2
B

u
si

n
es

s
C

al
if

o
rn

ia
 A

lli
an

ce
 f

o
r 

 J
o

b
s.

 
C

W
M

r.
Jo

se
p

h
 R

.
C

ru
z

3
B

u
si

n
es

s

Ec
o

n
o

m
ic

 D
ev

el
o

p
m

en
t 

C
o

m
m

it
te

e 
(O

ak
la

n
d

)
N

o
rt

h
M

s.
C

h
ar

is
sa

 M
.

Fr
an

k

4
C

W
C

 O
rg

an
iz

at
io

n

A
la

m
ed

a 
C

o
u

n
ty

 T
ax

p
ay

er
's

 

A
ss

o
ci

at
io

n
C

W
M

r.
A

rt
h

u
r 

B
.

 G
ee

n

5
C

iv
il 

R
ig

h
ts

/E
n

v.
/S

o
ci

al
 J

u
st

ic
e/

Fa
it

h
-b

as
ed

 A
d

v.

Tr
an

sp
o

rt
at

io
n

 J
u

st
ic

e 
W

o
rk

in
g 

G
ro

u
p

 
C

W
M

s.
C

h
ak

a-
K

h
an

G
o

rd
o

n

6
C

W
C

 O
rg

an
iz

at
io

n
Le

ag
u

e 
o

f 
W

o
m

en
 V

o
te

rs
C

W
M

r.
Ea

rl
H

am
lin

7
Ed

u
ca

ti
o

n

A
la

m
ed

a 
C

o
u

n
ty

 O
ff

ic
e 

o
f 

Ed
u

ca
ti

o
n

C
W

M
s.

U
n

iq
u

e 
S.

H
o

lla
n

d

8
C

iv
il 

R
ig

h
ts

/E
n

v.
/S

o
ci

al
 J

u
st

ic
e/

Fa
it

h
-b

as
ed

 A
d

v.
U

rb
an

 H
ab

it
at

C
W

M
s.

Li
n

d
sa

y 
S.

Im
ai

 H
o

n
g

9
A

la
m

ed
a 

C
TC

 C
o

m
m

u
n

it
y 

A
d

vi
so

ry
 C

o
m

m
it

te
e

A
la

m
ed

a 
C

TC
 C

A
C

C
W

D
r.

R
o

o
p

Ji
n

d
al

1
0

Ed
u

ca
ti

o
n

O
ak

la
n

d
 U

n
if

ie
d

 S
ch

o
o

l D
is

tr
ic

t,
 

B
o

ar
d

 o
f 

Ed
u

ca
ti

o
n

N
o

rt
h

M
r.

D
av

id
K

ak
is

h
ib

a

1
1

A
la

m
ed

a 
C

TC
 C

o
m

m
u

n
it

y 
A

d
vi

so
ry

 C
o

m
m

it
te

e
A

la
m

ed
a 

C
TC

 C
W

C
C

W
M

s.
Jo

A
n

n
Le

w

1
2

H
ea

lt
h

D
av

is
 S

tr
ee

t 
Fa

m
ily

 R
es

o
u

rc
e 

C
en

te
r

C
en

tr
al

M
s.

Te
re

sa
M

cG
ill

1
3

C
iv

il 
R

ig
h

ts
/E

n
v.

/S
o

ci
al

 J
u

st
ic

e/
Fa

it
h

-b
as

ed
 A

d
v.

G
en

es
is

, a
n

d
 C

o
rp

u
s 

C
h

ri
st

i 

C
at

h
o

lic
 C

h
u

rc
h

 (
P

ie
d

m
o

n
t)

N
o

rt
h

M
s.

G
ab

ri
el

le
 M

.
M

ill
er

\\
A

la
m

ed
a\

m
ea

su
re

b
\S

H
A

R
ED

\G
o

vB
o

ar
d

\A
C

TI
A

\C
W

C
\M

ee
ti

n
gs

\2
0

1
1

\0
1

.1
0

.1
1

\C
A

W
G

_M
em

b
er

s_
R

o
st

er
.x

ls
x

CW
C 

M
ee

ti
ng

 1
/1

0/
11

 
   

   
   

  A
tt

ac
hm

en
t 0

5D

Page 53



A
la

m
ed

a 
C

o
u

n
ty

 T
ra

n
sp

o
rt

at
io

n
 A

u
th

o
ri

ty

C
o

m
m

u
n

it
y 

A
d

vi
so

ry
 W

o
rk

in
g 

G
ro

u
p

C
at

eg
o

ry
O

rg
an

iz
at

io
n

P
la

n
n

in
g

A
re

a
Ti

tl
e

Fi
rs

t 
N

am
e

La
st

 N
am

e

1
4

C
W

C
 O

rg
an

iz
at

io
n

Ea
st

 B
ay

 B
ic

yc
le

 C
o

al
it

io
n

C
W

M
s.

El
iz

ab
et

h
 W

.
M

o
rr

is

1
5

Se
n

io
rs

/P
eo

p
le

 w
it

h
 D

is
ab

ili
ti

es
P

A
P

C
O

 
N

o
rt

h
M

s.
B

et
ty

M
u

lh
o

lla
n

d

1
6

C
iv

il 
R

ig
h

ts
/E

n
v.

/S
o

ci
al

 J
u

st
ic

e/
Fa

it
h

-b
as

ed
 A

d
v.

U
n

it
ed

 S
en

io
rs

 o
f 

O
ak

la
n

d
 a

n
d

 

A
la

m
ed

a 
C

o
u

n
ty

 (
U

SO
A

C
)

C
W

M
s.

Ei
le

en
 Y

.
N

g

1
7

C
iv

il 
R

ig
h

ts
/E

n
v.

/S
o

ci
al

 J
u

st
ic

e/
Fa

it
h

-b
as

ed
 A

d
v.

Tr
an

sF
o

rm
 (

P
ro

gr
am

 D
ir

ec
to

r)
C

W
M

s.
C

ar
li 

E.
P

ai
n

e

1
8

C
W

C
 O

rg
an

iz
at

io
n

Ea
st

 B
ay

 E
co

n
o

m
ic

 D
ev

el
o

p
m

en
t 

A
lli

an
ce

C
W

M
r.

Ja
m

es
 W

.
P

ax
so

n

1
9

C
W

C
 O

rg
an

iz
at

io
n

Si
er

ra
 C

lu
b

C
W

M
s.

P
at

ri
sh

a
P

ir
as

2
0

Se
n

io
rs

/P
eo

p
le

 w
it

h
 D

is
ab

ili
ti

es
A

la
m

ed
a 

C
TC

 P
A

P
C

O
Ea

st
M

s.
C

ar
m

en
R

iv
er

a-
H

en
d

ri
ck

so
n

2
1

C
W

C
 O

rg
an

iz
at

io
n

A
la

m
ed

a 
C

o
u

n
ty

 L
ab

o
r 

C
o

u
n

ci
l

C
W

M
r.

A
n

th
o

n
y 

R
.

R
o

d
ge

rs

2
2

B
u

si
n

es
s

B
o

ar
d

 o
f 

D
ir

ec
to

r 
fo

r 
th

e 
C

it
y 

o
f 

Fr
em

o
n

t 
C

h
am

b
er

 o
f 

C
o

m
m

er
ce

So
u

th
D

r.
R

aj
Sa

lw
an

2
3

C
iv

il 
R

ig
h

ts
/E

n
v.

/S
o

ci
al

 J
u

st
ic

e/
Fa

it
h

-b
as

ed
 A

d
v.

El
d

er
C

ar
e 

(F
re

m
o

n
t,

 C
A

)

P
o

n
d

er
o

sa
 S

q
u

ar
 H

o
m

eo
w

n
er

s 

A
ss

o
ci

at
io

n
 (

Fr
em

o
n

t,
 C

A
)

So
u

th
M

s.
D

ia
n

e
Sh

aw

2
4

A
la

m
ed

a 
C

TC
 C

o
m

m
u

n
it

y 
A

d
vi

so
ry

 C
o

m
m

it
te

e
A

la
m

ed
a 

C
TC

 P
A

P
C

O
 

C
W

M
s.

Sy
lv

ia
St

ad
m

ir
e

2
5

A
la

m
ed

a 
C

TC
 C

o
m

m
u

n
it

y 
A

d
vi

so
ry

 C
o

m
m

it
te

e
A

la
m

ed
a 

C
TC

 B
P

A
C

C
W

M
s.

M
id

o
ri

Ta
b

at
a

2
6

H
ea

lt
h

A
la

m
ed

a 
C

o
u

n
ty

 P
u

b
lic

 H
ea

lt
h

 

D
ep

ar
tm

en
t

C
W

M
s.

P
am

 L
.

W
ill

o
w

2
7

Ed
u

ca
ti

o
n

Li
ve

rm
o

re
 V

al
le

y 
Jo

in
t 

U
n

if
ie

d
 

Sc
h

o
o

l D
is

tr
ic

t:
  w

o
rk

s 
as

 s
u

b
st

it
u

te
 

te
ac

h
er

 a
n

d
 a

 v
o

lu
n

te
er

 in
 t

h
e 

C
W

M
s.

B
et

h
 A

.
W

ils
o

n

\\
A

la
m

ed
a\

m
ea

su
re

b
\S

H
A

R
ED

\G
o

vB
o

ar
d

\A
C

TI
A

\C
W

C
\M

ee
ti

n
gs

\2
0

1
1

\0
1

.1
0

.1
1

\C
A

W
G

_M
em

b
er

s_
R

o
st

er
.x

ls
x

Page 54



Te
ch

n
ic

al
 A

d
vi

so
ry

 W
o

rk
in

g 
G

ro
u

p
 (

TA
W

G
)

P
la

n
n

in
g

A
re

a
Fi

rs
t 

N
am

e
La

st
 N

am
e

Ti
tl

e
B

u
si

n
es

s 
N

am
e

1
N

o
rt

h
A

le
x

A
m

o
ro

so
P

ri
n

ci
p

al
 P

la
n

n
er

, P
la

n
n

in
g 

D
ep

ar
tm

en
t

C
it

y 
o

f 
B

er
ke

le
y

2
N

o
rt

h
A

le
id

a
A

n
d

ri
n

o
-C

h
av

ez
Tr

an
sp

o
rt

at
io

n
 P

la
n

n
er

C
it

y 
o

f 
A

lb
an

y

3
So

u
th

M
ar

is
o

l
B

en
ar

d
Ev

en
 S

ta
rt

 P
ro

gr
am

 M
an

ag
er

N
ew

 H
av

en
 U

n
if

ie
d

 S
ch

o
o

l D
is

tr
ic

t 

4
Ea

st
Ja

im
ee

B
o

u
rg

eo
is

Se
n

io
r 

C
iv

il 
En

gi
n

ee
r 

(T
ra

ff
ic

)
C

it
y 

o
f 

D
u

b
lin

5
N

o
rt

h
A

n
n

C
h

an
ey

D
ir

ec
to

r 
o

f 
C

o
m

m
u

n
it

y 
D

ev
el

o
p

m
en

t
C

it
y 

o
f 

A
lb

an
y

6
So

u
th

M
in

tz
e 

C
h

en
g

P
u

b
lic

 W
o

rk
s 

D
ir

ec
to

r
C

it
y 

o
f 

U
n

io
n

 C
it

y

7
C

en
tr

al
K

ei
th

 R
.

C
o

o
ke

P
ri

n
ci

p
al

 E
n

gi
n

ee
r

C
it

y 
o

f 
Sa

n
 L

ea
n

d
ro

8
So

u
th

So
re

n
Fa

je
au

Se
n

io
r 

C
iv

il 
En

gi
n

ee
r

C
it

y 
o

f 
N

ew
ar

k 
- 

En
gi

n
ee

ri
n

g 
D

iv
is

io
n

9
Ea

st
Je

ff
Fl

yn
n

P
la

n
n

in
g 

D
ir

ec
to

r
Li

ve
rm

o
re

 A
m

ad
o

r 
V

al
le

y 
Tr

an
si

t 
A

u
th

o
ri

ty

1
0

C
en

tr
al

D
o

n
 

Fr
as

ci
n

el
la

Tr
an

sp
o

rt
at

io
n

 M
an

ag
er

, P
W

D
C

it
y 

o
f 

H
ay

w
ar

d

1
1

Ea
st

Su
sa

n
Fr

o
st

P
ri

n
ci

p
al

 P
la

n
n

er
C

it
y 

o
f 

Li
ve

rm
o

re

1
2

So
u

th
Ji

m
G

an
n

o
n

M
an

ag
er

 o
f 

Tr
an

sp
o

rt
at

io
n

 S
er

vi
ce

s
Fr

em
o

n
t 

U
n

if
ie

d
 S

ch
o

o
l D

is
tr

ic
t

1
3

Ea
st

R
o

b
in

 
G

if
fi

n
Se

n
io

r 
P

la
n

n
er

C
it

y 
o

f 
P

le
as

an
to

n

1
4

C
W

M
ik

e
G

o
u

gh
er

ty
Tr

an
sp

o
rt

at
io

n
/E

n
vi

ro
n

m
en

ta
l P

la
n

n
er

/A
n

al
ys

t
W

at
er

 E
m

er
ge

n
cy

 T
ra

n
sp

o
ra

ti
o

n
 A

u
th

o
ri

ty

1
5

So
u

th
Te

rr
en

ce
G

ri
n

d
al

l
C

o
m

m
u

n
it

y 
D

ev
el

o
p

m
en

t 
D

ir
ec

to
r

C
it

y 
o

f 
N

ew
ar

k

1
2

/2
1

/2
0

1
0

\\
A

la
m

ed
a\

m
ea

su
re

b
\S

H
A

R
ED

\G
o

vB
o

ar
d

\A
C

TI
A

\C
W

C
\M

ee
ti

n
gs

\2
0

1
1

\0
1

.1
0

.1
1

\0
5

E_
TA

W
G

_M
em

b
er

s.
xl

sx

Page 55



Te
ch

n
ic

al
 A

d
vi

so
ry

 W
o

rk
in

g 
G

ro
u

p
 (

TA
W

G
)

P
la

n
n

in
g

A
re

a
Fi

rs
t 

N
am

e
La

st
 N

am
e

Ti
tl

e
B

u
si

n
es

s 
N

am
e

1
6

N
o

rt
h

D
ia

n
a 

K
ee

n
a

A
ss

o
ci

at
e 

P
la

n
n

er
C

it
y 

o
f 

Em
er

yv
ill

e

1
7

C
en

tr
al

P
au

l
K

ee
n

er
Se

n
io

r 
Tr

an
sp

o
rt

at
io

n
 P

la
n

n
er

A
la

m
ed

a 
C

o
u

n
ty

 P
u

b
lic

 W
o

rk
s 

A
ge

n
cy

1
8

N
o

rt
h

O
b

ai
d

K
h

an
Su

p
er

vi
si

n
g 

C
iv

il 
En

gi
n

ee
r

C
it

y 
o

f 
A

la
m

ed
a 

- 
P

u
b

lic
 W

o
rk

s 
D

ep
ar

tm
en

t

1
9

So
u

th
W

ils
o

n
Le

e
Tr

an
si

t 
M

an
ag

er
C

it
y 

o
f 

U
n

io
n

 C
it

y

2
0

To
m

Li
ao

P
la

n
n

in
g 

an
d

 H
o

u
si

n
g 

M
an

ag
er

C
it

y 
o

f 
Sa

n
 L

ea
n

d
ro

2
1

So
u

th
Jo

an
M

al
lo

y
Ec

o
n

o
m

ic
 a

n
d

 C
o

m
m

u
n

it
y 

D
ev

el
o

o
p

m
en

t 
D

ir
ec

to
r

C
it

y 
o

f 
U

n
io

n
 C

it
y

2
2

C
W

G
re

gg
 

M
ar

ra
m

a
D

ep
ar

tm
en

t 
M

an
ag

er
B

A
R

T

2
3

C
W

V
al

M
en

o
tt

i
A

ct
in

g 
D

ep
ar

tm
en

t 
M

an
ag

er
, P

la
n

n
in

g
B

A
R

T

2
4

N
o

rt
h

M
at

t
N

ic
h

o
ls

P
ri

n
ci

p
al

 P
la

n
n

er
, P

W
D

C
it

y 
o

f 
B

er
ke

le
y

2
5

C
en

tr
al

Er
ik

 J
.

P
ea

rs
o

n
Se

n
io

r 
P

la
n

n
er

, P
W

D
C

it
y 

o
f 

H
ay

w
ar

d

2
6

So
u

th
Ja

m
es

P
ie

rs
o

n
Tr

an
sp

o
rt

at
io

n
 &

 O
p

er
at

io
n

s 
D

ir
ec

to
r

C
it

y 
o

f 
Fr

em
o

n
t

2
7

B
ri

an
Sc

h
m

id
t

D
ir

ec
to

r 
o

f 
P

la
n

n
in

g,
 

P
ro

gr
am

m
in

g 
an

d
 O

p
er

at
io

n
s

A
C

E 
R

ai
l

2
8

N
o

rt
h

P
et

er
Sc

h
u

lt
ze

-A
lle

n
En

vi
ro

n
m

en
ta

l A
n

al
ys

t,
 P

W
D

C
it

y 
o

f 
Em

er
yv

ill
e

2
9

So
u

th
Je

ff
Sc

h
w

o
b

P
la

n
n

in
g 

D
ir

ec
to

r
C

it
y 

o
f 

Fr
em

o
n

t

3
0

N
o

rt
h

Ti
n

a
Sp

en
ce

r
D

ir
ec

to
r 

o
f 

Se
rv

ic
e 

D
ev

el
o

p
m

en
t 

an
d

 P
la

n
n

in
g

A
C

 T
ra

n
si

t

1
2

/2
1

/2
0

1
0

\\
A

la
m

ed
a\

m
ea

su
re

b
\S

H
A

R
ED

\G
o

vB
o

ar
d

\A
C

TI
A

\C
W

C
\M

ee
ti

n
gs

\2
0

1
1

\0
1

.1
0

.1
1

\0
5

E_
TA

W
G

_M
em

b
er

s.
xl

sx

Page 56



Te
ch

n
ic

al
 A

d
vi

so
ry

 W
o

rk
in

g 
G

ro
u

p
 (

TA
W

G
)

P
la

n
n

in
g

A
re

a
Fi

rs
t 

N
am

e
La

st
 N

am
e

Ti
tl

e
B

u
si

n
es

s 
N

am
e

3
1

N
o

rt
h

Ir
is

St
ar

r

 D
iv

is
io

n
 M

an
ag

er
 o

f 
In

fr
as

tr
u

ct
u

re
 P

la
n

s 
an

d
 

P
ro

gr
am

m
in

g
C

it
y 

o
f 

O
ak

la
n

d

3
2

Ea
st

M
ik

e
Ta

ss
an

o
C

it
y 

Tr
af

fi
c 

En
gi

n
ee

r
C

it
y 

o
f 

P
le

as
an

to
n

3
3

C
W

Le
e 

Ta
u

b
en

ec
k

D
ep

u
ty

 D
is

tr
ic

t 
D

ir
ec

to
r 

- 
D

is
tr

ic
t 

4
C

al
tr

an
s 

3
4

N
o

rt
h

A
n

d
re

w
Th

o
m

as
P

la
n

n
in

g 
Se

rv
ic

es
 M

an
ag

er
C

it
y 

o
f 

A
la

m
ed

a

3
5

N
o

rt
h

Ji
m

To
w

n
se

n
d

Tr
ai

ls
 D

ev
el

o
p

m
en

t 
P

ro
gr

am
 M

an
ag

er
Ea

st
 B

ay
 R

eg
io

n
al

 P
ar

k 
D

is
tr

ic
t 

(E
B

R
P

D
)

3
6

Ea
st

B
o

b
 

V
in

n
A

ss
is

ta
n

t 
C

it
y 

En
gi

n
ee

r
C

it
y 

o
f 

Li
ve

rm
o

re

3
7

Ea
st

M
ar

n
ie

 
W

af
fl

e
Se

n
io

r 
P

la
n

n
er

C
it

y 
o

f 
D

u
b

lin

3
8

N
o

rt
h

B
ru

ce
W

ill
ia

m
s

Se
n

io
r 

Tr
an

sp
o

rt
at

io
n

 P
la

n
n

er
C

it
y 

o
f 

O
ak

la
n

d

3
9

C
W

St
ep

h
en

Yo
ko

i
O

ff
ic

e 
C

h
ie

f,
 O

ff
ic

e 
o

f 
R

eg
io

n
al

 P
la

n
n

in
g 

- 
D

is
tr

ic
t 

4
C

al
tr

an
s 

4
0

C
en

tr
al

K
ar

l
Za

b
el

O
p

er
at

io
n

s 
an

d
 D

ev
el

o
p

m
en

t 
Su

p
er

vi
so

r
H

ay
w

ar
d

 A
re

a 
R

ec
re

at
io

n
 a

n
d

 P
ar

k 
D

is
tr

ic
t 

(H
A

R
D

)

A
lt

So
u

th
Fa

ro
o

q
A

zi
m

P
ri

n
ci

p
al

 C
iv

il 
En

gi
n

ee
r

C
it

y 
o

f 
U

n
io

n
 C

it
y

A
lt

So
u

th
C

ar
m

el
a

C
am

p
b

el
l

P
la

n
n

in
g 

M
an

ag
er

C
it

y 
o

f 
U

n
io

n
 C

it
y

A
lt

N
o

rt
h

C
o

ry
La

V
ig

n
e

D
ir

ec
to

r 
o

f 
Se

rv
ic

e 
D

ev
el

o
p

m
en

t 
an

d
 P

la
n

n
in

g
A

C
 T

ra
n

si
t

A
lt

C
en

tr
al

La
rr

y
Le

p
o

re
P

ar
k 

Su
p

er
in

te
n

d
en

t
H

ay
w

ar
d

 A
re

a 
R

ec
re

at
io

n
 a

n
d

 P
ar

k 
D

is
tr

ic
t 

(H
A

R
D

)

1
2

/2
1

/2
0

1
0

\\
A

la
m

ed
a\

m
ea

su
re

b
\S

H
A

R
ED

\G
o

vB
o

ar
d

\A
C

TI
A

\C
W

C
\M

ee
ti

n
gs

\2
0

1
1

\0
1

.1
0

.1
1

\0
5

E_
TA

W
G

_M
em

b
er

s.
xl

sx

Page 57



 

 
 

This page intentionally left blank. 
 
 

 Page 58



  

CWTP/TEP Project

Related Content

About CWTP •
About TEP •
CWTP/TEP Project •
CWTP/TEP Project Library •
How to Get Involved •
Online Survey •
Plan Development Committees •
Project Meetings and Meeting Documentation •
Project Schedule and Process •

Welcome to the Alameda County Transportation Planning Page!
Thank you for your interest in long-range planning for the future of our transportation 
system in Alameda County. Two major Plans are underway that guide future 
transportation improvements:

The Alameda Countywide Transportation Plan (CWTP) lays out a strategy for 
meeting transportation needs for all users in Alameda County. This plan includes 
projects and other improvements for: new and existing freeways, local streets and 
roads, public transit (paratransit, buses, rails, ferries) and facilities and programs to 
support bicycling and walking. Projects are required to be in the Countywide 
Transportation Plan to compete for funding on the regional, state and national level.

The Transportation Expenditure Plan (TEP) identifies the funding priorities for an 
extension of the existing Transportation Sales Tax, known as Measure B. The TEP 
includes transportation infrastructure projects like roadway maintenance, bicycle, 
pedestrian, transit and paratransit improvements; and programs supporting biking, 
walking, transit and paratransit operations. The Transportation Expenditure Plan will 
be submitted to the voters of Alameda County for approval. If the plan appears on the 2012 ballot, as anticipated, it will 
a 2/3 majority to pass.

The Countywide Bicycle and Pedestrian Plans are currently being updated. Specific information about these efforts can
found on the project website.

 

Transportation Plan Updates Underway
Alameda County Transportation Commission is currently updating the CWTP and developing the Transportation Expen
Plan. A new sales tax measure is slated to be on the ballot in 2012. Currently, Measure B is a key source of funding for
transportation projects in Alameda County. Projects and programs for the TEP will be drawn from the CWTP.

To develop the Plans, Alameda CTC is working with a Steering Committee, Community Advisory Working Group and 
Technical Advisory Working Group. These committees include representatives from fifteen local jurisdictions, six transit
operators, Caltrans District 4, the Port of Oakland, MTC and other community and agency stakeholders to identify and 
prioritize projects and programs.

Public input is important to this process
Learn how you can participate in the planning process and provide your input at essential project milestones.

Page 1 of 2Alameda CTC :: CWTP/TEP Project

12/21/2010http://www.alamedactc.com/app_pages/view/795

CWC Meeting 1/10/11 
           Attachment 05E

Page 59



  

The process for developing the Countywide Transportation Plan and Transportation Expenditure Plan are depicted in th
Process Map above. Click on the image to download as a pdf.

Page 2 of 2Alameda CTC :: CWTP/TEP Project

12/21/2010http://www.alamedactc.com/app_pages/view/795

Page 60



CITIZENS WATCHDOG COMMITTEE ISSUES FORM 
 

Alameda County Transportation Commission (Alameda CTC) 
1333 Broadway, Suite 300 
Oakland, California 94612 

Voice: 510-893-3347 Fax: 510-893-6489 
 

 
The CWC is required to review all Measure B expenditures.  This form allows formal 
documentation of potential issues of concern regarding expenditure of Measure B funds.  A 
concern should only be submitted to the CWC if an issue is directly related to the potential 
misuse of Measure B funds or non-compliance with Alameda CTC agreements or the 
Expenditure Plan approved by voters.  This form may be used only by acting CWC members. 
 
Date:      
 
Name:             
Email Address:           
 
Governmental Agency of Concern (Include name of agency and all individuals) 
            
            
             
 
Agency’s Phone Number:          
Agency’s Address:           
City       Zip Code:      
 
Which one of the following Measure B expenditures is this concern related to:   
(Please check one) 

  Capital Project       Program        Program Grant       Administration       
 
Please explain the nature of your concern and how you became aware of it providing as 
much detail as you can, including the name of the project or program, dates, times, and 
places where the issues you are raising took place. (Use additional sheets of paper if 
necessary) 
            
            
            
            
            
            
            
            
            
             

 
 

CWC Meeting 1/10/11 
              Attachment 06

Page 61



 
 

PROCESS -            
            
            
            
            
            
            
            
            
             
 
 
PROTECTION -           
            
            
            
            
            
            
            
            
             
 
 
Action Taken - Please list other parties or agencies you have contacted in an attempt to more 
fully understand this issue and any actions you yourself have taken. 
            
            
            
            
            
            
            
            
            
            
            
            
            
            
            
            
            
            
             
 

Page 62



Open & public iV:  
A Guide to the Ralph M. Brown Act

CWC Meeting 1/10/11 
           Attachment 07A

Page 63



AcKnOWleDGeMenTS
The League thanks the following individuals for their work on this update to the original publication:

editOrial bOard fOr Open & public iV

Michael Jenkins, Chair
Jenkins & Hogin LLP, Manhattan Beach
City Attorney 
Cities of Diamond Bar, Hermosa Beach, Rolling Hills and West Hollywood

Sonia Rubio Carvalho
Best, Best & Krieger, Irvine
City Attorney
Cities of Azusa, Claremont, and Yorba Linda

Debra E. Corbett
City Attorney 
City of Tracy

Theresa E. Fuentes
Deputy City Attorney 
City of Pasadena

Daniel S. Hentschke
General Counsel 
San Diego County Water Authority

Gerald L. Hobrecht
City Attorney 
City of Vacaville 

Hilda Cantú Montoy
Dowling, Aaron & Keeler, Fresno
City Attorney 
Cities of San Joaquin and Lemoore

Eileen M. Teichert
City Attorney 
City of Sacramento

League staff:
Patrick Whitnell
General Counsel

Rhonda Boglin
Legal Assistant

The Editors thank Manuela Albuquerque, City Attorney, Berkeley; Steven L. Dorsey, Richards, Watson 
& Gershon; Whitnie Henderson, Association of California Water Agencies; Craig Labadie, City Attorney, 
Concord; Tom Newton, California Newspaper Publishers Association; Ted Prim, Attorney General’s 
Office; Cindra J. Smith, Community College League of California; and JoAnne Speers, Institute for Local 
Government, for their invaluable assistance. 

Page 64



Open & public iV 
A Guide to the RAlph M. BRown Act

CH. 1:  IT IS THE PEoPLE’S BuSInESS 

CH. 2:  LEGISLaTIvE BoDIES 

CH. 3:  MEETInGS 

CH. 4:  aGEnDaS, noTICES, anD  
 PuBLIC PaRTICIPaTIon 

CH. 5:  CLoSED SESSIonS 

CH. 6:  REMEDIES 

Page 65



Open & public iV:  
A Guide to the RAlph M. BRown Act

Copyright © 2000, 2007  

League of California Cities

All rights reserved. This publication, or parts thereof, may not be reproduced in any form  

without the permission of the League of California Cities.

Page 66



TAble Of cOnTenTS
fOrewOrd

chapter 1: it is the peOple’s business 
 The right of access  ..............................................................................................................................2
 Broad coverage ....................................................................................................................................3
 Narrow exemptions ..............................................................................................................................3
 Public participation in meetings ..........................................................................................................4
 Controversy ..........................................................................................................................................4
 Beyond the law – good business practices .........................................................................................4
 Achieving balance ................................................................................................................................5
 Historical note .......................................................................................................................................5

chapter 2: legislatiVe bOdies 
 What is a “legislative body” of a local agency? ...................................................................................8  
 What is not a “legislative body” for purposes of the Brown Act? ......................................................9

chapter 3: Meetings 
 Brown Act meetings .............................................................................................................................12
 Six exceptions to the meeting definition .............................................................................................12
 Collective briefings ...............................................................................................................................14
 Retreats or workshops of legislative bodies .......................................................................................15
 Serial meetings .....................................................................................................................................15
 Informal gatherings ..............................................................................................................................17
 Technological conferencing .................................................................................................................17
 Location of meetings ............................................................................................................................18

chapter 4: agendas, nOtices, and public participatiOn 
 Agendas for regular meetings .............................................................................................................22
 Mailed agenda upon written request ..................................................................................................23
 Notice requirements for special meetings ..........................................................................................23
 Notices and agendas for adjourned and continued meetings and hearings ....................................23
 Notice requirements for emergency meetings ...................................................................................24
 Educational agency meetings  .............................................................................................................24
 Notice requirements for tax or assessment meetings and hearings .................................................24
 Non-agenda items ................................................................................................................................24
 Responding to the public .....................................................................................................................25
 The right to attend meetings ................................................................................................................26
 Records and recordings .......................................................................................................................26
 The public’s place on the agenda ........................................................................................................27

chapter 5: clOsed sessiOns 
 Agendas and reports ............................................................................................................................31
 Litigation ................................................................................................................................................32
 Real estate negotiations .......................................................................................................................33
 Public employment ...............................................................................................................................33
 Labor negotiations ................................................................................................................................35
 Labor negotiations—school and community college districts ...........................................................35
 Other Education Code exceptions .......................................................................................................36
 Grand jury testimony  ...........................................................................................................................37
 License applicants with criminal records ............................................................................................37
 Public security ......................................................................................................................................37
 Multijurisdictional drug law enforcement agency ..............................................................................37
 Hospital peer review and trade secrets ..............................................................................................37
 The confidentiality of closed session discussions ..............................................................................38

chapter 6: reMedies 
 Invalidation ............................................................................................................................................42
 Civil action to prevent future violations ...............................................................................................43
 Costs and attorney’s fees ....................................................................................................................43
 Criminal complaints ..............................................................................................................................43
 Voluntary resolution .............................................................................................................................44

Page 67



fOreWOrD
The goal of this publication is to explain the requirements of the Ralph M. Brown Act, California’s 

open meeting law, in lay language so that it can be readily understood by local government officials 

and employees, the public and the news media. We offer practical advice—especially in areas 

where the Brown Act is unclear or has been the subject of controversy—to assist local agencies in 

complying with the requirements of the law. 

A number of organizations representing diverse views and constituencies have contributed to 

this publication in an effort to make it reflect as broad a consensus as possible among those who 

daily interpret and implement the Brown Act. The League thanks the following organizations for 

their contributions:

Association of California Healthcare Districts

Association of California Water Agencies

California Association of Sanitation Agencies (CASA)

California Attorney General – Department of Justice

City Clerks Association of California 

California Municipal Utilities Association

California Redevelopment Association

California School Boards Association

California Special Districts Association

California State Association of Counties

Community College League of California 

California First Amendment Project

California Newspaper Publishers Association

Common Cause

League of Women Voters of California

This publication is current as of April 2007. Updates to the publication responding to changes in the 

Brown Act or new court interpretations are available at www.cacities.org/opengov.

This publication is not intended to provide legal advice. A public agency’s legal counsel is 

responsible for advising its governing body and staff and should always be consulted when 

legal issues arise.

To improve the readability of this publication:
• Most text will look like this.

• Practice tips are in the margins

• Hypothetical examples are printed in blue

• Frequently asked questions, along with our answers, are in shaded text

Additional copies of this publication may be purchased by visiting CityBooks  

online at www.cacities.org/store.

Page 68



THE RIGHT oF aCCESS

BRoaD CovERaGE

naRRoW ExEMPTIonS

PuBLIC PaRTICIPaTIon  
In MEETInGS

ConTRovERSy

BEyonD THE LaW—GooD  
BuSInESS PRaCTICES

aCHIEvInG BaLanCE

HISToRICaL noTE

chApTer 1: 
it is  the people’s Business

Page 69



2  Open & public iV  n  Chapter 1: It Is the People’s Business

n the right Of access 

Two key parts of the Brown Act have not changed since its adoption in 1953. One is the Brown Act’s initial 

section, declaring the Legislature’s intent:

“In enacting this chapter, the Legislature finds and declares that the public commissions, boards, 

and councils and the other public agencies in this State exist to aid in the conduct of the people’s 

business. It is the intent of the law that their actions be taken openly and that their deliberations 

be conducted openly.”

“The people of this State do not yield their sovereignty to the agencies which serve them. The 

people, in delegating authority, do not give their public servants the right to decide what is good 

for the people to know and what is not good for them to know. The people insist on remaining 

informed so that they may retain control over the instruments they have created.”1

The people reconfirmed that intent fifty years later at the November 2004 election by adopting Proposition 

59, amending the California Constitution to include a public right of access to government information:

“The people have the right of access to information concerning the conduct of the people’s 

business, and, therefore, the meetings of public bodies and the writings of public officials and 

agencies shall be open to public scrutiny.”2

The Brown Act’s other unchanged provision is a single sentence:

“All meetings of the legislative body of a local agency shall be open and public, and all persons 

shall be permitted to attend any meeting of the legislative body of a local agency, except as 

otherwise provided in this chapter.”3

That one sentence is by far the most important of the entire Brown Act. If the opening is the soul, that 

sentence is the heart of the Brown Act. 

chApTer 1: 
it is  the people’s Business

Practice Tip:
The key to the Brown 
Act is a single sentence. 
In summary, all 
meetings shall be open 
and public except 
when the Brown Act 
authorizes otherwise. 

Page 70



Open & public iV  n  Chapter 1: It Is the People’s Business 3

n brOad cOVerage

The Brown Act covers members of virtually every type of local government body, elected or appointed, 

decision-making or advisory. Some types of private organizations are covered, as are newly-elected 

members of a legislative body, even before they take office. 

Similarly, meetings subject to the Brown Act are not limited to face-to-face gatherings. They also 

include any medium of communication or device by which a majority of a legislative body develops “a 

collective concurrence as to action to be taken.” They include meetings held from remote locations by 

teleconference. 

New communication technologies present new Brown Act challenges. For example, common email 

practices of forwarding or replying to messages can easily lead to a serial meeting prohibited by the 

Brown Act, as can participation by members of a legislative body in an Internet chatroom or blog dialogue. 

Communicating during meetings using electronic technology (such as laptop computers, personal 

digital assistants, or cellular telephones) may create the perception that private communications are 

influencing the outcome of decisions; some state legislatures have banned the practice. On the other 

hand, widespread cablecasting and web streaming of meetings has greatly expanded public access to the 

decision-making process.

n narrOw exeMptiOns

The express purpose of the Brown Act is to assure that local government agencies conduct the public’s 

business openly and publicly. Courts and the Attorney General usually broadly construe the Brown Act in 

favor of greater public access and narrowly construe exemptions to its general rules.4 

Generally, public officials should think of themselves as living in glass houses, and that they may only draw 

the curtains when it is in the public interest to preserve confidentiality. Closed sessions may be held only as 

specifically authorized by the provisions of the Brown Act itself.

The Brown Act, however, is limited to meetings among a majority of the members of multi-member 

government bodies when the subject relates to local agency business. It does not apply to independent 

conduct of individual decision-makers. It does not apply to social, ceremonial, educational, and other 

gatherings as long as a majority of the members of a body don’t discuss issues related to their local 

agency’s business. Meetings of temporary advisory committees—as distinguished from standing 

committees—made up solely of less than a 

quorum of a legislative body are not subject to 

the Brown Act. 

The law does not apply to local agency staff or 

employees, but they may facilitate a violation 

by acting as a conduit for collective action or 

discussion.5 

The law on the one hand recognizes the 

need of individual local officials to meet and 

discuss matters with their constituents. On the 

other hand, it requires—with certain specific 

exceptions to protect the community and 

preserve individual rights—that the decision-

making process be public. Sometimes the 

boundary between the two is not easy to draw.

Practice Tip:
Think of the government’s 
house as being made of 
glass. The curtains may be 
drawn only to further the 
public’s interest. 

Page 71



4  Open & public iV  n  Chapter 1: It Is the People’s Business

n public participatiOn in Meetings

In addition to requiring the public’s business to be conducted in open, noticed meetings, the Brown Act 

also extends to the public the right to participate in meetings. Individuals, lobbyists, and members of the 

news media possess the right to attend, record, broadcast, and participate in public 

meetings. The public’s participation is further enhanced by the Brown Act’s requirement 

that a meaningful agenda be posted in advance of meetings, by limiting discussion and 

action to matters listed on the agenda, and by requiring that meeting materials be made 

available. 

Legislative bodies may, however, adopt reasonable regulations on public testimony and 

the conduct of public meetings, including measures to address disruptive conduct and 

irrelevant speech. 

n cOntrOVersy

Not surprisingly, the Brown Act has been a source of confusion and controversy since 

its inception. News media and government watchdogs often argue the law is toothless, 

pointing out that there has never been a single criminal conviction for a violation. They 

often suspect that closed sessions are being misused.

Public officials, on the other hand, complain that the Brown Act makes it difficult to 

respond to constituents and requires public discussions of items better discussed 

privately—such as why a particular person should not be appointed to a board or commission. Many 

elected officials find the Brown Act inconsistent with their private business experiences. Closed meetings 

can be more efficient; they eliminate grandstanding and promote candor. The techniques that serve well 

in business—the working lunch, the sharing of information through a series of phone calls or emails, the 

backroom conversations and compromises—are often not possible under the Brown Act. 

As a matter of public policy, California (along with many other states) has concluded more is to be gained 

than lost by conducting public business in the open. Government behind closed doors may well be efficient 

and business-like, but it may be perceived as unresponsive and untrustworthy.

n beyOnd the law – gOOd business practices

Violations of the Brown Act can lead to invalidation of an agency’s action, payment of a challenger’s 

attorneys’ fees, public embarrassment, even criminal prosecution. But the Brown Act is a floor, not a ceiling 

for conduct of public officials. This guide is focused not only on the Brown Act as a minimum standard, but 

also on meeting practices or activities that, legal or not, are likely to create controversy. Problems may crop 

up, for example, when agenda descriptions are too brief or vague, when an informal get-together takes 

on the appearance of a meeting, when an agency conducts too much of its business in closed session or 

discusses matters in closed session that are beyond the authorized scope, or when controversial issues 

arise that are not on the agenda.

The Brown Act allows a legislative body to adopt practices for itself and its subordinate committees 

and bodies that are more stringent than the law itself requires. Rather than simply restate the basic 

requirements of the Brown Act, local open meeting policies should strive to anticipate and prevent 

problems in areas where the Brown Act doesn’t provide full guidance. As with the adoption of any other 

significant policy, public comment should be solicited.

Practice Tip:
Transparency is a 
foundational value for 
ethical government 
practices. The Brown 
Act is a floor, not a 
ceiling, for conduct.

Page 72



Open & public iV  n  Chapter 1: It Is the People’s Business 5

A local policy could build on these basic Brown Act goals:

• A legislative body's need to get its business done smoothly.

• The public's right to participate meaningfully in meetings, and to review documents used in decision-

making at a relevant point in time.

• A local agency's right to confidentially address certain negotiations, personnel matters, claims and 

litigation.

• The right of the press to fully understand and communicate public agency decision-making.

An explicit and comprehensive public meeting and information policy, especially if reviewed periodically, 

can be an important element in maintaining or improving public relations. Such a policy exceeds the 

absolute requirements of the law—but if the law were enough this guide would be unnecessary. A narrow 

legalistic approach will not avoid or resolve potential controversies. An agency should consider going 

beyond the law, and look at its unique circumstances and determine if there is a better way to prevent 

potential problems and promote public trust. At the very least, local agencies need to think about how their 

agendas are structured in order to make Brown Act compliance easier. They need to plan carefully to make 

sure public participation fits smoothly into the process.

n achieVing balance

The Brown Act should be neither an excuse for hiding the ball nor a mechanism for hindering efficient 

and orderly meetings. The Brown Act represents a balance among the interests of constituencies whose 

interests do not always coincide. It calls for openness in local government, yet should allow government to 

function responsively and productively.

On the one hand, there must be adequate notice of what discussion and action is to occur during a 

meeting; on the other there must be a normal degree of spontaneity in the dialogue between elected 

officials and their constituents.

The ability of an elected official to confer with constituents or colleagues must be balanced against the 

important public policy prohibiting decision-making outside of public meetings.

In the end, implementation of the Brown Act must assure full participation of the public and preserve the 

integrity of the decision-making process, yet not stifle government officials and impede the effective and 

natural operation of government.

n histOrical nOte

In late 1951, San Francisco Chronicle reporter Mike Harris spent six weeks 

looking into the way local agencies conducted meetings. State law had 

long required that business be done in public, but Harris discovered secret 

meetings or caucuses were common. He wrote a 10-part series on “Your Secret 

Government” that ran in May and June of 1952.

Out of the series came a decision to push for a new state open meeting law. 

Harris and Richard (Bud) Carpenter, legal counsel for the League of California 

Cities, drafted a bill and Turlock Assembly Member Ralph M. Brown agreed 

to carry it. The bill passed the Legislature and was signed into law in 1953 by 

Governor Earl Warren.

Practice Tip:
The Brown Act should 
be viewed as a tool to 
facilitate the business 
of local government 
agencies. Local policies 
that go beyond the 
minimum requirements 
of law may help instill 
public confidence and 
avoid problems. 

Page 73



6  Open & public iV  n  Chapter 1: It Is the People’s Business

The Ralph M. Brown Act (the “Brown Act”), as it is known, has evolved under a series of amendments and 

court decisions, and has been the model for other open meeting laws—such as the Bagley-Keene Act, 

enacted in 1967 to cover state agencies.

Assembly Member Brown served in the Assembly for 19 years starting in 1942, the last three years as its 

Speaker. He then became an appellate court justice. But, he is best known for the open meeting law, which 

carries his name.

Endnotes

1	 California	Government	Code	section	54950

2	 California	Constitution,	Art.	1,	section	3	(b)(1)	

3	 California	Government	Code	section	54953	(a)

4	 This	principle	of	broad	construction	when	it	furthers	public	access	and	narrow	construction	if	a	provision	limits	
public	access	is	also	stated	in	the	amendment	to	the	state’s	Constitution	adopted	by	Proposition	59	in	2004.	
California	Constitution,	Art.	1,	section	3(b)(2)	

5	 Wolfe v. City of Fremont	(2006)	144	Cal.App.4th	533

updates to this publication responding to changes in the Brown act or new court interpretations are available 
at www.cacities.org/opengov.  a current version of the Brown act may be found at www.leginfo.ca.gov.

Page 74



chApTer 2:  
leGislAtive B odies

WHaT IS a “LEGISLaTIvE BoDy”  
oF a LoCaL aGEnCy?

WHaT IS noT a “LEGISLaTIvE BoDy”  
FoR PuRPoSES oF THE BRoWn aCT?

Page 75



�  Open & public iV  n  Chapter 2: Legislative Bodies

chApTer 2: 
leGislAtive B odies

The Brown Act applies to the legislative bodies of local agencies. It defines “legislative body” broadly to 

include just about every type of decision-making body of a local agency.1

n what is a “legislatiVe bOdy” Of a lOcal agency?

A “legislative body” includes:

• The “governing body of a local agency or any other local body created by state or federal statute.”2 

This includes city councils, boards of supervisors, school boards and boards of trustees of special 

districts. A “local agency” is any city, county, school district, municipal corporation, redevelopment 

agency, district, political subdivision, or other public agency.3 A housing authority is a local agency under 

the Brown Act even though it is created by and is an agent of the state.4 The California Attorney General 

has opined that air pollution control districts and regional open space districts are also covered.5 Entities 

created pursuant to joint powers agreements are local agencies within the meaning of the Brown Act.6

• newly-elected members of a legislative body who have not yet assumed office must conform to 

the requirements of the Brown Act as if already in office.7 Thus, meetings between incumbents and 

newly-elected members of a legislative body, such as a meeting between two outgoing members and a 

member-elect of a five-member body, could violate the Brown Act.

Q.	 On the morning following the election to a five-member legislative body of a local agency, 
two successful candidates, neither an incumbent, meet with an incumbent member of the 
legislative body for a celebratory breakfast. Does this violate the Brown Act?

A.	 It might, and absolutely would if the conversation turns to agency business. Even though the 
candidates-elect have not officially been sworn in, the Brown Act applies. If purely a social 
event, there is no violation but it would be preferable if others were invited to attend to 
avoid the appearance of impropriety.

Practice Tip:
The prudent 
presumption is that an 
advisory committee or 
task force is subject to 
the Brown Act. Even 
if one clearly is not, it 
may want to comply 
with the Brown Act. 
Public meetings may 
reduce the possibility of 
misunderstandings and 
controversy.

• appointed bodies—whether permanent or temporary, decision-making or advisory—such as planning 

commissions, civil service commissions and other subsidiary committees, boards, and bodies. Volunteer 

groups, executive search committees, task forces, and “blue ribbon committees” created by formal 

action of the governing body are legislative bodies. When the members of two or more legislative bodies 

are appointed to serve on an entirely separate advisory group, the resulting body may be subject to the 

Page 76



Open & public iV  n  Chapter 2: Legislative Bodies �

Brown Act. In one reported case, a city council created a committee of two members of the city council 

and two members of the city planning commission to review qualifications of prospective planning 

commissioners and make recommendations to the council. The court held that their joint mission made 

them a legislative body subject to the Brown Act. Had the two committees remained separate and met 

only to exchange information, they would have been exempt from the Brown Act.8 

• Standing committees of a legislative body, irrespective of their composition, which have either:  (1) a 

continuing subject matter jurisdiction, or (2) a meeting schedule fixed by charter, ordinance, resolution, 

or formal action of a legislative body.9 Even if comprised of less than a quorum of the governing body, 

a standing committee is subject to the Brown Act. For example, if a governing body creates long-term 

committees on budget and finance or on public safety, those are standing committees subject to the 

Brown Act. Further, function over form controls. For example, a statement by the legislative body that 

“the advisory committee shall not exercise continuing subject matter jurisdiction” or the fact that 

the committee does not have a fixed meeting schedule is not determinative.10 “Formal action” by a 

legislative body includes authorization given to the agency’s executive officer to appoint an advisory 

committee pursuant to agency-adopted policy.11

• The governing body of any private organization either:  (1) created by the legislative body in order to 

exercise authority that may lawfully be delegated by such body to a private corporation, limited liability 

company or other entity or (2) that receives agency funding and whose governing board includes a 

member of the legislative body of the local agency appointed by the legislative body as a full voting 

member of the private entity’s governing board.12 These include some nonprofit corporations created 

by local agencies.13 If a local agency contracts with a private firm for a service (for example, payroll, 

janitorial, or food services), the private firm is not covered by the Brown Act.14 When a member of a 

legislative body sits on a board of a private organization as a private person and is not appointed by 

the legislative body, the board will not be subject to the Brown Act. Similarly, when the legislative body 

appoints someone other than one of its own members to such boards, the Brown Act does not apply. 

Nor does it apply when a private organization merely receives agency funding.15 

• Certain kinds of hospital operators. A lessee of a hospital (or portion of a hospital) first leased under 

Health and Safety Code subsection 32121(p) after January 1, 1994, which exercises “material authority” 

delegated to it by a local agency, whether or not such lessee is organized and operated by the agency or 

by a delegated authority.16

n what is nOt a “legislatiVe bOdy” fOr purpOses Of the brOwn act?

• A temporary advisory committee composed solely of less than a quorum of the legislative body 

that serves a limited or single purpose, that is not perpetual, and that will be dissolved once its specific 

task is completed is not subject to the Brown Act.17 Temporary committees are sometimes called ad hoc 

Practice Tip:
It can be difficult to 
determine whether a 
committee falls into the 
category of a standing 
committee or an exempt 
temporary committee. 
Suppose a committee is 
created to explore the 
renewal of a franchise 
or a topic of similarly 
limited scope and 
duration. Is it an exempt 
temporary committee 
or a non-exempt 
standing committee? 
The answer may depend 
on factors such as how 
meeting schedules are 
determined, the scope 
of the committee’s 
charge, or whether 
the committee exists 
long enough to have 
“continuing jurisdiction.”

Q:		 The local chamber of commerce is funded in part by the city.  The mayor sits on the chamber’s 
board of directors.  Is the chamber board a legislative body subject to the Brown Act?

A:		 Maybe.  If the chamber’s governing documents require the mayor to be on the board and 
the city council appoints the mayor to that position, the board is a legislative body.  If, 
however, the chamber board independently appoints the mayor to its board, or the mayor 
attends chamber board meetings in a purely advisory capacity, it is not.

Q:	 If a community college district board creates an auxiliary organization to operate a campus 
bookstore or cafeteria, is the board of the organization a legislative body?  

A:	 Yes.  But, if the district instead contracts with a private firm to operate the bookstore or 
cafeteria, the Brown Act would not apply to the private firm.  

Page 77



10  Open & public iV  n  Chapter 2: Legislative Bodies

committees, a term not used in the Brown Act. Examples include an advisory committee composed of 

less than a quorum created to interview candidates for a vacant position or to meet with representatives 

of other entities to exchange information on a matter of concern to the agency, such as traffic 

congestion.18

• Groups advisory to a single decision-maker or appointed by staff are not covered. The Brown Act applies 

only to committees created by formal action of the legislative body and not to committees created 

by others. A committee advising a superintendent of schools would not be covered by the Brown Act. 

However, the same committee, if created by formal action of the school board, would be covered.19

• Individual decision makers who are not elected or appointed members of a legislative body are not 

covered by the Brown Act. For example, a disciplinary hearing presided over by a department head or 

a meeting of agency department heads are not subject to the Brown Act since such assemblies are not 

those of a legislative body.20

• County central committees of political parties are also not Brown Act bodies.21

Endnotes

1	 Taxpayers for Livable Communities v. City of Malibu	(2005)	126	Cal.App.4th	1123

2	 California	Government	Code	section	54951

3	 California	Government	Code	section	54951.	But see:  Education	Code	section	35147,	which	exempts	certain	school	
councils	and	school	site	advisory	committees	from	the	Brown	Act	and	imposes	upon	them	a	separate	set	of	rules.

4	 Torres v. Board of Commissioners	(1979)	89	Cal.App.3d	545

5	 71	Ops.Cal.Atty.Gen.	96	(1988);	73	Ops.Cal.Atty.Gen.	1	(1990)

6	 McKee v. Los Angeles Interagency Metropolitan Police Apprehension Crime Task Force	(2005)	134	Cal.App.4th	354

7	 California	Government	Code	section	54952.1

8	 Joiner v. City of Sebastopol	(1981)	125	Cal.App.3d	799

9	 California	Government	Code	section	54952(b)

10	 79	Ops.	Cal.Atty.Gen.	69	(1996)

11	 Frazer v. Dixon Unified School District (1993)	18	Cal.App.4th	781.

12	 California	Government	Code	section	54952(c)(1)(B).	The	same	rule	applies	to	a	full	voting	member	appointed	
prior	to	February	9,	1996	who,	after	that	date,	is	made	a	non-voting	board	member	by	the	legislative	body.	
California	Government	Code	section	54952(c)(2)

13	 California	Government	Code	section	54952(c)(1)(A);	International Longshoremen’s and Warehousemen’s Union 
v. Los Angeles Export Terminal (1999)	69	Cal.App.4th	287;	Epstein v. Hollywood Entertainment Dist. II Business 
Improvement District	(2001)	87	Cal.App.4th	862;	see also:		81	Ops.Cal.Atty.Gen.	281	(1998);	85	Ops.Cal.Atty.Gen.	55

14	 International Longshoremen’s and Warehousemen’s Union v. Los Angeles Export Terminal (1999)	69	Cal.App.4th	287

15		 “The	Brown	Act,”	California	Attorney	General	(2003),	p.	7

16	 California	Government	Code	section	54952(d)

17	 California	Government	Code	section	54952(b);	see also: Freedom Newspapers, Inc. v. Orange County Employees 
Retirement System Board of Directors	(1993)	6	Cal.4th	821

18	 Taxpayers for Livable Communities v. City of Malibu	(2005)	126	Cal.App.4th	1123		

19	 56	Ops.Cal.Atty.Gen.	14	(1973)

20	 Wilson v. San Francisco Municipal Railway	(1973)	29	Cal.App.3d	870

21	 59	Ops.Cal.Atty.Gen.	162	(1976)

updates to this publication responding to changes in the Brown act or new court interpretations are available 
at www.cacities.org/opengov.  a current version of the Brown act may be found at www.leginfo.ca.gov.

Q.	 A member of the legislative body of a local agency informally establishes an advisory 
committee of five residents to advise her on issues as they arise. Does the Brown Act apply 
to this committee? 

A.	 No, because the committee has not been established by formal action of the legislative body.

Page 78



chApTer 3:
MeetinGs

BRoWn aCT MEETInGS

SIx ExCEPTIonS To THE MEETInG 
DEFInITIon

CoLLECTIvE BRIEFInGS

RETREaTS oR WoRkSHoPS oF 
LEGISLaTIvE BoDIES

SERIaL MEETInGS

InFoRMaL GaTHERInGS

TECHnoLoGICaL ConFEREnCInG

LoCaTIon oF MEETInGS

Page 79



12  Open & public iV  n  Chapter 3: Meetings

The Brown Act only applies to meetings of local legislative bodies. The Brown Act defines a meeting as: 

“… any congregation of a majority of the members of a legislative body at the same time and place to hear, 

discuss, or deliberate upon any item that is within the subject matter jurisdiction of the legislative body or 

the local agency to which it pertains.”1  The term “meeting” under the Brown Act is not limited to gatherings 

at which action is taken but includes deliberative gatherings as well. 

n brOwn act Meetings

Brown Act gatherings include a legislative body’s regular meetings, special meetings, emergency meetings 

and adjourned meetings. 

• “Regular meetings” are meetings occurring at the dates, times, and location set by resolution, ordinance, 

or other formal action by the legislative body and are subject to 72-hour posting requirements.2 

• “Special meetings” are meetings called by the presiding officer or majority of the legislative body to 

discuss only discrete items on the agenda, under the Brown Act’s   notice  

• “Emergency meetings” are a limited class of meetings held when prompt action is needed due to actual 

or threatened disruption of public facilities and are held on little  

• “Adjourned meetings” are regular or special meetings that have been adjourned or re-adjourned to a 

time and place specified in the order of adjournment, with no agenda required for regular meetings 

adjourned for less than five calendar days as long as no additional business is transacted.5

n six exceptiOns tO the Meeting definitiOn

The Brown Act creates six exceptions to the meeting definition: 6

Individual Contacts
The first exception involves individual contacts between a member of the legislative body and any other 

person. The Brown Act does not limit a legislative body member acting on his or her own. This exception 

recognizes the right to confer with constituents, advocates, consultants, news reporters, local agency staff 

or a colleague.

chApTer 3: 
MeetinGs

Page 80



Open & public iV  n  Chapter 3: Meetings 13

Individual contacts, however, cannot be used to do in stages what would be prohibited in one step. For 

example, a series of individual contacts that leads to a “collective concurrence” among a majority of the 

members of a legislative body is prohibited. Such serial meetings are discussed 

below.

Conferences
The second exception allows a legislative body majority to attend a conference 

or similar gathering open to the public that addresses issues of general interest 

to the public or to public agencies of the type represented by the legislative body.

Among other things, this exception permits legislative body members to attend 

annual association conferences of city, county, school, community college, and 

other local agency officials, so long as those meetings are open to the public. 

However, a majority of members cannot discuss among themselves, other than 

as part of the scheduled program, business of a specific nature that is within 

their local agency’s subject matter jurisdiction.

Community Meetings
The third exception allows a legislative body majority to attend an open and publicized meeting held by 

another organization to address a topic of local community concern. Again, a majority cannot discuss 

among themselves, other than as part of the scheduled program, business of a specific nature that is within 

their local agency’s subject matter jurisdiction. Under this exception, a legislative body majority may attend 

a local service club meeting or a local candidates’ night if the meetings are open to the public.

“I see we have four distinguished members of the city council at our meeting tonight,”  

said the chair of the Environmental Action Coalition.

“I wonder if they have anything to say about the controversy over enacting a  

slow growth ordinance?”

The Brown Act permits a majority of a legislative body to attend and speak at an open and 

publicized meeting conducted by another organization. The Brown Act may nevertheless be 

violated if a majority engages in a collective deliberation process during the meeting of the other 

organization. There is a fine line between what is permitted and what is not; hence, members 

should exercise caution when participating in these types of events.

Q.	 The local chamber of commerce sponsors an open and public candidate debate during an 
election campaign. Three of the five agency members are up for re-election and all three 
participate. All of the candidates are asked their views of a controversial project scheduled 
for a meeting to occur just after the election. May the three incumbents answer the 
question? 

A.	 Yes, because the Brown Act does not constrain the incumbents from expressing their views 
regarding important matters facing the local agency as part of the political process the same 
as any other candidates.

Other Legislative Bodies
The fourth exception allows a majority of a legislative body to attend an open and publicized meeting of:  

(1) another body of the local agency and (2) a legislative body of another local agency.7 Again, the majority 

cannot discuss among themselves, other than as part of the scheduled meeting, business of a specific 

nature that is within their local agency’s subject matter jurisdiction. This exception allows, for example, 

Page 81



14  Open & public iV  n  Chapter 3: Meetings

a city council or a majority of a board of supervisors to attend a controversial meeting of the planning 

commission.

Nothing in the Brown Act prevents the majority of a legislative body from sitting together at such a meeting. 

They may choose not to, however, to preclude any possibility of improperly discussing local agency 

business and to avoid the appearance of a Brown Act violation. Further, aside from the Brown Act, there 

may be other reasons, such as due process considerations, why the members should avoid giving public 

testimony or trying to influence the outcome of proceedings before a subordinate body.

Standing Committees
The fifth exception authorizes the attendance of a majority at an open and noticed meeting of a standing 

committee of the legislative body, provided that the legislative body members who are not members of the 

standing committee attend only as observers (meaning that they cannot speak or otherwise participate in 

the meeting).8

Social or Ceremonial Events
The sixth and final exception permits a majority of a legislative body to attend a purely social or ceremonial 

occasion. Once again, a majority cannot discuss business among themselves of a specific nature that is 

within the subject matter jurisdiction of the local agency.

Nothing in the Brown Act prevents a majority of members from attending the same football game, party, 

wedding, funeral, reception, or farewell. The test is not whether a majority of a legislative body attends the 

function, but whether business of a specific nature within the subject matter jurisdiction of the local agency 

is discussed. So long as no local agency business is discussed, there is no violation of the Brown Act.

n cOllectiVe briefings

None of these six exceptions permits a majority of a legislative body to meet together with staff in advance 

of a meeting for a collective briefing. Any such briefings that involve a majority of the body in the same 

place and time must be open to the public and satisfy Brown Act meeting notice and agenda requirements.

Q.	 The entire legislative body intends to testify against a bill before the Senate Local 
Government Committee in Sacramento. Must this activity be noticed as a meeting  
of the body? 

A.	 No, because the members are attending and participating in an open meeting of another 
governmental body which the public may attend.

Q.	 The members then proceed upstairs to the office of their local assemblymember to  
discuss issues of local interest. Must this session be noticed as a meeting and be open  
to the public? 

A.	 Yes, because the entire body may not meet behind closed doors except for proper closed 
sessions. The same answer applies to a private lunch or dinner with the assemblymember.

Q.	 The legislative body establishes a standing committee of two of its five members, which 
meets monthly. A third member of the legislative body wants to attend these meetings and 
participate. May she? 

A.	 She may attend, but only as an observer; she may not participate.

Page 82



Open & public iV  n  Chapter 3: Meetings 15

n retreats Or wOrkshOps Of legislatiVe bOdies

There is consensus among local agency attorneys that gatherings by a majority of legislative body members 

at the legislative body’s retreats, study sessions, or workshops are covered under the Brown Act. This is the 

case whether the retreat, study session, or workshop focuses on long-range agency planning, discussion of 

critical local issues, or on team building and group dynamics.9

n serial Meetings

One of the most frequently asked questions about the Brown Act involves serial 

meetings. Such meetings at any one time involve only a portion of a legislative 

body, but eventually involve a majority.

The problem with serial meetings is the process, which deprives the public of 

an opportunity for meaningful participation in legislative body decision-making. 

Except for teleconferencing discussed below, the Brown Act specifically prohibits 

“any use of direct communication, personal intermediaries, or technological 

devices that is employed by a majority of the members of the legislative body 

to develop a collective concurrence as to action to be taken on an item by the 

members of the legislative body.”10

The serial meeting may occur by either a “daisy-chain” or a “hub-and-spoke” 

sequence. In the daisy-chain scenario Member A contacts Member B, Member B 

contacts Member C, Member C contacts Member D and so on, until a quorum and collective concurrence 

has been established. The hub-and-spoke process involves, for example, a staff member (the hub) 

communicating with members of a legislative body (the spokes) one-by-one for a decision on a proposed 

action,11 or a chief executive officer briefing a majority of redevelopment agency members prior to a formal 

meeting and, in the process, information about the members’ respective views is revealed. Each of these 

scenarios violates the Brown Act.

A legislative body member has the right, if not the duty, to meet with constituents to address their 

concerns. That member also has the right to confer with a colleague or appropriate staff about local agency 

business. However, if several one-on-one meetings or conferences leads to a “collective concurrence as 

to action to be taken” among a majority, the Brown Act has been violated. In one case, a violation occurred 

when a quorum of a city council directed staff by letter on an eminent domain action.12

On the other hand, a unilateral written communication to the legislative body, such as an informational or 

advisory memorandum, does not violate the Brown Act.13 Such a memo, however, may be a public record.14

 The phone call was from a lobbyist. “Say, I need your vote for that project in the south area. 

How about it?”

“Well, I don’t know,” replied Board Member Adams. “That’s kind of a sticky proposition. You 

sure you need my vote?”

“Well, I’ve got Baker and Charles lined up and another vote leaning. With you I’d be over  

the top …”

Q.	 The legislative body wants to hold a team-building session to improve relations among its 
members. May such a session be conducted behind closed doors? 

A.	 No, this is not a proper subject for a closed session, and there is no other basis to exclude 
the public. Council relations are a matter of public business.

Page 83



16  Open & public iV  n  Chapter 3: Meetings

 Moments later, the phone rings again. “Hey, I’ve been hearing some rumbles on that south 

area project,” said the newspaper reporter. “I’m counting noses. How are you voting on it?”

Neither the lobbyist nor the reporter has violated the Brown Act, but they are facilitating a violation. 

The board member may have violated the Brown Act by hearing about the positions of other board 

members and indeed coaxing the lobbyist to reveal the other board members’ positions by asking 

“You sure you need my vote?” The prudent course is to avoid such leading conversations and to 

caution lobbyists, staff and news media against revealing such positions of others.

The mayor sat down across from the city manager. “From now on,” he declared, “I want 

you to provide individual briefings on upcoming agenda items. Some of this material is very 

technical, and the council members don’t want to sound like idiots asking about it in public. 

Besides that, briefings will speed up the meeting.”

A recent case supports the consensus among local agency attorneys that staff briefings of 

legislative body members are allowed if staff is not used as a conduit for developing collective 

concurrence on the matter, and if during such briefings staff does not disclose the views and 

positions of other members.15 Members should always be vigilant when discussing local agency 

business with anyone to avoid conversations that could lead to a collective concurrence among 

the majority of the legislative body.

“Thanks for the information,” said Council Member Smith. “These zoning changes can be 

tricky, and now I think I’m better equipped to make the right decision.”

“Glad to be of assistance,” replied the planning director. “Any idea what the other council 

members think of the problem?”

The planning director should not ask, and the member should not answer. A one-on-one meeting 

that involves a member of a legislative body takes a step toward collective concurrence if either 

person reveals or discusses the views of other members.

Particular care should be exercised when staff briefings of legislative body members occur by email 

because of the ease of using the “reply to all” button that may inadvertently result in a Brown Act violation.

Q.	 The agency’s web-site includes a chat room where agency employees and officials 
participate anonymously and often discuss issues of local agency business. Members of 
the legislative body participate regularly. Does this scenario present a potential for violation 
of the Brown Act? 

A.	 Yes, because it is a technological device that may serve to allow for the development of a 
collective concurrence as to action to be taken.

Q.	 A member of a legislative body contacts two other members on a five-member body 
relative to scheduling a special meeting. Is this an illegal serial meeting?

A.	 No, the Brown Act expressly allows this kind of communication, though  
the members should avoid discussing the merits of what is to be taken up  
at the meeting.

Practice Tip:
Staff must exercise 
care not to achieve a 
collective concurrence 
by not disclosing the 
other members’ views 
and positions when 
briefing legislative 
body members. 

Page 84



Open & public iV  n  Chapter 3: Meetings 17

n infOrMal gatherings

Often members are tempted to mix business with pleasure—for example, by holding a post meeting 

gathering. Informal gatherings at which local agency business is discussed or transacted violate the law if 

they are not conducted in conformance with the Brown Act.16  A luncheon gathering in a crowded dining 

room violates the Brown Act if the public does not have an adequate opportunity to hear or participate in 

the deliberations of members.

Thursday, 11:30 a.m. As they did every week, the board of directors of Dry Gulch Irrigation 

District trooped into Pop’s Donut Shoppe for an hour of talk and fellowship. They sat at the 

corner window, fronting on Main and Broadway, to show they had nothing to hide. Whenever 

he could, the managing editor of the weekly newspaper down the street hurried over to join 

the board.

A gathering like this would not violate the Brown Act if board members scrupulously avoided 

talking about irrigation district issues. But it is the kind of situation that should be avoided. The 

public is unlikely to believe the board members could meet regularly without discussing public 

business. A newspaper executive’s presence in no way lessens the potential for a violation of the 

Brown Act.

n technOlOgical cOnferencing

In an effort to keep up with information age technologies, the Brown Act now specifically allows a legislative 

body to use any type of teleconferencing to meet, receive public comment and testimony, deliberate, or 

conduct a closed session.17

“Teleconference” is defined as “a meeting of a legislative body, the members of which are in different 

locations, connected by electronic means, through either audio or video, or both.”18 

In addition to the specific requirements relating to teleconferencing, the meeting 

must comply with all provisions of the Brown Act otherwise applicable. The Brown 

Act contains the following specific requirements:19

• Teleconferencing may be used for all purposes during any meeting.

• At least a quorum of the legislative body must participate from locations within 

the local agency’s jurisdiction (except health authorities may count members 

located outside of their jurisdiction for up to 50% of the quorum as long as the 

notice and agenda for the meeting include the teleconference number and 

access code).

• Additional teleconference locations may be made available for the public.

Q.	 The agency has won a major victory in the Supreme Court on an issue of importance. 
The presiding officer decides to hold an impromptu press conference in order to make a 
statement to the print and broadcast media. All the other members show up in order to 
make statements of their own and be seen by the media. Is this gathering illegal?

A.	 Technically there is no exception for this sort of gathering, but as long as members do not 
state their intentions as to future action to be taken and the press conference is open to the 
public, it seems harmless.

Page 85



1�  Open & public iV  n  Chapter 3: Meetings

• Each teleconference location must be specifically identified in the notice and agenda of the meeting, 

including a full address and room number, as may be applicable.

• Agendas must be posted at each teleconference location, even if a hotel room or a residence.

• Each teleconference location must be accessible to the public and have technology, such as a 

speakerphone, to enable the public to participate.

• The agenda must provide the opportunity for the public to address the legislative body directly at each 

teleconference location.

• All votes must be by roll call.

The use of teleconferencing to conduct a legislative body meeting presents a variety of new issues beyond 

the scope of this guide to discuss in detail. Therefore, before teleconferencing a meeting, legal counsel for 

the local agency should be consulted.

n lOcatiOn Of Meetings

The Brown Act generally requires all regular and special meetings of a legislative body, including retreats 

and workshops, to be held within the boundaries of the territory over which the local agency exercises 

jurisdiction.20

An open and publicized meeting of a legislative body may be held outside of agency boundaries if the 

purpose of the meeting is to:

• Comply with state or federal law or a court order, or for a judicial conference or administrative 

proceeding in which the local agency is a party.

• Inspect real or personal property, which cannot be conveniently brought into the local agency’s territory, 

provided the meeting is limited to items relating to that real or personal property.

• Participate in multiagency meetings or discussions, however, such meetings must be held within the 

boundaries of one of the participating agencies, and all involved agencies must give proper notice.

• Meet in the closest meeting facility if the local agency has no meeting facility within its boundaries or at 

its principal office if that office is located outside the territory over which the agency has jurisdiction.

Q.	 The agency is considering approving a major retail mall. The developer has built other similar 
malls, and invites the entire legislative body to visit a mall outside the jurisdiction. May the 
entire body go?

A.	 Yes, the Brown Act permits meetings outside the boundaries of the agency for specified 
reasons and inspection of property is one such reason. The field trip must be treated as a 
meeting and the public must be able to attend.

Q.	 A member on vacation desires to participate in a meeting of the legislative body and vote by 
cellular phone from her car while driving from Washington, D.C. to New York. May she?

A.	 She may not participate or vote because she is not in a noticed and posted teleconference 
location.

Practice Tip:
Before teleconferencing 
a meeting, legal counsel 
for the local agency 
should be consulted. 

Page 86



Open & public iV  n  Chapter 3: Meetings 1�

• Meet with elected or appointed federal or California officials when a local meeting would be impractical, 

solely to discuss a legislative or regulatory issue affecting the local agency and over which the federal or 

state officials have jurisdiction.

• Meet in or nearby a facility owned by the agency, provided that the topic of the meeting is limited to 

items directly related to the facility.

• Visit the office of its legal counsel for a closed session on pending litigation, when to do so would reduce 

legal fees or costs.21

In addition, the governing board of a school or community college district may hold meetings outside of its 

boundaries to attend a conference on nonadversarial collective bargaining techniques, interview candidates 

for school district superintendent, or interview a potential employee from another district.22 A school board 

may also interview members of the public residing in another district if the board is considering employing 

that district’s superintendent.

Similarly, meetings of a joint powers authority can occur within the territory of at least one of its member 

agencies, and a joint powers authority with members throughout the state may meet anywhere in the 

state.23

Finally, if a fire, flood, earthquake, or other emergency makes the usual meeting place unsafe, the 

presiding officer can designate another meeting place for the duration of the emergency. News media 

that have requested notice of meetings must be notified of the designation by the most rapid means of 

communication available.24

Page 87



20  Open & public iV  n  Chapter 3: Meetings

Endnotes:

1		 California	Government	Code	section	54952.2(a)

2		 California	Government	Code	section	54954(a)

3		 California	Government	Code	section	54956

4		 California	Government	Code	section	54956.5

5		 California	Government	Code	section	54955

6		 California	Government	Code	section	54952.2(c)

7		 California	Government	Code	section	54952.2(c)(4)

8		 California	Government	Code	section	54952.2(c)(6)

9		 “The	Brown	Act,”	California	Attorney	General	(2003),	p.	10

10		 California	Government	Code	section	54952.2(b)

11		 Stockton Newspaper Inc. v. Redevelopment Agency	(1985)	171	Cal.App.3d	95

12		 Common Cause v. Stirling	(1983)	147	Cal.App.3d	518

13		 Roberts v. City of Palmdale	(1993)	5	Cal.4th	363

14		 California	Government	Code	section	54957.5(a)

15		 Wolfe v. City of Fremont	(2006)	144	Cal.App.4th	533

16		 California	Government	Code	section	54952.2;	43	Ops.Cal.Atty.Gen.	36	(1964)

17		 California	Government	Code	section	54953(b)(1)

18		 California	Government	Code	section	54953(b)(4)

19		 California	Government	Code	section	54953

20		 California	Government	Code	section	54954(b)

21		 California	Government	Code	section	54954(b)(1)-(7)

22		 California	Government	Code	section	54954(c)

23		 California	Government	Code	section	54954(d)

24		 California	Government	Code	section	54954(e)

updates to this publication responding to changes in the Brown act or new court interpretations are available 
at www.cacities.org/opengov.  a current version of the Brown act may be found at www.leginfo.ca.gov.

Page 88



chApTer 4:  
AGendAs, notices, And  

puBlic pARticipAtion

aGEnDaS FoR REGuLaR MEETInGS

MaILED aGEnDa uPon WRITTEn REquEST

noTICE REquIREMEnTS FoR SPECIaL MEETInGS

noTICES anD aGEnDaS FoR aDJouRnED anD 
ConTInuED MEETInGS anD HEaRInGS

noTICE REquIREMEnTS FoR EMERGEnCy 
MEETInGS

EDuCaTIonaL aGEnCy MEETInGS 

noTICE REquIREMEnTS FoR Tax oR 
aSSESSMEnT MEETInGS anD HEaRInGS

non-aGEnDa ITEMS

RESPonDInG To THE PuBLIC

THE RIGHT To aTTEnD MEETInGS 

RECoRDS anD RECoRDInGS

THE PuBLIC’S PLaCE on THE aGEnDa

Page 89



22  Open & public iV  n  Chapter 4: Agendas, Notices, and Public Participation

Effective notice is essential for an open and public meeting. Whether a meeting is open or how the public 

may participate in that meeting is academic if no one knows about the meeting. 

n agendas fOr regular Meetings

Every regular meeting of a legislative body of a local agency—including advisory committees, commissions, 

or boards, as well as standing committees of legislative bodies—must be preceded by a posted agenda that 

advises the public of the meeting and the matters to be transacted or discussed. 

The agenda must be posted at least 72 hours before the regular meeting in a location “freely accessible 

to members of the public.”1 The California Attorney General has interpreted this requirement to require 

posting in locations accessible to the public 24 hours a day during the 72-hour period.2 Posting may also be 

made on a touch screen electronic kiosk accessible without charge to the public 24 hours a day during the 

72-hour period.3 However, posting an agenda on an agency’s website alone is inadequate since there is no 

universal access to the internet. The agenda must state the meeting time and place and must contain “a 

brief general description of each item of business to be transacted or discussed at the meeting, including 

items to be discussed in closed session.”4

chApTer 4:  
AGendAs, notices, And  

puBlic pARticipAtion

Q.	 The agenda for a regular meeting contains the following items of business:

• “Consideration of a report regarding traffic on Eighth Street”

• “Consideration of contract with ABC Consulting”

Are these descriptions adequate? 

A.	 If the first is, it is barely adequate. A better description would provide the reader with 
some idea of what the report is about and what is being recommended. The second is not 
adequate. A better description might read “consideration of a contract with ABC Consulting 
in the amount of $50,000 for traffic engineering services regarding traffic on Eighth Street.” 

Practice Tip:
Putting together 
a meeting agenda 
requires careful 
thought.

Page 90



Open & public iV  n  Chapter 4: Agendas, Notices, and Public Participation 23

A brief general description may not be sufficient for closed session agenda items. The Brown Act provides 

safe harbor language for the various types of permissible closed sessions. Substantial compliance with 

the safe harbor language is recommended to protect legislative bodies and elected officials from legal 

challenges. 

n Mailed agenda upOn written request

The legislative body, or its designee, must mail a copy of the agenda or, if requested, the 

entire agenda packet, to any person who has filed a written request for such materials. These 

copies shall be mailed at the time the agenda is posted. If requested, these materials must be 

made available in appropriate alternative formats to persons with disabilities. 

A request for notice is valid for one calendar year and renewal requests must be filed January 

1 of each year. The legislative body may establish a fee to recover the cost of providing the 

service. Failure of the requesting person to receive the agenda does not constitute grounds 

for invalidation of actions taken at the meeting.5

n nOtice requireMents fOr special Meetings

There is no express agenda requirement for special meetings, but the notice of the special meeting 

effectively serves as the agenda and limits the business that may be transacted or discussed. Written notice 

must be sent to each member of the legislative body (unless waived in writing by that member) and to each 

local newspaper of general circulation, and radio or television station that has requested such notice in 

writing. This notice must be delivered by personal delivery or any other means that ensures receipt, at least 

24 hours before the time of the meeting. 

The notice must state the time and place of the meeting, as well as all business to be transacted or 

discussed. It is recommended that the business to be transacted or discussed be described in the same 

manner that an item for a regular meeting would be described on the agenda—with a brief general 

description. As noted above, closed session items should be described in accordance with the Brown Act’s 

safe harbor provisions to protect legislative bodies and elected officials from challenges of noncompliance 

with notice requirements. The special meeting notice must also be posted at least 24 hours prior to the 

special meeting in a site freely accessible to the public. The body cannot consider business not in the notice.6

n nOtices and agendas fOr adjOurned and cOntinued  
Meetings and hearings

A regular or special meeting can be adjourned and re-adjourned to a time and place specified in the order 

of adjournment.7 If no time is stated, the meeting is continued to the hour for regular meetings. Whoever 

is present (even if they are less than a quorum) may so adjourn a meeting; if no member of the legislative 

body is present, the clerk or secretary may adjourn the meeting. If a meeting is adjourned for less than five 

calendar days, no new agenda need be posted so long as a new item of business is not introduced. A copy 

of the order of adjournment must be posted within 24 hours after the adjournment, at or near the door of 

the place where the meeting was held.

Q.	 The agenda includes an item entitled “City Manager’s Report,” during which time the City 
Manager provides a brief report on notable topics of interest, none of which are listed on 
the agenda. 

Is this permissible? 

A.	 Yes, so long as it does not result in extended discussion or action by the body.

Page 91



24  Open & public iV  n  Chapter 4: Agendas, Notices, and Public Participation

A hearing can be continued to a subsequent meeting. The process is the same as for continuing adjourned 

meetings, except that if the hearing is continued to a time less than 24 hours away, a copy of the order or 

notice of continuance must be posted immediately following the meeting.8

n nOtice requireMents fOr eMergency Meetings

The special meeting notice provisions apply to emergency meetings, except for the 24-hour notice.9 News 

media that have requested written notice of special meetings must be notified by telephone at least one 

hour in advance of an emergency meeting, and all telephone numbers provided in that written request 

must be tried. If telephones are not working, the notice requirements are deemed waived. However, the 

news media must be notified as soon as possible of the meeting and any action taken.

News media make a practice of having written requests on file for notification of special or emergency 

meetings. Absent such a request, a local agency has no legal obligation to notify news media of special or 

emergency meetings—although notification may be advisable in any event to avoid controversy.

n educatiOnal agency Meetings 

The Education Code contains some special agenda and special meeting provisions,10 however, they are 

generally consistent with the Brown Act. An item is apparently void if not posted.11 A school district must 

also adopt regulations to make sure the public can place matters affecting district business on meeting 

agendas and to address the board on those items.12

n nOtice requireMents fOr tax Or assessMent  
Meetings and hearings

The Brown Act prescribes specific procedures for adoption by a city, county, special district, or joint powers 

authority of any new or increased general tax or assessment.13 At least one public meeting must be held 

to allow public testimony on the tax or assessment. In addition, there must also be at least 45 days notice 

of a public hearing at which public testimony may be given before the legislative body proposes to act on 

the tax or assessment. The agency may recover the reasonable costs of the public meetings, hearings, and 

notice.14 

The Brown Act exempts certain fees, standby or availability charges, recurring assessments, and new or 

increased assessments that are subject to the notice and hearing requirements of the Constitution.15 As a 

practical matter, the Constitution’s notice requirements have preempted this section of the Brown Act. 

n nOn-agenda iteMs

The Brown Act generally prohibits any action or discussion of items not on the posted agenda. However, 

there are three specific situations in which a legislative body can act on an item not on the agenda.16

• When a majority decides there is an “emergency situation” (as defined for emergency meetings).

• When two-thirds of the members present (or all members if less than two-thirds are present) determine 

there is a need for immediate action and the need to take action “came to the attention of the local 

agency subsequent to the agenda being posted.” This exception requires a degree of urgency. Further, 

an item cannot be considered under this provision if the legislative body or the staff knew about the 

need to take immediate action before the agenda was posted. A “new” need does not arise because 

staff forgot to put an item on the agenda or because an applicant missed a deadline.

• When an item appeared on the agenda of, and was continued from, a meeting held not more than five 

days earlier.

Practice Tip:
Subject to very limited 
exceptions, the Brown 
Act prohibits any 
action or discussion 
of an item not on the 
posted agenda.

Page 92



Open & public iV  n  Chapter 4: Agendas, Notices, and Public Participation 25

As seen in the above-described instances, the exceptions are narrow. 

The first two require a specific determination by the legislative body. 

That determination can be challenged in court and, if unsubstantiated, 

can lead to invalidation of an action.

“I’d like a two-thirds vote of the board, so we can go ahead 

and authorize commencement of phase two of the East Area 

Project,” said chairman Jones.

“It’s not on the agenda. But we learned two days ago that we 

finished phase one ahead of schedule—believe it or not—and 

I’d like to keep it that way. Do I hear a motion?”

 The desire to stay ahead of schedule generally would not satisfy 

“a need for immediate action.” Too casual an action could invite 

a court challenge by a disgruntled resident. The prudent course 

is to place an item on the agenda for the next meeting and not 

risk invalidation.

“We learned this morning of an opportunity for a state grant,” said the chief engineer at the 

regular board meeting, “but our application has to be submitted in two days. We’d like the 

board to give us the go ahead tonight, even though it’s not on the agenda.”

 A legitimate immediate need can be acted upon even though not on the posted agenda by 

following a two-step process:  

• First, make two determinations:  (a) that there is an immediate need to take action  

and (b) that the need arose after the posting of the agenda. The matter is then  

“placed on the agenda.”

• Second, discuss and act on the added agenda item.

n respOnding tO the public

The public can talk about anything, but the legislative body generally cannot act on or discuss an item not 

on the agenda. What happens when a member of the public raises a subject not on the agenda?

While the Brown Act does not allow discussion or action on items not on the agenda, it does allow 

members of the legislative body, or its staff, to “briefly respond” to comments or questions from members 

of the public, provide a reference to staff or other resources for factual information, or direct staff to place 

the issue on a future agenda. In addition, even without a comment from the public, a legislative body 

member or a staff member may ask for information, request a report back or to place a matter of business 

on the agenda for a subsequent meeting (subject to its own rules or procedures), ask a question for 

clarification, make a brief announcement, or briefly report on his or her own activities.17 However, caution 

should be used to avoid any discussion or action on such items.

Councilmember a:  I would like staff to respond to Resident Joe’s complaints during public 

comment about the repaving project on Elm Street – are there problems with this project?

City Manager:  The public works director has prepared a 45-minute power point presentation 

for you on the status of this project and will give it right now.

Councilmember B:  Take all the time you need; we need to get to the bottom of this. Our 

residents are unhappy.

Page 93



26  Open & public iV  n  Chapter 4: Agendas, Notices, and Public Participation

It is clear from this dialogue that the Elm Street project was not on the Council’s agenda, but 

was raised during the public comment period for items not on the agenda. Councilmember 

A properly asked staff to respond; the City Manager should have given a brief response. If a 

lengthy report from the public works director was warranted, the City Manager should have 

stated that it would be placed on the agenda for the next meeting. Otherwise, both the long 

report and the likely discussion afterward will improperly embroil the Council in a matter that 

is not listed on the agenda. 

n the right tO attend Meetings

A number of other Brown Act provisions protect the public’s right to attend and participate in meetings.

Members of the public cannot be required to register their names, provide other information, complete a 

questionnaire, or otherwise “fulfill any condition precedent” to attending a meeting. Any attendance list, 

questionnaire or other document circulated at a meeting must clearly state that its completion is 

voluntary and that all persons may attend whether or not they fill it out.18

No meeting or any other function can be held in a facility that prohibits attendance based on race, 

religious creed, color, national origin, ancestry, or sex, or that is inaccessible to the disabled. Nor 

can a meeting be held where the public must make a payment or purchase in order to be present.19 

This does not mean, however, that the public is entitled to free entry to a conference attended by a 

majority of the legislative body.20

While a legislative body may use teleconferencing in connection with a meeting, the public must be 

given notice of and access to the teleconference location. Members of the public must be able to 

address the legislative body from the teleconference location.21 

Action by secret ballot, whether preliminary or final, is flatly prohibited.22

There can be no “semi-closed” meetings, which some members of the public are permitted to attend as 

spectators while others are not; meetings are either open or closed.23

The legislative body may remove persons from a meeting who willfully interrupt proceedings. If order 

still cannot be restored, the meeting room may be cleared. Members of the news media who have not 

participated in the disturbance must be allowed to continue to attend the meeting. The legislative body may 

establish a procedure to re-admit an individual or individuals not responsible for the disturbance.24

n recOrds and recOrdings

The public has the right to review agendas and other writings distributed to a majority of the legislative 

body. Except for privileged documents, those materials are public records and must be made available.25 

A fee or deposit may be charged for a copy of a public record.26

To ensure action is not taken on documents not available for public review, writings must be made public:

• At the meeting if prepared by the local agency or a member of its legislative body, or

• After the meeting if prepared by some other person.

Any tape or film record of an open and public meeting made for whatever purpose by or at the direction of 

the local agency is also subject to the Public Records Act; however, it may be erased or destroyed 30 days 

after the taping or recording. Any inspection of a video or tape recording is to be provided without charge 

on a video or tape player made available by the local agency.27 The agency may impose its ordinary charge 

for copies.28

Page 94



Open & public iV  n  Chapter 4: Agendas, Notices, and Public Participation 27

In addition, the public is specifically allowed to use audio or video tape recorders or still or motion picture 

cameras at a meeting in order to record the proceedings, absent a reasonable finding by the legislative 

body that recorders or cameras would persistently disrupt proceedings.29

A local agency cannot prohibit or restrict the public broadcast of its open and public meetings without a 

reasonable finding that the noise, illumination, or obstruction of view will be a “persistent” disruption.30

Finally, governing bodies can go beyond these minimal standards to require greater access to their 

meetings and to those of their appointed bodies.31

n the public’s place On the agenda

Every agenda for a regular meeting must allow members of the public to speak on any item of interest, so 

long as the item is within the subject matter jurisdiction of the legislative body. Further, the public must be 

allowed to speak on a specific item of business before or during the legislative body’s consideration of it.32

Moreover, the legislative body cannot prohibit public criticism of policies, procedures, programs, or 

services of the agency or the acts or omissions of the legislative body itself. But, the Brown Act provides no 

immunity for defamatory statements.33

The legislative body may adopt reasonable regulations, including time limits, on public comments. Such 

regulations should be enforced fairly and without regard to speakers’ viewpoints. The legislative body has 

the discretion to modify its regulations regarding time limits on public comment if necessary. For example, 

the time limit could be shortened to accommodate a lengthy agenda or it could be lengthened to allow 

additional time for discussion on a complicated matter.34 The legislative body may request that persons 

who wish to speak fill out speaker cards; however, because anonymous speech is protected by the 

constitution, this must be optional. 

Q.	 Must the legislative body allow members of the public to show videos or make a power 
point presentation during the “public comment” part of the agenda, as long as the subject 
matter is relevant to the agency and is within the established time limit?

A.	 Probably, although the agency is under no obligation to provide equipment.

Q.	 May the presiding officer prohibit a member of the audience from publicly criticizing an 
agency employee by name during public comments?

A.	 No, as long as the criticism pertains to job performance.

Q.	 During the public comment period of a regular meeting of the legislative body, a resident 
urges the public to support and vote for a candidate vying for election to the body. May the 
presiding officer gavel the speaker out of order for engaging in political campaign speech?

A.	 There is no case law on this subject. Some would argue that campaign issues are outside 
the subject matter jurisdiction of the body within the meaning of Section 54954.3(a). Others 
take the view that the speech must be allowed under paragraph (c) of that section because 
it is relevant to the governing of the agency and an implicit criticism of the incumbents.

Practice Tip:
Public speakers cannot 
be compelled to give 
their name or address as 
a condition of speaking. 

Page 95



2�  Open & public iV  n  Chapter 4: Agendas, Notices, and Public Participation

The public need not be given an opportunity to speak on an item that has already been considered by a 

committee made up exclusively of members of the legislative body at a public meeting, if all interested 

members of the public had the opportunity to speak on the item before or during its consideration, and if 

the item has not been substantially changed.35

Notices and agendas for special meetings must also give members of the public the opportunity to speak 

before or during consideration of an item but need not allow members of the public an opportunity to 

speak on nonagendized items.36

Endnotes

1	 California	Government	Code	section	54954.2(a)(1)

2	 78	Ops.Cal.Atty.Gen.	327,	331-332	(1998)

3		 88	Ops.Cal.Atty.Gen.	218	(2006)

4		 California	Government	Code	section	54954.2(a)(1)

5		 California	Government	Code	section	54954.1

6		 California	Government	Code	section	54956

7		 California	Government	Code	section	54955

8		 California	Government	Code	section	54955.1

9		 California	Government	Code	section	54956.5

10		 Education	Code	sections	35144,	35145	and	72129

11		 Carlson v. Paradise Unified School District	(1971)	18	Cal.App.3d	196

12		 California	Education	Code	section	35145.5

13		 California	Government	Code	section	54954.6

14		 California	Government	Code	section	54954.6(g)

15		 See:	Cal.Const.Art.XIIIC,	XIIID	and	California	Government	Code	section	54954.6(h)

16		 California	Government	Code	section	54954.2(b)

17		 California	Government	Code	section	54954.2(a)(2)

18	 California	Government	Code	section	54953.3

19	 California	Government	Code	section	54961(a)

20	 California	Government	Code	section	54952.2(c)(2)	

21	 California	Government	Code	section	54953(b)	

22	 California	Government	Code	section	54953(c)	

23	 46	Ops.Cal.Atty.Gen.	34	(1965)	

24	 California	Government	Code	section	54957.9

25	 California	Government	Code	section	54957.5

26	 California	Government	Code	section54957.5

27	 California	Government	Code	section	54953.5(b)	

28	 California	Government	Code	section	54957.5(c)	

29	 California	Government	Code	section	54953.5(a)	

30	 California	Government	Code	section	54953.6

31	 California	Government	Code	section	54953.7

32	 California	Government	Code	section	54954.3(a)	

33	 California	Government	Code	section	54954.3(c)	

34	 California	Government	Code	section	54954.3(b);	Chaffee v. San Francisco Public Library Com.	(2005)		
134	Cal.App.4th	109;	75	Ops.Cal.Atty.Gen.	89	(1992)	

35	 California	Government	Code	section	54954.3(a)

36		 California	Government	Code	section	54954.3(a)

updates to this publication responding to changes in the Brown act or new court interpretations are available 
at www.cacities.org/opengov.  a current version of the Brown act may be found at www.leginfo.ca.gov.

Page 96



chApTer 5:
closed sessions

aGEnDaS anD REPoRTS

LITIGaTIon

REaL ESTaTE nEGoTIaTIonS

PuBLIC EMPLoyMEnT

LaBoR nEGoTIaTIonS

LaBoR nEGoTIaTIonS—SCHooL anD 
CoMMunITy CoLLEGE DISTRICTS

oTHER EDuCaTIon CoDE ExCEPTIonS

GRanD JuRy TESTIMony 

LICEnSE aPPLICanTS WITH CRIMInaL RECoRDS

PuBLIC SECuRITy

MuLTIJuRISDICTIonaL DRuG LaW 
EnFoRCEMEnT aGEnCy

HoSPITaL PEER REvIEW anD TRaDE SECRETS

THE ConFIDEnTIaLITy oF CLoSED SESSIon 
DISCuSSIonS

Page 97



30  Open & public iV  n  Chapter 5: Closed Sessions

The Brown Act begins with a strong statement in favor of open meetings; private discussions among 

a majority of a legislative body are prohibited, unless expressly authorized under the Brown Act. It is 

not enough that a subject is sensitive, embarrassing, or controversial. Without specific authority in the 

Brown Act for a closed session, a matter must be discussed in public. As an example, a board of police 

commissioners cannot generally meet in closed session, even though some matters are sensitive and the 

commission considers their disclosure contrary to the public interest.1

Meetings of a legislative body are either fully open or fully closed; there is nothing in between. Closed 

sessions may involve only the members of the legislative body and only agency counsel, management 

and support staff, and consultants necessary for consideration of the matter that is the subject of closed 

session. Individuals who do not have an official role in advising the legislative body on closed session 

subject matters must be excluded from closed session discussions.2

In general, the most common purpose of a closed session is to avoid revealing confidential information that 

may, in specified circumstances, prejudice the legal or negotiating position of the agency or compromise 

the privacy interests of employees. Closed sessions should be conducted keeping those narrow purposes 

in mind. 

chApTer 5:
closed sessions

Practice Tip:
Meetings are either 
open or closed – there 
is no “in between.”

Q.	 May the lawyer for someone suing the agency attend a closed session in order to explain to 
the legislative body why it should accept a settlement offer? 

A.	 No, attendance in closed sessions is reserved exclusively to the agency’s advisors.

Page 98



Open & public iV  n  Chapter 5: Closed Sessions  31

In this chapter, the grounds for convening a closed session are called “exceptions,” because they are 

exceptions to the general rule that meetings must be conducted openly. In some circumstances, none 

of the closed session exceptions apply to an issue or information the legislative body wishes to discuss 

privately. In these cases, it is not proper to convene a closed session, even to protect confidential 

information. For example, the Brown Act does not authorize closed sessions for general contract 

negotiations.

n agendas and repOrts

Closed session items must be briefly described on the posted agenda and the description must state the 

specific statutory exemption. An item that appears on the open meeting portion of the agenda may not be 

taken into closed session until it has been properly agendized as a closed session or unless it is properly 

added as a closed session item by a two-thirds vote of the body after making the appropriate urgency 

findings.

The Brown Act supplies a series of fill-in-the-blank sample, agenda descriptions for various types of 

authorized closed sessions, which provide a “safe harbor” from legal attacks. These sample agenda 

descriptions cover license and permit determinations, real property negotiations, existing or anticipated 

litigation, liability claims, threats to security, public employee appointments, evaluations and discipline, labor 

negotiations, multi-jurisdictional drug cases, hospital boards of directors, and medical quality assurance 

committees.3 

If the legislative body intends to convene in closed session, it must include the section of the Brown Act 

authorizing the closed session in advance on the agenda and it must make a public announcement prior to 

the closed session discussion. In most cases, the announcement may simply be a reference to the agenda 

item.4

Following a closed session the legislative body must provide an oral or written report on certain actions 

taken and the vote of every elected member present. The timing and content of the report varies according 

to the reason for the closed session.5 The announcements may be made at the site of the closed session, 

so long as the public is allowed to be present to hear them.

If there is a standing or written request for documentation, any copies of contracts, settlement agreements, 

or other documents finally approved or adopted in closed session must be provided to the requestor(s) 

after the closed session, if final approval of such documents does not rest with any other party to the 

contract or settlement. If substantive amendments to a contract or settlement agreement approved by all 

parties requires retyping, such documents may be held until retyping is completed during normal business 

hours, but the substance of the changes must be summarized for any person inquiring about them.6

The Brown Act does not require minutes, including minutes of closed session. A confidential “minute 

book” may be kept to record actions taken at closed sessions.7 If one is kept, it must be made available 

to members of the legislative body, provided that the member asking to review minutes of a particular 

meeting was not disqualified from attending the meeting due to a conflict of interest.8 A court may order 

the disclosure of minutes books for the court’s review if a lawsuit makes sufficient claims of an open 

meeting violation.

Practice Tip:
Some problems over 
closed sessions arise 
because secrecy itself 
breeds distrust. The 
Brown Act does not 
require closed sessions 
and legislative bodies 
may do well to resist the 
tendency to call a closed 
session simply because 
it may be permitted. A 
better practice is to go 
into closed session only 
when necessary.

Practice Tip:
Give close attention to 
closed session agenda 
descriptions. Using the 
wrong label can lead to 
invalidation of an action 
taken in closed session.

Page 99



32  Open & public iV  n  Chapter 5: Closed Sessions

n litigatiOn

There is an attorney/client relationship, and legal counsel may use it for privileged written and verbal 

communications—outside of meetings—to members of the legislative body. But protection of the  

attorney/client privilege cannot by itself be the reason for a closed session.9

The Brown Act expressly authorizes closed sessions to discuss what is considered litigation. The rules 

that apply to holding a litigation closed session involve complex, technical definitions and procedures. The 

essential thing to know is that a closed session can be held by the body to confer with, or receive advice 

from, its legal counsel when open discussion would prejudice the position of the local agency in litigation in 

which the agency is a party.10 The Attorney General believes that if the agency’s attorney is not a participant, 

a litigation closed session cannot be held.11 In any event, local agency officials should always consult the 

agency’s attorney before placing this type of closed session on the agenda, in order to be certain that it is 

being done properly.

Litigation that may be discussed in closed session includes the following three types of matters:

Existing litigation
Existing litigation includes any adjudicatory proceedings before a court, administrative body exercising 

its adjudicatory authority, hearing officer, or arbitrator. The clearest situation in which a closed session is 

authorized is when the local agency meets with its legal counsel to discuss a pending matter that has 

been filed in a court or with an administrative agency and names the local agency as a party. The legislative 

body may meet under these circumstances to receive updates on the case from attorneys, participate in 

developing strategy as the case develops, or to consider alternatives for resolution of the case. Generally an 

agreement to settle litigation may be approved in closed session. However, an agreement to settle litigation 

that requires actions that are subject to public hearings cannot be approved in closed session.12 

Threatened litigation against the local agency
Closed sessions are authorized for legal counsel to inform the legislative body of specific facts and 

circumstances that suggest that the local agency has significant exposure to litigation. The Brown Act lists 

six separate categories of such facts and circumstances.13 The legislative body may also meet under this 

exception to determine whether a closed session is authorized based on information provided by legal 

counsel or staff.

Initiation of litigation by the local agency
A closed session may be held under the pending litigation exception when the legislative body seeks legal 

advice on whether to protect the agency’s rights and interests by initiating litigation.

In certain cases, the circumstances and facts justifying the closed session must be publicly noticed on the 

agenda or announced at an open meeting. Before holding a closed session under the pending litigation 

exception, the legislative body must publicly state which of the three basic situations apply. It may do so 

simply by making a reference to the posted agenda. 

Practice Tip:
Protection of the 
attorney/client 
privilege cannot by 
itself be the reason for 
a closed session.

Q.	 May the legislative body agree to settle a lawsuit in a properly-noticed closed session, 
without placing the settlement agreement on an open session agenda for public approval?

A.	 Yes, but the settlement agreement is a public document and must be disclosed on request. 
Furthermore, a settlement agreement cannot commit the agency to matters that are 
required to have public hearings.

Page 100



Open & public iV  n  Chapter 5: Closed Sessions  33

Certain actions must be reported in open session at the same meeting following the closed session. Other 

actions, as where final approval rests with another party or the court, may be announced when they 

become final and upon inquiry of any person. Each agency attorney should be aware of and should make 

other disclosures that may be required in specific instances.

n real estate negOtiatiOns

A legislative body may meet in closed session with its negotiator to discuss the purchase, sale, exchange, 

or lease of real property by or for the local agency. A “lease” includes a lease renewal or renegotiation. 

The purpose is to grant authority to the legislative body’s negotiator on price and terms of payment.14 

Caution should be exercised to limit discussion to price and terms of payment without straying to other 

related issues such as site design, architecture, or other aspects of the project for which the transaction is 

contemplated.15 

The agency’s negotiator may be a member of the legislative body itself. Prior to the closed session, or on 

the agenda, the legislative body must identify its negotiator, the real property that the negotiations may 

concern and the names of the persons with whom its negotiator may negotiate.16

After real estate negotiations are concluded, the approval of the agreement and 

the substance of the agreement must be reported. If its own approval makes the 

agreement final, the body must report in open session at the public meeting during 

which the closed session is held. If final approval rests with another party, the local 

agency must report the approval as soon as informed of it. Once final, the substance of 

the agreement must be disclosed to anyone who inquires.

“Our population is exploding, and we have to think about new school sites,” 

said Board Member Baker.

“Not only that,” interjected Board Member Charles, “we need to get rid of a 

couple of our older facilities.”

“Well, obviously the place to do that is in a closed session,” said Board 

Member Doe. “Otherwise we’re going to set off land speculation. And if we even mention 

closing a school, parents are going to be in an uproar.”

A closed session to discuss potential sites is not authorized by the Brown Act. The exception is 

limited to meeting with its negotiator over specific sites—which must be identified at an open and 

public meeting. 

Q.	 May other terms of a real estate transaction, aside from price and terms of payment, be 
addressed in closed session? 

A.	 No. However, there are differing opinions over the scope of the phrase “price and terms 
of payment” in connection with real estate closed sessions. Many agency attorneys 
believe that any term that directly affects the economic value of the transaction falls 
within the ambit of “price and terms of payment.” Others take a narrower, more literal 
view of the phrase. 

Page 101



34  Open & public iV  n  Chapter 5: Closed Sessions

n public eMplOyMent

The Brown Act authorizes a closed session “to consider the appointment, 

employment, evaluation of performance, discipline, or dismissal of a public 

employee or to hear complaints or charges brought against the employee.”17 The 

purpose of this exception – commonly referred to as the “personnel exception” 

– is to avoid undue publicity or embarrassment for an employee or applicant for 

employment and to allow full and candid discussion by the legislative body; thus, 

it is restricted to discussing individuals, not general personnel policies.18 The body 

must possess the power to appoint, evaluate, or dismiss the employee to hold 

a closed session under this exception.19 That authority may be delegated to a 

subsidiary appointed body.20

An employee must be given at least 24 hours notice of any closed session 

convened to hear specific complaints or charges against him or her. This occurs when the legislative body 

is reviewing evidence, which could include live testimony, and adjudicating conflicting testimony offered 

as evidence. The employee has the right to have the specific complaints and charges discussed in a public 

session rather than closed session. If the employee is not given notice, any disciplinary action is null and 

void.21 

However, an employee is not entitled to notice and a hearing where the purpose of the closed session is to 

consider a performance evaluation. The Attorney General and the courts have determined that personnel 

performance evaluations do not constitute complaints and charges, which are more akin to accusations 

made against a person.22 

Correct labeling of the closed session on the agenda is critical. A closed session agenda that identified 

discussion of an employment contract was not sufficient to allow dismissal of an employee.23 An incorrect 

agenda description can result in invalidation of an action and much embarrassment.

For purposes of the personnel exception, “employee” specifically includes an officer or an independent 

contractor who functions as an officer or an employee. Examples of the former include a city manager, 

district general manager or superintendent. An example of the latter is a legal counsel or engineer hired on 

contract to act as local agency attorney or chief engineer.

Elected officials, appointees to the governing body or subsidiary bodies, and independent contractors 

other than those discussed above are not employees for purposes of the personnel exception.24 Action on 

individuals who are not “employees” must also be public—including discussing and voting on appointees 

to committees, or debating the merits of independent contractors, or considering a complaint against a 

member of the legislative body itself.

Practice Tip:
Discussions of who to 
appoint to an advisory 
body and whether 
or not to censure a 
fellow member of the 
legislative body must be 
held in the open.

Q.	 Must 24 hours’ notice be given to an employee whose negative performance evaluation is to 
be considered by the legislative body in closed session? 

A.	 No, the notice is reserved for situations where the body is to hear complaints and charges 
from witnesses.

Page 102



Open & public iV  n  Chapter 5: Closed Sessions  35

The personnel exception specifically prohibits discussion or action on proposed compensation in 

closed session, except for a disciplinary reduction in pay. Among other things, that means there can 

be no personnel closed sessions on a salary change (other than a disciplinary reduction) between 

any unrepresented individual and the legislative body. However, a legislative body may address the 

compensation of an unrepresented individual, such as a city manager, in a closed session as part of a labor 

negotiation (discussed later in this chapter), yet another example of the importance of using correct agenda 

descriptions.

Reclassification of a job must be public, but an employee’s ability to fill that job may be considered in closed 

session. Any closed session action to appoint, employ, dismiss, accept the resignation of, or otherwise 

affect the employment status of a public employee must be reported at the public meeting during which 

the closed session is held. That report must identify the title of the position, but not the names of all 

persons considered for an employment position.25 However, a report on a dismissal or non-renewal of an 

employment contract must be deferred until administrative remedies, if any, are exhausted.26

“I have some important news to announce,” said Mayor Jones. “We’ve decided to terminate 

the contract of the city manager, effective immediately. The council has met in closed session 

and we’ve negotiated six months’ severance pay.”

“Unfortunately, that has some serious budget consequences, so we’ve had to delay phase two 

of the East Area Project.”

This may be an improper use of the personnel closed session if the Council agenda described 

the item as the city manager’s evaluation. In addition, other than labor negotiations, any action 

on individual compensation must be taken in open session. Caution should be exercised to not 

discuss in closed session issues, such as budget impacts in this hypothetical, beyond the scope of 

the posted closed session notice.

n labOr negOtiatiOns

The Brown Act allows closed sessions for some aspects of labor negotiations. Different provisions 

(discussed below) apply to school and community college districts.

A legislative body may meet in closed session to instruct its bargaining representatives, which may be 

one or more of its members,27 on employee salaries and fringe benefits for both union and non-union 

employees. For represented employees, it may also consider working conditions that by law require 

negotiation. These sessions may take place before or during negotiations with employee representatives. 

Prior to the closed session, the legislative body must hold an open and public session in which it identifies 

its designated representatives. 

Practice Tip:
The personnel exception 
specifically prohibits 
discussion or action on 
proposed compensation 
in closed session, 
except for a disciplinary 
reduction in pay.

Q.	 The school board is meeting in closed session to evaluate the superintendent and to 
consider giving her a pay raise. May the superintendent attend the closed session? 

A.	 The superintendent may attend the portion of the closed session devoted to her 
evaluation, but may not be present during discussion of her pay raise. Discussion of the 
superintendent’s compensation in closed session is limited to giving direction to the school 
board’s negotiator. Also, the clerk should be careful to notice the closed session on the 
agenda as both an evaluation and a labor negotiation. 

Page 103



36  Open & public iV  n  Chapter 5: Closed Sessions

During its discussions with representatives on salaries and fringe benefits, the legislative body may also 

discuss available funds and funding priorities, but only to instruct its representative. The body may also 

meet in closed session with a conciliator who has intervened in negotiations.28

The approval of an agreement concluding labor negotiations with represented employees must be reported 

after the agreement is final and has been accepted or ratified by the other party. The report must identify 

the item approved and the other party or parties to the negotiation.29 The labor sessions specifically cannot 

include final action on proposed compensation of one or more unrepresented employees. For purposes of 

this prohibition, an “employee” includes an officer or an independent contractor who functions as an officer 

or an employee. Independent contractors who do not serve in the capacity of an officer or employee are 

not covered by this closed session exception.

n labOr negOtiatiOns—schOOl and cOMMunity cOllege districts

Employee relations for school districts and community college districts are governed by the Rodda Act, 

where different meeting and special notice provisions apply. The entire board, for example, may negotiate in 

closed sessions.

Four types of meetings are exempted from compliance with the Act:  

(1) a negotiating session with a recognized or certified employee organization;

(2) a meeting of a mediator with either side;

(3) a hearing or meeting held by a fact finder or arbitrator; and

(4) a session between the board and its bargaining agent, or the board alone, to discuss its position 

regarding employee working conditions and instruct its agent.30

Public participation under the Rodda Act also takes another form.31 All initial proposals of both sides must 

be presented at public meetings and are public records. The public must be given reasonable time to inform 

itself and to express its views before the district may adopt its initial proposal. In addition, new topics of 

negotiations must be made public within 24 hours. Any votes on such a topic must be followed within 24 

hours by public disclosure of the vote of each member.32 The final vote must be in public.

n Other educatiOn cOde exceptiOns

Student disciplinary meetings by boards of school districts and community college districts are governed 

by the Education Code. District boards may hold a closed session to consider the suspension or discipline 

of a student, if a public hearing would reveal personal, disciplinary, or 

academic information about students contrary to state and federal pupil 

privacy law. The pupil’s parent or guardian may request an open meeting.

Final action concerning kindergarten through 12th grade students must 

be taken at a public meeting, and is a public record.33 In the case of 

community colleges, only expulsions need be made public.

Community college districts may also hold closed sessions to discuss 

some student disciplinary matters, awarding of honorary degrees, or gifts 

from donors who prefer to remain anonymous.34 Kindergarten through 

12th grade districts may also meet in closed session to review the 

contents of the statewide assessment instrument.35

Practice Tip:
Prior to the closed 
session, the legislative 
body must hold an 
open and public 
session in which it 
identifies its designated 
representatives.

Page 104



Open & public iV  n  Chapter 5: Closed Sessions  37

n grand jury testiMOny 

A legislative body, including its members as individuals, may testify in private before a grand jury, either 

individually or as a group.36 Attendance by the entire legislative body before a grand jury would not 

constitute a closed session meeting under the Brown Act, since the body would not be meeting to make 

decisions or reach a consensus on issues within the body’s subject matter jurisdiction.

n license applicants with criMinal recOrds

A closed session is permitted when an applicant, who has a criminal record, applies for a license or license 

renewal and the legislative body wishes to discuss whether the applicant is sufficiently rehabilitated to 

receive the license. If the body decides to deny the license, the applicant may withdraw the application. 

If the applicant does not withdraw, the body must deny the license in public, immediately or at its next 

meeting. No information from the closed session can be revealed without consent of the applicant, unless 

the applicant takes action to challenge the denial.37

n public security

Legislative bodies may meet in closed session to discuss matters posing a threat to the security of public 

buildings, essential public services, including water, sewer, gas, or electric service, or to the public’s right 

of access to public services or facilities over which the legislative body has jurisdiction. Closed session 

meetings for these purposes must be held with designated security or law enforcement officials including 

the Attorney General, district attorney, agency attorney, sheriff or chief of police, or their deputies or agency 

security consultant or security operations manager.38 Action taken in closed session with respect to such 

public security issues is not reportable action.

n MultijurisdictiOnal drug law enfOrceMent agency

A joint powers agency formed to provide drug law enforcement services to multiple jurisdictions may 

hold closed sessions to discuss case records of an on-going criminal investigation, to hear testimony from 

persons involved in the investigation, and to discuss courses of action in particular cases.39

The exception applies to the legislative body of the joint powers agency and to any body advisory to it. The 

purpose is to prevent impairment of investigations, to protect witnesses and informants, and to permit 

discussion of effective courses of action.40

n hOspital peer reView and trade secrets

Two specific kinds of closed sessions are allowed for district hospitals and municipal hospitals, under other 

provisions of law.41

• One is to hear reports of hospital medical audit or quality assurance committees, or for related 

deliberations. However, an applicant or medical staff member whose staff privileges are the direct 

subject of a hearing may request a public hearing.

• The other allows district or municipal hospitals to hold closed sessions to discuss “reports involving 

trade secrets”—provided no action is taken.

A “trade secret” is defined as information which is not generally known to the public or competitors and 

which:  (1) “derives independent economic value, actual or potential” by virtue of its restricted knowledge; 

(2) is necessary to initiate a new hospital service or program or facility; and (3) would, if prematurely 

disclosed, create a substantial probability of depriving the hospital of a substantial economic benefit.

Practice Tip:
Attendance by the entire 
legislative body before 
a grand jury would not 
constitute a closed 
session meeting under 
the Brown Act.

Page 105



3�  Open & public iV  n  Chapter 5: Closed Sessions

The provision prohibits use of closed sessions to discuss transitions in ownership or management, or the 

district’s dissolution.42

n the cOnfidentiality Of clOsed sessiOn discussiOns

It is not uncommon for agency officials to complain that confidential information is being “leaked” from 

closed sessions. The Brown Act prohibits the disclosure of confidential information acquired in a closed 

session by any person present and offers various remedies to address willful breaches of confidentiality.43 

It is incumbent upon all those attending lawful closed sessions to protect the confidentiality of those 

discussions. One court has held that members of a legislative body cannot be compelled to divulge the 

content of closed session discussions through the discovery process.44 Only the legislative body acting as 

a body may agree to divulge confidential closed session information; as regards attorney/client privileged 

communications, the entire body is the holder of the privilege and only the entire body can decide to waive 

the privilege.45

Before adoption of the Brown Act provision specifically prohibiting disclosure of closed session 

communications, agency attorneys and the Attorney General long believed that officials have a fiduciary 

duty to protect the confidentiality of closed session discussions. The Attorney General issued an opinion 

that it is “improper” for officials to disclose information received during a closed session regarding pending 

litigation,46 though the opinion also concluded that a local agency may not go so far as to adopt an 

ordinance criminalizing public disclosure of closed session discussions,47 making it difficult to plug closed 

session leaks. 

The Brown Act now prescribes remedies for breaches of confidentiality. These include injunctive relief, 

disciplinary action against an employee, and referral of a member of the legislative body to the grand jury.48 

The duty of maintaining confidentiality, of course, must give way to the obligation to disclose improper 

matters or discussions that may come up in closed sessions. In recognition of this public policy, the Brown 

Act exempts from its prohibition against disclosure of closed session communications disclosure of closed 

session information to the district attorney or the grand jury due to a perceived violation of law, expressions 

of opinion concerning the propriety or legality of actions taken in closed session, including disclosure of the 

nature and extent of the illegal action, and disclosing information that is not confidential.49

The interplay between these possible sanctions and an official’s first amendment rights is complex and 

beyond the scope of this guide. Suffice it to say that this is a matter of great sensitivity and controversy.

“I want the press to know that I voted in closed session against filing the eminent domain 

action,” said Council Member Arnold.

“Don’t settle too soon,” reveals Council Member Baker to the property owner, over coffee. 

“The city’s offer coming your way is not our bottom line.”

 The first comment to the press is appropriate - the Brown Act requires that certain final votes 

taken in closed session be reported publicly.50 The second comment to the property owner is not 

- disclosure of confidential information acquired in closed session is expressly prohibited and 

harmful to the agency. 

Practice Tip:
There is a strong 
interest in protecting 
the confidentiality of 
proper and lawful closed 
sessions.

Page 106



Open & public iV  n  Chapter 5: Closed Sessions  3�

Endnotes

1	 61	Ops.Cal.Atty.Gen.	220	(1978)

2	 98	Ops.Cal.Atty.Gen.	1011	(1999)

3	 California	Government	Code	section	54954.5	

4	 California	Government	Code	sections	54956.9	and	54957.7

5	 California	Government	Code	section	54957.1(a)

6	 California	Government	Code	section	54957.1(b)

7	 California	Government	Code	section	54957.2

8	 Hamilton v. Town of Los Gatos	(1989)	213	Cal.App.3d	1050;	2	Cal.Code	Regs.	section	18702.1(c)

9	 Roberts v. City of Palmdale	(1993)	5	Cal.4th	363

10	 California	Government	Code	section	54956.9;	Shapiro v. Board of Directors of Center City Development Corp. (2005)	
134	Cal.App.4th	170	(agency	must	be	a	party	to	the	litigation).

11	 “The Brown Act,” California	Attorney	General	(2003),	p.	40

12	 Trancas Property Owners Association v. City of Malibu	(2006)	138	Cal.App.4th	172

13	 Government	Code	section	54956.9(b)

14	 California	Government	Code	section	54956.8

15	 Shapiro v. San Diego City Council	(2002)	96	Cal.App.4th	904

16	 California	Government	Code	section	54956.8

17	 California	Government	Code	section	54957

18	 63	Ops.Cal.Atty.Gen.	215	(1980);	but see:	Duvall v. Board of Trustees	(2000)	93	Cal.App.4th	902	(board	may	discuss	
personnel	evaluation	criteria,	process	and	other	preliminary	matters	in	closed	session).	

19	 Gillespie v. San Francisco Public Library Commission	(1998)	67	Cal.App.4th	1165;	85	Ops.Cal.Atty.Gen.	77	(2002)

20	 Gillespie v. San Francisco Public Library Commission	(1998)	67	Cal.App.4th	1165;	80	Ops.Cal.Atty.Gen.	308	(1997).	
Interviews	of	candidates	to	fill	a	vacant	staff	position	conducted	by	a	temporary	committee	appointed	by	the	
governing	body	may	be	done	in	closed	session.

21	 California	Government	Code	section	54957

22	 78	Ops.Cal.Atty.Gen.	218	(1995);	Bell v. Vista Unified School District	(2000)	82	Cal.App.4th	672;		
Furtado v. Sierra Community College	(1998)	68	Cal.App.4th	876;	Fischer v. Los Angeles Unified School District	(1999)	
70	Cal.App.4th	87

23	 Moreno v. City of King	(2005)	127	Cal.App.4th	17

24	 California	Government	Code	section	54957

25	 Gillespie v. San Francisco Public Library Commission	(1998)	67	Cal.App.4th	1165

26	 California	Government	Code	section	54957.1(a)(5)

27	 California	Government	Code	section	54957.6

28	 57	Ops.Cal.Atty.Gen.	209	(1974)

29	 California	Government	Code	section	54957.1(a)(6)

30	 California	Government	Code	section	3549.1

31	 California	Government	Code	section	3540

32	 California	Government	Code	section	3547

33	 California	Education	Code	section	48918

34	 California	Education	Code	section	72122

35	 California	Education	Code	section	60617

36	 California	Government	Code	section	54953.1

37	 California	Government	Code	section	54956.7

Page 107



40  Open & public iV  n  Chapter 5: Closed Sessions

38	 California	Government	Code	section	54957

39	 McKee v. Los Angeles Interagency Metropolitan Police Apprehension Crime Task Force	(2005)	134	Cal.App.4th	354

40	 California	Government	Code	section	54957.8

41	 California	Government	Code	section	54962

42	 California	Health	and	Safety	Code	section	32106

43	 Government	Code	section	54963;	Harron v. Bonilla	(2005)	125	Cal.App.4th	738

44	 Kleitman v. Superior Court	(1999)	74	Cal.App.4th	324,	327;	see also:	California	Government	Code	section	54963

45	 Roberts v. City of Palmdale	(1993)	5	Cal.4th	363

46	 80	Ops.Cal.Atty.Gen.	231	(1997)

47	 76	Ops.Cal.Atty.Gen.	289	(1993)

48	 California	Government	Code	section	54963

49	 California	Government	Code	section	54957

50	 California	Government	Code	section	54957.1

updates to this publication responding to changes in the Brown act or new court interpretations are available 
at www.cacities.org/opengov.  a current version of the Brown act may be found at www.leginfo.ca.gov.

Page 108



chApTer 6:
ReMedies

InvaLIDaTIon

CIvIL aCTIon To PREvEnT  
FuTuRE vIoLaTIonS

CoSTS anD aTToRnEy’S FEES

CRIMInaL CoMPLaInTS

voLunTaRy RESoLuTIon

Page 109



42  Open & public iV  n  Chapter 6: Remedies

Certain violations of the Brown Act are designated as misdemeanors, although by far the most commonly 

used enforcement provisions are those that authorize civil actions to invalidate specified actions taken 

in violation of the Brown Act and to stop or prevent future violations. Still, despite all the safeguards and 

remedies to enforce them, it is ultimately impossible for the public to monitor every aspect of public 

officials’ interactions. Compliance ultimately results from regular training and a good measure of self-

regulation on the part of public officials. This chapter discusses the remedies available to the public when 

that self-regulation is ineffective.

n inValidatiOn

Any interested person, including the district attorney, may seek to invalidate certain actions of a legislative 

body on the ground that they violate the Act.1 Violations of the Brown Act, however, cannot be invalidated if 

they involve the following types of actions:  

• Those taken in substantial compliance with the law; 

• Those involving sale or issuance of notes, bonds or other indebtedness, or any related contracts or 

agreements; 

• Those creating a contractual obligation, including a contract awarded by competitive bid for other than 

compensation for professional services, upon which a party has in good faith relied to its detriment; 

• Those connected with the collection of any tax; or 

• Those in which the complaining party had actual notice at least 72 hours prior to the meeting at which 

the action is taken.

Before filing a court action seeking invalidation, a person who believes a violation has occurred must send a 

written “cure or correct” demand to the legislative body. This demand must clearly describe the challenged 

action, the nature of the claimed violation, and the “cure” sought. This demand must be sent within 90 days 

of the alleged violation or 30 days if the action was taken in open session but in violation of Section 54952.2, 

which defines “meetings”.2 The legislative body then has up to 30 days to cure and correct its action. If it 

does not act, any lawsuit must be filed within the next 15 days. 

chApTer 6:
ReMedies

Page 110



Open & public iV  n  Chapter 6: Remedies  43

The purpose of this requirement is to offer the body an opportunity to consider whether a violation has 

occurred and to weigh its options before litigation is filed. The Act does not specify how to cure or correct a 

violation; the best method is to rescind the action being complained of and to start over.

Although just about anyone has standing to bring an action for invalidation3, the challenger must show 

prejudice as a result of the alleged violation.4 An action to invalidate fails to state a cause of action against 

the agency if the body deliberated but did not take an action.5 

n ciVil actiOn tO preVent future ViOlatiOns

The district attorney or any interested person can file a civil action asking the court to:

• Stop or prevent violations or threatened violations of the Brown Act by members of the legislative body 

of a local agency;

• Determine the applicability of the Brown Act to actions or threatened future action of the legislative 

body;

• Determine whether any rule or action by the legislative body to penalize or otherwise discourage the 

expression of one or more of its members is valid under state or federal law; or

• Compel the legislative body to tape record its closed sessions.

It is not necessary for a challenger to prove a past pattern or practice of violations by 

the local agency in order to obtain injunctive relief. A court may presume when issuing 

an injunction that a single violation will continue in the future where the public agency 

refuses to admit to the alleged violation or to renounce or curtail the practice.6 Note, 

however, that a court may not compel elected officials to disclose their recollections of 

what transpired in a closed session.7

Upon finding a violation of the Brown Act pertaining to closed sessions, a court may 

compel the legislative body to tape record its future closed sessions. In a subsequent 

lawsuit to enforce the Act alleging a violation occurring in closed session, a court may 

upon motion of the plaintiff review the tapes if there is good cause to think the Brown 

Act has been violated, and make public the relevant portion of the closed session recording.

n cOsts and attOrney’s fees

Someone who successfully invalidates an action taken in violation of the Brown Act or who successfully 

enforces one of the Brown Act’s civil remedies may seek court costs and reasonable attorney’s fees. One 

court has held that attorney’s fees must be awarded to a successful plaintiff unless special circumstances 

exist that would make a fee award against the public agency unjust.8 When evaluating how to respond to 

assertions that the Brown Act has been violated, elected officials and their lawyers should assume that 

attorneys fees will be awarded against the agency if a violation of the Act is proven.

An attorney fee award may only be directed against the local agency and not the individual members of the 

legislative body. If the local agency prevails, it may be awarded court costs and attorney’s fees if the court 

finds the lawsuit was clearly frivolous and lacking in merit.9

n criMinal cOMplaints

A violation of the Brown Act by a member of the legislative body who acts with the improper intent 

described below is punishable as a misdemeanor.10

A criminal violation has two components. The first is that there must be an overt act—a member of a 

legislative body must attend a meeting at which action is taken in violation of the Brown Act.11

Practice Tip:
A lawsuit to invalidate 
must be preceded by 
a demand to cure and 
correct the challenged 
action in order to give 
the legislative body an 
opportunity to consider 
its options.

Practice Tip:
If a violation of the 
Brown Act is proven, 
attorney’s fees will 
likely be awarded.

Page 111



44  Open & public iV  n  Chapter 6: Remedies

“Action taken” is not only an actual vote, but also a collective decision, commitment or promise by a 

majority of the legislative body to make a positive or negative decision.12 If the meeting involves mere 

deliberation without the taking of action, there can be no misdemeanor penalty.

A violation occurs for a tentative as well as final decision.13 In fact, criminal liability is triggered by a 

member’s participation in a meeting in violation of the Brown Act—not whether that member has voted 

with the majority or minority, or has voted at all.

The second component of a criminal violation is that action is taken with the intent of a member “to deprive 

the public of information to which the member knows or has reason to know the public is entitled” by the 

Brown Act.14 

As with other misdemeanors, the filing of a complaint is up to the district attorney. Although criminal 

prosecutions of the Brown Act are uncommon, district attorneys in some counties aggressively monitor 

public agencies’ adherence to the requirements of the law. 

n VOluntary resOlutiOn

Arguments over Brown Act issues often become emotional on all sides. Newspapers trumpet relatively 

minor violations, unhappy residents fume over an action, and legislative bodies clam up about information 

better discussed in public. Hard lines are drawn and rational discussion breaks down. Occasionally the 

district attorney or even the grand jury becomes involved. Publicity surrounding alleged violations of the 

Brown Act can result in a loss of confidence by constituents in the legislative body. There are times when it 

may be preferable to consider re-noticing and rehearing, rather than litigating, an item of significant public 

interest, particularly when there is any doubt about whether the open meeting requirements were satisfied. 

At bottom, agencies that regularly train their officials and pay close attention to the requirements of the 

Brown Act will have little reason to worry about enforcement.

Endnotes

1	 California	Government	Code	section	54960.1.	Invalidation	is	limited	to	actions	that	violate	the	following	sections	of	
the	Brown	Act:		section	54953	(the	basic	open	meeting	provision);	sections	54954.2	and	54954.5	(notice	and	agenda	
requirements	for	regular	meetings	and	closed	sessions);	54954.6	(tax	hearings);	and	54956	(special	meetings).	
Violations	of	sections	not	listed	above	cannot	give	rise	to	invalidation	actions,	but	are	subject	to	the	other	remedies.

2	 California	Government	Code	section	54960.1	(b)	and	(c)(1)	

3	 McKee v. Orange Unified School District	(2003)	110	Cal.App.4th	1310	

4	 Cohan v. City of Thousand Oaks (1994)	30	Cal.App.4th	547

5	 Boyle v. City of Redondo Beach	(1999)	70	Cal.App.4th	1109

6	 California Alliance for Utility Safety and Education (CAUSE) v. City of San Diego	(1997)	56	Cal.App.4th	1024;	
Common Cause v. Stirling	(1983)	147	Cal.App.3d	518

7	 Kleitman v. Superior Court	(1999)	74	Cal.App.4th	324

8	 Los Angeles Times Communications, LLC v. Los Angeles County Board of Supervisors	(2003)	112	Cal.App.4th	1313	

9	 California	Government	Code	section	54960.5

10	 California	Government	Code	section	54959.	A	misdemeanor	is	punishable	by	a	fine	of	up	to	$1,000	or	up	to	six	
months	in	county	jail,	or	both.	California	Penal	Code	section	19.	Employees	of	the	agency	who	participate	in	
violations	of	the	Brown	Act	cannot	be	punished	criminally	under	section	54959.	However,	at	least	one	district	
attorney	instituted	criminal	action	against	employees	based	on	the	theory	that	they	criminally	conspired	with	the	
members	of	the	legislative	body	to	commit	a	crime	under	section	54949.

11	 California	Government	Code	section	54959	

12	 California	Government	Code	section	54952.6

13	 61	Ops.Cal.Atty.Gen.283	(1978)

14	 California	Government	Code	section	54959

updates to this publication responding to changes in the Brown act or new court interpretations are available 
at www.cacities.org/opengov.  a current version of the Brown act may be found at www.leginfo.ca.gov.

Practice Tip:
Training and exercising 
good judgment can 
help avoid Brown Act 
conflicts. 

Page 112



Page 113



 

 
 

This page intentionally left blank. 
 
 

 Page 114



LOZANO SMITH 
Partnering for Excellence in Education and Government 

 
 

CLIENT NEWS BRIEF 
 
No. 30 August 2008 
 
 

LEGISLATURE AMENDS THE BROWN ACT AND PUBLIC RECORDS ACT 
 

The Governor recently signed Senate Bill 1732 (“SB 1732”), which makes certain changes to the 
Ralph M. Brown Act (“Brown Act”) and the California Public Records Act (“CPRA”).  These 
changes will go into effect on January 1, 2009.   
 
The Brown Act is California’s open meeting law, and generally requires all meetings of 
legislative bodies to be open to the public, except for certain authorized closed sessions.  
Currently, the Brown Act prohibits “any use of direct communication, personal intermediaries, 
or technological devices by a majority of the members of the legislative body to develop a 
collective concurrence as to action to be taken on an item by the members of the legislative 
body.”  (Gov. Code § 54952.2.)  This provision of the Brown Act was addressed in Wolfe v. City 
of Fremont (2006) 144 Cal.App.4th 533 (“Wolfe”).  The Wolfe court held that a series of 
individual meetings by members of the legislative body, or communication through an 
intermediary, does not violate the Brown Act so long as such communication does not result in a 
collective concurrence as to action to be taken on an item by the legislative body.   
 
SB 1732 is intended to supersede the holding in Wolfe.  In enacting SB 1732, the legislature 
expressed its disapproval of the Wolfe court’s decision that only serial meetings resulting in a 
collective concurrence are prohibited, and expressed its intent to also prohibit the process of 
developing a collective concurrence.  As a result, amended Government Code section 54952.2, 
subdivision (b)(1), prohibits a majority of the members of a legislative body, outside a public 
meeting, from using a series of communications of any kind, directly or through intermediaries, 
“to discuss, deliberate, or take action” on any item of business within its jurisdiction.  However, 
the Legislature also added subdivision (b)(2) to the amended Government Code section 54952.2, 
which provides that this change in the law shall not prohibit public agency employees or officials 
from engaging in separate conversations or communications with members of a legislative body 
outside of a meeting to answer questions or provide information regarding a matter, as long as 
that employee or official does not communicate a member’s comments or position on a matter to 
any other member. 
 
SB 1732 also adds Government Code section 6252.7 to the CPRA.  This new section provides 
that when members of a legislative body are authorized to access a writing of the body or the 
local agency, the local agency “shall not discriminate between or among any of those members 
as to which writing or portion thereof is made available or when it is made available.”  

 61

CWC Meeting 1/10/11 
           Attachment 07B

Page 115



Therefore, a local agency cannot discriminate between or among members of its legislative body 
with regard to providing access to a writing of the legislative body or the agency.  If one member 
of a legislative body is provided access to a document, all other members of the legislative body 
must be provided equal access.  
 
SB 1732 emphasizes the Legislature’s concern that all discussion between the majority of the 
members of a public agency’s legislative body regarding agency business takes place only in 
meetings open to the public, and that public records be equally available to members of the 
legislative body.  If you have any questions regarding these changes, or the Brown Act or CPRA 
in general, please contact any of our six statewide offices. 
 
 

As the information contained herein is necessarily general, its application to a particular set of facts and 
circumstances may vary.  For this reason, this News Brief does not constitute legal advice.  We recommend that you 

consult with your counsel prior to acting on the information contained herein. 
 

N 
 

Written by Maria DeLeon (mdeleon@lozanosmith.com), an associate in our San Ramon office, 
and Scott Cross (scross@lozanosmith.com), a shareholder, 

in our Fresno office. 

 62
Page 116



A
la

m
e

d
a

 C
o

u
n

ty
 T

ra
n

s
p

o
rt

a
ti

o
n

 C
o

m
m

is
s

io
n

A
c

ti
o

n
 I

te
m

s

C
o

m
m

is
s

io
n

 

M
e

e
ti

n
g

 D
a
te

It
e

m
 T

it
le

It
e

m
 

#
It

e
m

 D
e

s
c

ri
p

ti
o

n
 /

 S
ta

ff
 R

e
c

o
m

m
e

n
d

a
ti

o
n

M
o

ti
o

n
2

n
d

V
o

te

A
p

p
ro

v
a

l 
o

f 
D

e
s

ig
n

a
ti

o
n

 o
f 

th
e

 E
x

is
ti

n
g

 A
C

T
IA

 a
n

d
 

A
C

C
M

A
 E

x
e

c
u

ti
v
e

 D
ir

e
c

to
rs

 

a
s

 I
n

te
ri

m

C
o

-E
x

e
c

u
ti

v
e

 D
ir

e
c

to
rs

1
T

h
e

 C
o

m
m

is
s
io

n
 a

p
p

ro
v
e

d
 t

o
 d

e
s
ig

n
a

te
 t

h
e

 e
x
is

ti
n

g
 E

x
e

c
u

ti
v
e

 

D
ir

e
c
to

rs
 o

f 
A

C
T

IA
 a

n
d

 A
C

C
M

A
 a

s
 i
n

te
ri

m
 c

o
-e

x
e

c
u

ti
v
e

 d
ir

e
c
to

rs
 o

f 

th
e

 C
o

m
m

is
s
io

n
, 

to
 s

e
rv

e
 u

n
ti
l 
a

n
 e

x
e

c
u

ti
v
e

 d
ir

e
c
to

r 
is

 h
ir

e
d

 f
o

r 
th

e
 

A
la

m
e

d
a

 C
T

C
.

H
e

n
s
o

n
R

e
id

2
3

-0

A
d

o
p

ti
o

n
 o

f 
th

e
 

A
d

m
in

is
tr

a
ti

v
e

 C
o

d
e

2
T

h
e

 C
o

m
m

is
s
io

n
 a

p
p

ro
v
e

d
 t

h
e

 a
d

o
p

ti
o

n
 o

f 
th

e
 A

d
m

in
is

tr
a

ti
v
e

 C
o

d
e

 

w
it
h

 c
h

a
n

g
e

s
 t

o
 S

e
c
ti
o

n
 4

.5
.

H
a

rp
e

r
S

ta
ro

s
c
ia

k
2

3
-0

A
p

p
ro

v
a

l 
o

f 
th

e
 T

ra
n

s
it

 

A
g

e
n

c
y
 F

e
e

s

3
T

h
e

 C
o

m
m

is
s
io

n
 a

p
p

ro
v
e

d
 t

h
e

 A
d

 H
o

c
 C

o
m

m
it
te

e
 o

n
 M

e
rg

e
r'
s
 

re
c
o

m
m

e
n

d
a

ti
o

n
s
 t

o
 a

s
s
e

s
s
 A

C
 T

ra
n

s
it
 a

n
d

 B
A

R
T

 a
n

d
 A

la
m

e
d

a
 C

T
C

 

fe
e

.

H
a

g
g

e
rt

y
S

b
ra

n
ti

2
3

-0

A
p

p
o

in
t/

R
e
a

p
p

o
in

t 

C
o

u
n

ty
w

id
e

 T
ra

n
s

p
o

rt
a
ti

o
n

 

P
la

n
 U

p
d

a
te

 a
n

d
 S

a
le

s
 T

a
x

 

R
e

a
u

th
o

ri
z
a

ti
o

n
 S

te
e

ri
n

g
 

C
o

m
m

it
te

e
 M

e
m

b
e

rs

4
S

ta
ff

 r
e

c
o

m
m

e
n

d
 t

h
a

t 
th

e
 C

o
m

m
is

s
io

n
 a

p
p

o
in

t 
a

n
d

/o
r 

re
a

p
p

o
in

t 

m
e

m
b

e
rs

 o
f 

th
e

 C
o

u
n

ty
w

id
e

 T
ra

n
s
p

o
rt

a
ti
o

n
 P

la
n

 U
p

d
a

te
 a

n
d

 S
a

le
s
 

T
a

x
 R

e
a

u
th

o
ri

z
a

ti
o

n
 S

te
e

ri
n

g
 C

o
m

m
it
te

e
.

K
a

m
e

n
a

L
a

i-
B

it
k
e

r
2

4
-0

A
C

C
M

A
 E

x
e

c
u

ti
v
e

 

D
ir

e
c

to
r'

s
 R

e
p

o
rt

5
.2

S
ta

ff
 i
n

fo
rm

e
d

 t
h

e
 C

o
m

m
is

s
io

n
 t

h
a

t 
th

e
 A

C
C

M
A

 w
ill

 s
u

b
m

it
 t

o
 t

h
e

 

re
g

is
te

r 
o

f 
v
o

te
rs

 t
h

e
 v

e
h

ic
le

 r
e

g
is

tr
a

ti
o

n
 f

e
e

 o
n

 J
u

ly
 2

3
. 

T
h

e
 

C
o
m

m
is

s
io

n
 a

s
k
e

d
 i
f 

th
e

 b
a

llo
t 

m
e

a
s
u

re
 s

ta
te

s
 t

h
a

t 
th

e
 m

o
n

e
y
 w

ill
 

s
ta

y
 l
o

c
a

l.
 T

h
e

 C
o

m
m

is
s
io

n
 a

u
th

o
ri

z
e

d
 s

ta
ff

 t
o

 a
d

d
 t

h
e

 w
o

rd
 l
o

c
a

l 
if
 

it
's

 n
o

t 
o

n
 t

h
e

 b
a

llo
t.

K
a

p
la

n
J
a

v
a

n
d

e
l

2
5

-0

6
.1

A
p

p
ro

v
a

l 
o

f 
A

C
T

IA
 B

o
a

rd
 M

e
e

ti
n

g
 M

in
u

te
s
 o

f 
J
u

n
e

 2
4

, 
2

0
1

0

6
.2

A
p

p
ro

v
a

l 
o

f 
A

C
C

M
A

 B
o

a
rd

 M
e

e
ti
n

g
 M

in
u

te
s
, 

J
u

n
e

 2
4

, 
2

0
1

0

6
.3

.1
T

e
le

g
ra

p
h

 A
v
e

n
u

e
 C

o
rr

id
o

r 
B

u
s
 R

a
p

id
 T

ra
n

s
it
 -

 A
p

p
ro

v
a

l 
o

f 
M

e
a

s
u

re
 

B
 A

llo
c
a

ti
o

n
 t

o
 t

h
e

 P
E

/E
n

v
ir

o
n

m
e

n
ta

l 
P

h
a

s
e

 a
n

d
 A

p
p

ro
v
a

l 
o

f 

A
m

e
n

d
m

e
n

t 
N

o
. 

4
 t

o
 t

h
e

 P
E

/E
n

v
ir

o
n

m
e

n
ta

l 
P

ro
je

c
t 

S
p

e
c
if
ic

 F
u

n
d

in
g

 

A
g

re
e

m
e

n
t 

w
it
h

 A
C

 T
ra

n
s
it

6
.3

.2
E

a
s
t 

B
a

y
 G

re
e

n
w

a
y
 P

ro
je

c
t 

- 
A

p
p

ro
v
a

l 
o

f 
th

e
 C

o
n

s
u

lt
a

n
t 

S
h

o
rt

lis
t 

a
n

d
 

A
u

th
o

ri
z
a

ti
o

n
 t

o
 I

n
te

rv
ie

w
, 

N
e
g

o
ti
a

te
 a

n
d

 E
x
e

c
u

te
 a

 C
o

n
tr

a
c
t 

w
it
h

 t
h

e
 

T
o

p
-R

a
n

k
e

d
 F

ir
m

 f
o

r 
E

n
g

in
e

e
ri

n
g

, 
E

n
v
ir

o
n

m
e

n
ta

l 
C

le
a

ra
n

c
e

 a
n

d
 

Im
p

le
m

e
n

ta
ti
o

n
 S

tr
a

te
g

y
 S

e
rv

ic
e

s

6
.3

.3
M

e
a

s
u

re
 B

 C
a
p

it
a

l 
P

ro
je

c
ts

 -
 I

-8
8

0
/M

is
s
io

n
 B

lv
d

 (
R

t 
2

6
2

) 
In

te
rc

h
a

n
g

e
 

R
e
c
o

n
s
tr

u
c
ti
o

n
 a

n
d

 I
-8

8
0

 t
o

 M
is

s
io

n
 B

lv
d

 E
a

s
t-

W
e

s
t 

C
o
n

n
e

c
to

r 
- 

U
p
d

a
te

 o
n

 F
u

n
d

in
g

 P
la

n
s

6
.4

.1
A

p
p

ro
v
a

l 
o

f 
F

in
a

l 
C

o
u

n
ty

w
id

e
 S

a
fe

 R
o

u
te

s
 t

o
 S

c
h

o
o

ls
 P

ro
g

ra
m

.

6
.4

.2
A

p
p

ro
v
a

l 
o

f 
C

o
n

tr
a

c
t 

E
x
te

n
s
io

n
 f

o
r 

E
x
e

c
u

ti
v
e

 D
ir

e
c
to

r

6
.4

.3
Y

e
a

r-
E

n
d

 D
e

ta
il 

o
f 

In
v
e

s
tm

e
n

ts
 f

o
r 

A
C

T
A

 a
n

d
 A

C
T

IA
 F

u
n

d
s

2
2

-J
u

l-
1

0

A
p

p
ro

v
a

l 
o

f 
C

o
n

s
e

n
t 

C
a
le

n
d

a
r

H
a

g
g

e
rt

y
H

e
n

s
o

n
2

5
-0

P
a

g
e

 1
 o

f 
5

CW
C 

M
ee

ti
ng

 1
/1

0/
11

 
   

   
   

  A
tt

ac
hm

en
t 0

8A

Page 117



A
la

m
e

d
a

 C
o

u
n

ty
 T

ra
n

s
p

o
rt

a
ti

o
n

 C
o

m
m

is
s

io
n

A
c

ti
o

n
 I

te
m

s

6
.5

.1
T

ra
n

s
p

o
rt

a
ti
o

n
 a

n
d

 L
a

n
d

 U
s
e

 P
ro

g
ra

m
 -

 A
p

p
ro

v
a

l 
o

f 
T

ra
n

s
it
 O

ri
e

n
te

d
 

D
e
v
e

lo
p

m
e

n
t 

Q
u

a
rt

e
rl

y
 U

p
d

a
te

6
.5

.2
A

p
p

ro
v
a

l 
o

f 
S

a
fe

 R
o

u
te

s
 t

o
 S

c
h

o
o

l 
F

in
a

l 
P

ro
g

ra
m

6
.6

.1
Q

u
a

rt
e

rl
y
 I

n
v
e

s
tm

e
n

t 
R

e
p

o
rt

6
.6

.2
Q

u
a

rt
e

rl
y
 S

B
E

, 
L

B
E

, 
a

n
d

 D
B

E
 R

e
p

o
rt

s

6
.6

.3
R

o
u

te
 8

4
/A

rd
e

n
w

o
o

d
 B

lv
d

 P
a

rk
 a

n
d

 R
id

e
 L

o
t 

P
ro

je
c
t 

- 
(R

e
g

io
n

a
l 

M
e

a
s
u

re
 2

 P
ro

je
c
t 

2
9

.5
) 

- 
A

c
c
e

p
ta

n
c
e

 o
f 

C
o
n

s
tr

u
c
ti
o

n
 C

o
n

tr
a

c
t

6
.6

.4
I-

6
8

0
 E

x
p

re
s
s
 L

a
n

e
 P

ro
je

c
t 

- 
A

u
th

o
ri

z
a

ti
o

n
 f

o
r 

A
C

C
M

A
 D

ir
e

c
to

r 
to

 

N
e
g

o
ti
a

te
 a

n
d

 E
x
e

c
u

te
 P

ro
fe

s
s
io

n
a

l 
S

e
rv

ic
e

s
 a

n
d

 C
o

-L
o

c
a

ti
o

n
 

C
o
n

tr
a

c
ts

A
C

T
IA

 A
L

F
 L

e
g

is
la

ti
v
e

 

P
ro

g
ra

m

9
.1

S
ta

ff
 r

e
c
o

m
m

e
n

d
e

d
 t

h
a

t 
th

e
 C

o
m

m
is

s
io

n
 s

u
p

p
o

rt
 A

B
 2

1
4

7
 w

h
ic

h
 w

a
s
 

a
m

e
n

d
e

d

H
e

n
s
o

n
K

a
m

e
n

a
2

5
-0

A
C

C
M

A
 P

P
C

n
e

w
 F

e
d

e
ra

l 
A

c
t 

P
ro

g
ra

m
: 

A
p

p
ro

v
a

l 
o

f 
F

in
a

l 
C

M
A

 

B
lo

c
k

 G
ra

n
t 

P
ro

g
ra

m

1
0

.1
T

h
e

 C
o

m
m

is
s
io

n
 a

p
p

ro
v
e

d
 t

h
e

 f
in

a
l 
C

M
A

 B
lo

c
k
 G

ra
n

t 
p

ro
g

ra
m

 (
L

o
c
a

l 

S
tr

e
e

ts
 a

n
d

 R
o

a
d

s
, 

R
e
g

io
n

a
l 
B

ic
y
c
le

 P
ro

g
ra

m
, 

a
n

d
 C

o
u

n
ty

 

T
ra

n
s
p

o
rt

a
ti
o

n
 o

f 
L

iv
a

b
le

 C
o

m
m

u
n

it
ie

s
)

H
e

n
s
o

n
K

a
m

e
n

a
2

5
-0

A
p

p
ro

v
a

l 
o

f 
T

ra
n

s
p

o
rt

a
ti

o
n

 

F
u

n
d

 f
o

r 
C

le
a

n
 A

ir
 (

T
F

C
A

):
 

F
Y

 2
0

1
0

/1
1

 F
in

a
l 

P
ro

g
ra

m

1
0

.2
T

h
e

 C
o

m
m

is
s
io

n
 a

p
p

ro
v
e

d
 t

h
e

 T
F

C
A

 F
Y

 2
0

1
0

/1
1

 f
in

a
l 
p

ro
g

ra
m

 a
n

d
 

to
 a

u
th

o
ri

z
e

 t
h

e
 E

x
e

c
u

ti
v
e

 D
ir

e
c
to

r 
to

 e
x
e

c
u

te
 a

n
y
 n

e
c
e

s
s
a

ry
 

a
g

re
e

m
e

n
ts

 r
e

la
te

d
 t

o
 t

h
is

 p
ro

g
ra

m
m

in
g

W
ie

c
k
o

w
s
k
i

F
re

it
a

s
2

5
-0

A
p

p
ro

v
a

l 
o

f 
A

m
e

n
d

m
e

n
t 

R
e
q

u
e

s
t:

 T
ra

n
s

p
o

rt
a
ti

o
n

 

E
n

h
a

n
c

e
m

e
n

t 
(T

E
) 

fu
n

d
s

 f
o

r 

th
e

 L
A

V
T

A
 R

id
e

o
 B

u
s

 

P
ro

je
c

t

1
0

.3
.1

T
h

e
 C

o
m

m
is

s
io

n
 a

p
p

ro
v
e

d
 t

h
e

 p
ro

g
ra

m
m

in
g

 o
f 

$
2

0
0

,0
0

0
 i
n

 S
T

IP
 T

E
 

fu
n

d
s
 f

o
r 

L
A

V
T

A
's

 R
id

e
o

 B
u

s
 P

ro
je

c
t

K
a

m
e

n
a

H
a

g
g

e
rt

y
2

5
-1

A
p

p
ro

v
a

l 
o

f 
2

0
1

0
 S

T
O

P
 

U
p

d
a

te
: 

B
A

R
T

 O
a
k

la
n

d
 

A
ir

p
o

rt
 C

o
n

n
e

c
to

r 
P

ro
je

c
t

1
0

.3
.2

T
h

e
 C

o
m

m
is

s
io

n
 a

p
p

ro
v
e

d
 t

o
 t

h
e

 f
o

llo
w

in
g

 a
m

e
n

d
m

e
n

ts
 t

o
 t

h
e

 

A
la

m
e

d
a

 C
o

u
n

ty
 S

T
IP

 p
ro

je
c
t 

lis
t:

 1
) 

R
e

p
ro

g
ra

m
 $

1
0

 m
ill

io
n

 i
n

 S
T

IP
 

fu
n

d
s
 f

ro
m

 t
h

e
 I

-8
8

0
 S

a
fe

ty
 a

n
d

 O
p
e

ra
ti
o

n
a

l 
Im

p
ro

v
e

m
e

n
ts

 a
t 

2
3

rd
/2

9
th

 p
ro

je
c
ts

 t
o

 t
h

e
 B

A
R

T
 O

A
C

 p
ro

je
c
t.

 2
) 

R
e

p
ro

g
ra

m
 $

1
0

 

m
ill

io
n

 i
n

 S
T

IP
 f

u
n

d
s
 f

ro
m

 t
h

e
 I

-8
8

0
 M

is
s
io

n
 B

lv
d

. 
i/
c
 p

ro
je

c
ts

 t
o

 t
h

e
 

B
A

R
T

 O
A

C

R
e

id
H

a
g

g
e

rt
y

2
5

-1
 

9
-A

u
g

-1
0

R
e

p
o

rt
 o

n
 C

lo
s

e
d

 S
e

s
s

io
n

6
T

h
e

 C
o

m
m

is
s
io

n
 c

h
o

s
e

 A
rt

h
u

r 
D

a
o

 a
s
 t

h
e

 E
x
e

c
u

ti
v
e

 D
ir

e
c
to

r 
fo

r 
th

e
 

A
la

m
e

d
a

 C
T

C

1
7

-0

1
A

M
in

u
te

s
 o

f 
J
u

ly
  

2
2

, 
2

0
1

0

1
B

M
in

u
te

s
 o

f 
A

u
g

u
s
t 

9
, 

2
0

1
0

1
C

A
p

p
ro

v
a

l 
o

f 
th

e
 2

0
1

0
 L

O
S

 M
o

n
it
o

ri
n

g
 S

tu
d

y
 D

ra
ft

 R
e

p
o

rt

1
D

R
e
v
ie

w
 o

f 
th

e
 I

-8
0

 I
n

te
g

ra
te

d
 C

o
rr

id
o

r 
S

y
s
te

m
 M

a
n

a
g

e
m

e
n

t 
P

la
n

1
E

R
e
v
ie

w
 o

f 
th

e
 I

-8
8

0
 C

o
rr

id
o

r 
S

y
s
te

m
 M

a
n

a
g

e
m

e
n

t 
P

la
n

1
F

A
p

p
ro

v
a

l 
o

f 
T

ra
n

s
p

o
rt

a
ti
o

n
 a

n
d

 L
a

n
d

 U
s
e

 P
ro

g
ra

m
: 

R
e
v
is

e
d

 P
ri

o
ri

ty
 

D
e
v
e

lo
p

m
e

n
t 

A
re

a
 R

e
p

o
rt

in
g

1
G

R
e
v
ie

w
 o

f 
P

ro
je

c
ts

 P
ro

p
o

s
e

d
 f

o
r 

th
e

 F
Y

 2
0

1
0

/1
1

 T
ra

n
s
p

o
rt

a
ti
o

n
 

F
u

n
d

s
 f

o
r 

C
le

a
n

 A
ir

 (
T

F
C

A
) 

R
e

m
a

in
in

g
 P

ro
g

ra
m

 B
a

la
n

c
e

2
2

-J
u

l-
1

0

2
3

-S
e

p
-1

0
A

p
p

ro
v
a

l 
o

f 
C

o
n

s
e

n
t 

C
a
le

n
d

a
r

H
e

n
s
o

n
R

e
id

1
9

-0

A
p

p
ro

v
a

l 
o

f 
C

o
n

s
e

n
t 

C
a
le

n
d

a
r

H
a

g
g

e
rt

y
H

e
n

s
o

n
2

5
-0

P
a

g
e

 2
 o

f 
5

Page 118



A
la

m
e

d
a

 C
o

u
n

ty
 T

ra
n

s
p

o
rt

a
ti

o
n

 C
o

m
m

is
s

io
n

A
c

ti
o

n
 I

te
m

s

1
H

E
a

s
t 

1
4

th
 S

tr
e

e
t/

H
e
s
p

e
ri

a
n

 B
lv

d
/1

5
th

 S
tr

e
e

t 
In

te
rs

e
c
ti
o

n
 

Im
p

ro
v
e

m
e

n
ts

 -
 A

p
p

ro
v
a

l 
o

f 
A

m
e

n
d

m
e

n
t 

N
o
. 

2
 t

o
 t

h
e

 P
ro

je
c
t 

S
p

e
c
if
ic

 

F
u

n
d

in
g

 A
g

re
e

m
e

n
t 

w
it
h

 t
h

e
 C

it
y
 o

f 
S

a
n

 L
e

a
n

d
ro

 f
o

r 
R

ig
h

t-
o

f-
W

a
y
 

S
u

p
p

o
rt

 a
n

d
 C

a
p

it
a

l 
P

h
a

s
e

1
I

I-
6

8
0

/I
-8

8
0

 C
ro

s
s
 C

o
n

n
e

c
to

r 
S

tu
d

ie
s
 -

 A
p

p
ro

v
a

l 
o

f 
A

m
e

n
d

m
e

n
t 

N
o

. 
3

 

to
 t

h
e

 P
ro

je
c
t 

S
p

e
c
if
ic

 F
u

n
d

in
g

 A
g

re
e

m
e

n
t 

w
it
h

 t
h

e
 A

la
m

e
d

a
 C

o
u

n
ty

 

C
o
n

g
e

s
ti
o

n
 M

a
n

a
g

e
m

e
n

t 
A

g
e

n
c
y
 f

o
r 

p
ro

je
c
t 

s
c
o

p
in

g
 w

o
rk

1
J

W
e

b
s
te

r 
S

tr
e

e
t 

S
M

A
R

T
 C

o
rr

id
o

r 
- 

A
p

p
ro

v
a

l 
o

f 
a

m
e

n
d

m
e

n
ts

 t
o

 t
h

e
 

fu
n

d
in

g
 a

g
re

e
m

e
n

ts
 w

it
h

 t
h

e
 C

it
y
 o

f 
A

la
m

e
d

a
 a

n
d

 M
T

C
 f

o
r 

th
e

 

W
e

b
s
te

r 
S

tr
e

e
t 

S
M

A
R

T
 C

o
rr

id
o

r 
P

ro
je

c
t

1
K

 I
-8

8
0

 S
o

u
th

b
o

u
n

d
 H

O
V

 L
a

n
e

 W
id

e
n

in
g

 P
ro

je
c
t 

- 
A

p
p

ro
v
a

l 
o

f 

R
e
s
o

lu
ti
o

n
 1

0
-0

0
4

 A
u

th
o

ri
z
in

g
 t

h
e

 E
x
e

c
u

ti
v
e

 D
ir

e
c
to

r 
to

 E
x
e

c
u

te
 

C
o
n

tr
a

c
ts

 f
o

r 
I-

8
8

0
 S

o
u

th
b

o
u

n
d

 H
O

V
 L

a
n

e
 W

id
e

n
in

g
 P

ro
je

c
t

1
L

U
p
d

a
te

 o
n

 A
g

e
n

c
y
 I

n
s
u

ra
n

c
e

 C
o

v
e

ra
g

e

1
M

P
ro

fe
s
s
io

n
a

l 
S

e
rv

ic
e

s
 A

g
re

e
m

e
n

t 
w

it
h

 M
a

n
a

g
e

m
e

n
t 

P
a

rt
n

e
rs

 -
 

A
p

p
ro

v
a

l 
o

f 
A

m
e

n
d

m
e

n
t 

N
o
. 

1
 t

o
 t

h
e

 P
ro

fe
s
s
io

n
a

l 
S

e
rv

ic
e

s
 

A
g

re
e

m
e

n
t 

w
it
h

 M
a

n
a

g
e

m
e

n
t 

P
a

rt
n

e
rs

 f
o

r 
a

d
m

in
is

tr
a

ti
v
e

 a
s
s
is

ta
n

c
e

 

d
u

ri
n

g
 t

h
e

 t
ra

n
s
it
io

n
 o

f 
A

C
C

M
A

 a
n

d
 A

C
T

IA
 t

o
 t

h
e

 n
e

w
 A

la
m

e
d

a
 C

T
C

1
N

A
p

p
ro

v
a

l 
o

f 
C

o
n

s
u

lt
a

n
t 

T
e

a
m

 f
o

r 
th

e
 U

p
d

a
te

 o
f 

th
e

 C
W

T
P

 a
n

d
 

D
e
v
e

lo
p

m
e

n
t 

o
f 

th
e

 T
E

P

1
O

A
p

p
ro

v
a

l 
o

f 
a

p
p

o
in

tm
e

n
ts

 t
o

 t
h

e
 C

o
m

m
u

n
it
y
 A

d
v
is

o
ry

 C
o

m
m

it
te

e
s

1
P

A
p

p
ro

v
a

l 
o

f 
A

C
T

IA
's

 s
e

m
i-

A
n

n
u

a
l 
L

B
C

E
/S

L
B

E
 R

e
p

o
rt

 f
o

r 
th

e
 P

e
ri

o
d

 

J
a

n
u

a
ry

 1
, 

2
0

1
0

 t
h

ro
u

g
h

 J
u

n
e

 3
0

, 
2

0
1

0

A
p

p
ro

v
a

l 
o

f 
L

e
g

is
la

ti
v
e

 

P
ro

g
ra

m

3
A

T
h

e
 C

o
m

m
is

s
io

n
 a

p
p

ro
v
e

d
 s

ta
ff

's
 r

e
c
o

m
m

e
n

d
a

ti
o

n
 o

n
 t

h
e

 f
o

llo
w

in
g

 

p
o

s
it
io

n
s
 f

o
r 

m
e

a
s
u

re
s
 o

n
 t

h
e

 N
o

v
e

m
b

e
r 

b
a

llo
t:

 (
a

) 
s
u

p
p

o
rt

 A
la

m
e

d
a

 

C
o
u

n
ty

 M
e

a
s
u

re
 F

; 
(b

) 
o

p
p

o
s
e

 P
ro

p
o

s
it
io

n
 2

3
; 

©
 s

u
p

p
o

rt
 P

ro
p

o
s
it
io

n
 

2
5

; 
a

n
d

 (
d

) 
o

p
p

o
s
e

 P
ro

p
o

s
it
io

n
 2

6
.

L
a

i-
B

it
k
e

r
K

a
p

la
n

2
6

-0

A
p

p
ro

v
a

l 
o

f 
A

la
m

e
d

a
 C

T
C

 

S
p

o
n

s
o

rs
h

ip
 f

o
r 

th
e

 S
R

2
S

 

R
e
g

io
n

a
l 

A
p

p
li

c
a

ti
o

n
 f

o
r 

th
e

 

B
ik

e
M

o
b

il
e

 P
ro

je
c

t 
a

n
d

 

F
u

n
d

in
g

 S
tr

a
te

g
y

4
A

T
h

e
 C

o
m

m
is

s
io

n
 a

p
p

ro
v
e

d
 A

la
m

e
d

a
 C

T
C

 R
e
s
o

lu
ti
o

n
 1

0
-0

0
3

 

a
c
c
e

p
ti
n

g
 t

h
e

 p
u

b
lic

 s
p

o
n

s
o

r 
ro

le
 f

o
r 

th
e

 S
a

fe
 R

o
u

te
s
 t

o
 S

c
h

o
o

l 

C
o
m

p
e

ti
ti
v
e

 G
ra

n
t 

A
p

p
lic

a
ti
o

n
 f

o
r 

th
e

 B
ik

e
M

o
b

ile
 p

ro
je

c
t,

 a
n

d
 t

o
 

c
o

m
m

it
 u

p
 t

o
 $

6
5

,0
0

0
 i
n

 m
a

tc
h

in
g

 f
u

n
d

s
 f

o
r 

th
e

 $
5

0
0

,0
0

0
 r

e
q

u
e

s
t 

fr
o

m
 t

h
e

 M
T

C
 S

R
2
S

 c
o

m
p

e
ti
ti
v
e

 g
ra

n
t 

p
ro

g
ra

m
.

K
a

m
e

n
a

J
a

v
a

n
d

e
l

2
7

-0

A
p

p
ro

v
a

l 
o

f 
A

n
n

u
a

l 

In
v
e

s
tm

e
n

t 
R

e
p

o
rt

 (
A

C
T

IA
)

5
A

T
h

e
 C

o
m

m
is

s
io

n
 a

p
p

ro
v
e

d
 A

C
T

IA
's

 F
Y

 2
0

0
9

-1
0

 Y
e

a
r-

E
n

d
 I

n
v
e

s
tm

e
n

t 

R
e
p

o
rt

.

H
a

g
g

e
rt

y
B

la
lo

c
k

2
7

-0

5
A

M
in

u
te

s
 o

f 
S

e
p

te
m

b
e

r 
2

3
, 

2
0

1
0

5
B

R
e
v
ie

w
 o

f 
D

ra
ft

 C
o
n

fo
rm

it
y
 F

in
d

in
g

s
: 

C
o
n

g
e

s
ti
o

n
 M

a
n

a
g

e
m

e
n

t 

P
ro

g
ra

m
 (

C
M

P
) 

2
0

1
0

5
C

A
p

p
ro

v
a

l 
o

f 
E

x
e

c
u

ti
v
e

 D
ir

e
c
to

r 
E

n
te

ri
n

g
 I

n
to

 A
g

re
e

m
e

n
t 

to
 I

m
p

le
m

e
n

t 

T
O

D
/T

A
P

 S
tu

d
ie

s
 a

n
d

 P
la

n
s

A
p

p
ro

v
a

l 
o

f 
C

o
n

s
e

n
t 

C
a
le

n
d

a
r

H
e

n
s
o

n
K

a
m

e
n

a
2

3
-0

2
3

-S
e

p
-1

0

2
8

-O
c
t-

1
0

A
p

p
ro

v
a

l 
o

f 
C

o
n

s
e

n
t 

C
a
le

n
d

a
r

H
e

n
s
o

n
R

e
id

1
9

-0

P
a

g
e

 3
 o

f 
5

Page 119



A
la

m
e

d
a

 C
o

u
n

ty
 T

ra
n

s
p

o
rt

a
ti

o
n

 C
o

m
m

is
s

io
n

A
c

ti
o

n
 I

te
m

s

5
D

A
p

p
ro

v
a

l 
o

f 
F

u
n

d
in

g
 A

s
s
is

ta
n

c
e

 f
o

r 
th

e
 A

la
m

e
d

a
 C

o
u

n
ty

 P
u

b
lic

 W
o

rk
s
 

A
g

e
n

c
y
 S

ta
n

le
y
 B

o
u

le
v
a

rd
 S

a
fe

ty
 a

n
d

 S
tr

e
e

ts
c
a

p
e

 P
ro

je
c
t

5
E

A
p

p
ro

v
a

l 
o

f 
P

ro
je

c
t 

S
tu

d
y
 R

e
p

o
rt

/P
ro

je
c
t 

In
it
ia

ti
o

n
 D

o
c
u

m
e

n
t 

(P
S

R
/P

ID
) 

P
ri

o
ri

ty
 L

is
t 

fo
r 

A
la

m
e

d
a

 C
o

u
n

ty
: 

C
u
rr

e
n

t 
a

n
d

 P
ro

je
c
te

d
 

W
o

rk
 P

ro
g

ra
m

5
F

A
p

p
ro

v
a

l 
o

f 
P

ro
g

ra
m

m
in

g
 o

f 
th

e
 F

Y
 2

0
1

0
/1

1
 T

F
C

A
 P

ro
g

ra
m

 

R
e
m

a
in

in
g

 B
a

la
n

c
e

5
G

A
p

p
ro

v
a

l 
o

f 
T

F
C

A
 P

ro
g

ra
m

 E
x
p

e
n

d
it
u

re
 D

e
a

d
lin

e
 E

x
te

n
s
io

n
 R

e
q

u
e

s
ts

:

1
) 

B
A

R
T

 -
 E

le
c
tr

o
n

ic
 B

ic
y
c
le

 L
o

c
k
e

rs
, 

T
F

C
A

 P
ro

je
c
ts

 0
7

A
L

A
0

6
 a

n
d

 

0
8

A
L

A
0

2
. 

2
) 

A
la

m
e

d
a

 C
T

C
 -

 W
e

b
s
te

r 
S

tr
e

e
t 

C
o
rr

id
o

r 
E

n
h

a
n

c
e

m
e

n
ts

, 

T
F

C
A

 P
ro

je
c
t 

0
8

A
L

A
0

1
. 

3
) 

C
it
y
 o

f 
B

e
rk

e
le

y
 -

 9
th

 S
tr

e
e

t 
B

ic
y
c
le

 

B
o

u
le

v
a

rd
, 

T
F

C
A

 P
ro

je
c
t 

0
8

A
L

A
0

3

5
H

A
p

p
ro

v
a

l 
o

f 
M

o
n

it
o

ri
n

g
 R

e
p

o
rt

s
:

S
ta

te
 T

ra
n

s
p

o
rt

a
ti
o

n
 I

m
p

ro
v
e

m
e

n
t 

(S
T

IP
) 

P
ro

g
ra

m
 a

t 
R

is
k
 R

e
p

o
rt

F
e

d
e

ra
l 
S

u
rf

a
c
e

 T
ra

n
s
p

o
rt

a
ti
o

n
/C

o
n

g
e

s
ti
o

n
 M

it
ig

a
ti
o

n
 a

n
d

 A
ir

 Q
u

a
lit

y
 

S
T

P
/C

M
A

Q
) 

P
ro

g
ra

m
 A

t 
R

is
k
 R

e
p

o
rt

C
M

A
 E

x
c
h

a
n

g
e

 P
ro

g
ra

m
 Q

u
a

rt
e

rl
y
 S

ta
tu

s
 R

e
p

o
rt

T
ra

n
s
p

o
rt

a
ti
o

n
 f

o
r 

C
le

a
n

 A
ir

 (
T

F
C

A
) 

P
ro

g
ra

m
 A

t 
R

is
k
 R

e
p

o
rt

T
ra

n
s
it
 O

ri
e

n
te

d
 D

e
v
e

lo
p

m
e

n
t 

Q
u

a
rt

e
rl

y
 P

ro
g

re
s
s
 R

e
p

o
rt

, 

T
ra

n
s
p

o
rt

a
ti
o

n
 a

n
d

 L
a

n
d

 U
s
e

 P
ro

g
ra

m

5
I

A
u

th
o

ri
z
a

ti
o

n
 t

o
 E

x
te

n
d

 F
o

u
r 

M
e

a
s
u

re
 B

 G
ra

n
t 

A
g

re
e

m
e

n
t 

E
n

d
 D

a
te

s

5
J

A
c
c
e

p
ta

n
c
e

 o
f 

S
e

m
i-

A
n

n
u

a
l 
C

a
p

it
a

l 
P

ro
je

c
ts

 S
ta

tu
s
 U

p
d

a
te

5
K

A
C

C
M

A
 Q

u
a

rt
e

rl
y
 F

in
a

n
c
ia

l 
O

v
e

rv
ie

w

5
L

A
p

p
ro

v
a

l 
o

f 
A

C
C

M
A

's
 Q

u
a

rt
e

rl
y
 S

B
E

, 
L

B
E

 a
n

d
 D

B
E

 R
e

p
o

rt
 f

o
r 

th
e

 

P
e

ri
o

d
 o

f 
J
u

ly
 2

0
1

0
 t

h
ro

u
g

h
 S

e
p

te
m

b
e

r 
3

0
, 

2
0

1
0

5
M

A
p

p
ro

v
a

l 
o

f 
In

te
ra

g
e

n
c
y
 A

g
re

e
m

e
n

t 
R

e
g

a
rd

in
g

 R
e

im
b

u
rs

e
m

e
n

t 
a

n
d

 

A
llo

c
a

ti
o

n
 o

f 
C

o
s
ts

 A
s
s
o

c
ia

te
d

 w
it
h

 t
h

e
 J

o
in

t 
O

p
e

ra
ti
o

n
 o

f 
th

e
 

A
la

m
e

d
a

 C
o

u
n

ty
 T

ra
n

s
p

o
rt

a
ti
o

n
 C

o
m

m
is

s
io

n
 (

A
la

m
e

d
a

 C
T

C
),

 t
h

e
 

A
la

m
e

d
a

 C
o

u
n

ty
 T

ra
n

s
p

o
rt

a
ti
o

n
 I

m
p

ro
v
e

m
e

n
t 

A
u

th
o

ri
ty

 (
A

C
T

IA
) 

a
n

d
 

th
e

 A
la

m
e

d
a

 C
o

u
n

ty
 C

o
n

g
e

s
ti
o

n
 M

a
n

a
g

e
m

e
n

t 
A

g
e

n
c
y
 (

C
M

A
)

5
N

A
p

p
ro

v
a

l 
o

f 
a

p
p

o
in

tm
e

n
ts

 t
o

 t
h

e
 C

o
m

m
u

n
it
y
 A

d
v
is

o
ry

 C
o

m
m

it
te

e
s

A
p

p
ro

v
a

l 
o

f 
C

o
u

n
ty

w
id

e
 

A
p

p
ro

a
c

h
 f

o
r 

S
e

e
k

in
g

 I
n

p
u

t 

o
n

 t
h

e
 S

u
s

ta
in

a
b

le
 

C
o

m
m

u
n

it
ie

s
 S

tr
a

te
g

y
 (

S
C

S
)

7
B

T
h

e
 C

o
m

m
is

s
io

n
 a

p
p

ro
v
e

d
 a

 c
o

u
n

ty
w

id
e

 a
p

p
ro

a
c
h

 f
o

r 
s
e

e
k
in

g
 i
n

p
u

t 

o
n

 a
n

d
 e

d
u

c
a

ti
n

g
 t

h
e

 A
la

m
e

d
a

 C
o

u
n

ty
's

 e
le

c
te

d
 b

o
d

ie
s
 a

b
o

u
t 

S
C

S
 

b
e

in
g

 d
e

v
e

lo
p

e
d

 b
y
 A

B
A

G
 a

n
d

 M
T

C
 f

o
r 

th
e

 2
0

1
3

 R
e

g
io

n
a

l 

T
ra

n
s
p

o
rt

a
ti
o

n
 P

la
n

K
a

p
la

n
W

o
rt

h
in

g
to

n
2

4
-0

A
p

p
ro

v
a

l 
o

f 
F

Y
 2

0
1

0
-2

0
1

1
 

B
u

d
g

e
t 

- 
F

ir
s
t 

Q
u

a
rt

e
r 

U
p

d
a

te

9
A

T
h

e
 C

o
m

m
is

s
io

n
 a

p
p

ro
v
e

d
 t

h
e

 F
ir

s
t 

Q
u

a
rt

e
r 

b
u

d
g

e
t 

u
p

d
a

te
 f

o
r 

F
Y

 

2
0

1
0

-1
1

H
e

n
s
o

n
B

la
lo

c
k

2
4

-0

A
p

p
ro

v
a

l 
o

f 
C

o
n

s
e

n
t 

C
a
le

n
d

a
r

H
e

n
s
o

n
K

a
m

e
n

a
2

3
-0

2
8

-O
c
t-

1
0

P
a

g
e

 4
 o

f 
5

Page 120



A
la

m
e

d
a

 C
o

u
n

ty
 T

ra
n

s
p

o
rt

a
ti

o
n

 C
o

m
m

is
s

io
n

A
c

ti
o

n
 I

te
m

s

A
p

p
ro

v
a

l 
o

f 
a

 

C
o

m
p

re
h

e
n

s
iv

e
 B

e
n

e
fi

ts
 

P
ro

g
ra

m
 f

o
r 

T
ra

n
s

it
io

n
 a

n
d

 

F
u

tu
re

 E
m

p
lo

y
e

e
s

 o
f 

th
e

 

A
la

m
e

d
a

 C
o

u
n

ty
 

T
ra

n
s

p
o

rt
a
ti

o
n

 C
o

m
m

is
s

io
n

9
B

T
h

e
 C

o
m

m
is

s
io

n
 a

p
p

ro
v
e

d
 a

 c
o

m
p

re
h

e
n

s
iv

e
 b

e
n

e
fi
t 

p
ro

g
ra

m
 f

o
r 

tr
a

n
s
it
io

n
 a

n
d

 n
e

w
 e

m
p

lo
y
e

e
s
 o

f 
th

e
 A

la
m

e
d

a
 C

T
C

. 

K
a

m
e

n
a

B
la

lo
c
k

2
0

-3

2
8

-O
c
t-

1
0

P
a

g
e

 5
 o

f 
5

Page 121



 

 
 

This page intentionally left blank. 
 
 

 Page 122



FY 2010/2011 Calendar of CWC Meetings and Activities 
CWC meets quarterly on the second Monday from 6:30 to 8:30 p.m. at the ACTIA offices 

 
July 12, 2010 CWC Meeting 

 CWC Holds Public Hearing on CWC 8th Annual Report 
 CWC Addresses Public Comments 
 CWC Finalizes Annual Report and Publications 
 Approval FY 10/11 Annual Calendar 
 Approval of CWC Bylaws  
 CWC Watch List for fiscal year 2010-2011 (Send letter to Jurisdictions reminding them 

of keeping CWC informed on projects/programs) 
 
November 8, 2010 CWC Meeting  

 ACTIA Audit and Internal Presentation 
 CWC Annual Report Publication Update 
 Update on Program Compliance Workshop 
 Cost Allocation Policy 
 Quarterly Alameda CTC Commission Action Items 

 
January 10, 2011 CWC Meeting 

 Sponsor Compliance Audits and Reports – Forwarded to CWC without Staff Analysis 
 Committee Leadership Training 
 Project Sponsor Presentations – if requested  
 Quarterly Alameda CTC Commission Action Items 

 
March 14, 2011 CWC Meeting 

 Summary of Sponsor Audits/Programs – Report Card to CWC 
 Approve Draft Annual Report Outline 
 Budget Update 
 Update on Board Actions Affecting Fiscal Year 2010/2011 
 Quarterly Alameda CTC Commission Action Items 
 Project Sponsor Presentations – if requested 

April 2011 CWC Annual Report Subcommittee Meeting 
 Prepare Draft Annual Report  

June 13, 2011 CWC Meeting 
 Finalize Draft Annual Report 
 Election of Officers 
 Final Strategic Plan 
 Final Current Year Budget and ACTIA Budget for Fiscal Year 2011/2012 
 Quarterly Alameda CTC Commission Action Items 
 Project Sponsor Presentations – if requested 

 

CWC Meeting 1/10/11 
         Attachment 08A1

Page 123



 

 
 

This page intentionally left blank. 
 
 

 Page 124



M
e

e
ti

n
g

 D
a

te
: 

Ja
n

u
a

ry
 1

0
, 2

0
1

0
A

la
m

e
d

a
 C

o
u

n
ty

 T
ra

n
sp

o
rt

a
ti

o
n

 C
o

m
m

is
si

o
n

C
it

iz
e

n
 W

a
tc

h
d

o
g

 C
o

m
m

it
te

e
R

o
st

e
r 

a
n

d
 A

tt
e

n
d

a
n

ce
F

is
ca

l 
Y

e
a

r 
2

0
1

0
/

2
0

1
1

 

L
a
s
t

F
ir

s
t

C
it

y
A

p
p

o
in

te
d

 B
y

T
e

rm
 B

e
g

a
n

R
e

-a
p

p
tm

t.
T

e
rm

 E
x

p
ir

e
s

M
tg

s
 M

is
s
e

d
  

S
in

c
e

 J
u

ly
 '
1

0
*

1
M

r.
P

a
x
s

o
n

, 
C

h
a
ir

 J
a
m

e
s

 
P

le
a
s

a
n

to
n

E
B

E
D

A
A

p
r-

0
1

N
/A

0

2
M

s
.

L
e
w

, 
V

ic
e
-C

h
a
ir

 J
o

 A
n

n
U

n
io

n
 C

it
y

A
la

m
e

d
a

 C
o

u
n

ty
 M

a
y
o

rs
' 
C

o
n

fe
re

n
c

e
, 

D
-2

O
c

t-
0

7
F

e
b

-1
0

F
e
b

-1
2

0

3
M

s
.

B
e

lc
h

a
m

b
e
r

P
a

m
e

la
B

e
rk

e
le

y
A

la
m

e
d

a
 C

o
u

n
ty

 M
a

y
o

r'
s
 C

o
n
fe

re
n

c
e

, 
D

-5
M

a
r-

0
9

M
a

r-
1

1
0

4
M

r.
C

h
a
v
a

ri
n

R
o

g
e

r
O

a
k
la

n
d

A
la

m
e

d
a

 L
a

b
o

r 
C

o
u
n

c
il 

A
F

L
-C

IO
D

e
c
-0

8
N

/A
0

5
M

r.
D

u
b
in

s
k
y

P
e

te
r

F
re

m
o

n
t

S
u

p
e

rv
is

o
r 

G
a

il 
S

te
e
le

, 
D

-2
O

c
t-

1
0

O
c

t-
1

2
0

6
M

r.
G

a
lla

g
h

e
r

 T
h

o
m

a
s
 

P
le

a
s
a

n
to

n
A

la
m

e
d

a
 C

o
u

n
ty

 M
a

y
o

rs
' 
C

o
n
fe

re
n

c
e

, 
D

-1
J
a

n
-0

8
F

e
b

-1
0

F
e
b

-1
2

1

7
M

r.
G

e
e
n

 A
rt

h
u
r 

B
. 

O
a

k
la

n
d

A
la

m
e

d
a

 C
o
u

n
ty

 T
a

x
p

a
y
e

rs
 A

s
s
o

c
ia

ti
o
n

J
a

n
-0

1
N

/A
1

8
M

r.
H

a
u
s
s
e

n
e

r
J
a

m
e

s
C

a
s
tr

o
 V

a
lle

y
S

u
p
e

rv
is

o
r 

N
a

te
 M

ile
y
, 

D
-4

F
e
b

-1
0

F
e
b

-1
2

0

9
M

s
. 

M
ir
ia

m
H

a
w

le
y

B
e

rk
e

le
y

L
e
a

g
u

e
 o

f 
W

o
m

e
n

 V
o

te
rs

O
c
t-

1
0

O
c

t-
1

2
0

1
0

M
r.

J
e

n
s
e

n
E

ri
k

O
a

k
la

n
d

E
a

s
t 

B
a

y
 B

ic
y
c
le

 C
o
a

lit
io

n
M

a
y
-1

0
M

a
y
-1

2
0

1
1

M
s
.

M
a

rr
M

e
lo

d
y

S
a

n
 L

e
a

n
d

ro
A

la
m

e
d

a
 C

o
u

n
ty

 M
a

y
o

rs
' 
C

o
n
fe

re
n

c
e

, 
 D

-3
D

e
c
-0

9
D

e
c
-1

1
1

1
2

M
s
.

S
a

u
n

d
e

rs
H

a
rr

ie
tt

e
 

A
la

m
e

d
a

P
A

P
C

O
J
u

l-
0

9
N

/A
0

1
3

M
r.

S
ta

rk
 D

a
v
e

P
le

a
s
a

n
to

n
S

u
p
e

rv
is

o
r 

S
c
o

tt
 H

a
g

g
e

rt
y
, 

D
-1

M
a

r-
0

8
M

a
r-

1
0

M
a

r-
1

2
1

1
4

M
r.

Z
ik

a
G

e
o
rg

e
D

u
b
lin

A
la

m
e

d
a

 C
o
u

n
ty

 M
a

y
o

rs
' 
C

o
n
fe

re
n

c
e

, 
D

-4
F

e
b

-1
0

F
e
b

-1
2

1

1
5

M
r.

 
Z

u
k
a

s
H

a
le

B
e

rk
e

le
y

S
u

p
e

rv
is

o
r 

K
e

it
h

 C
a
rs

o
n
, 

D
-5

J
u

n
-0

9
J

u
n

-1
1

0

1
6

V
a

c
a

n
c

y
S

u
p

e
rv

is
o

r 
A

li
c

e
 L

a
i-

B
it

k
e
r,

 D
-3

\\
A

la
m

e
d
a
\m

e
a
s
u
re

b
\S

H
A

R
E

D
\G

o
v
B

o
a
rd

\A
C

T
IA

\C
W

C
\C

W
C

 R
e
c
o
rd

s
 a

n
d
 A

d
m

in
is

tr
a
ti
o
n
\2

_
M

e
m

b
e
r 

R
o
s
te

r\
C

W
C

_
R

o
s
te

r 
a
n
d
 A

tt
e
n
d
a
n
c
e
_
1
2
0
9
1
0
.x

ls

CW
C 

M
ee

ti
ng

 1
/1

0/
11

 
   

   
  A

tt
ac

hm
en

t 0
8A

2

Page 125


	01_Audit_Compliance_Report_Summary_FY09-10
	Blank_Pages 1
	04_CWC_Meeting_Minutes_110810
	Blank_Pages 10
	04A_CWC_Ad-hoc_Committee_Meeting_Minutes_110310
	Blank_Pages 11
	05_Memo_Regional_SCS_RTP_CWTP_TEP_Process
	Blank_Pages 2
	05A_CWTP-TEP-SCS_Development_Impl_Schedule
	Blank_Pages 3
	05B_ABAG_Staff_Report_on_SCS
	Blank_Pages 4
	05C_SCS_Schedule
	Blank_Pages 5
	05D_CAWG_and_TAWG_Rosters
	Blank_Pages 6
	05E_CWTP-TEP_Planning_Webpage
	06_CWC_Issues_Identification_Form
	07A_Brown_Act_Guide
	Blank_Pages 7
	07B_Brown_Act_Amendment_Brief_2008
	08A_AlamedaCTC_Action_Items
	Blank_Pages 8
	08A1_CWC_Calendar
	July 12, 2010 CWC Meeting
	 CWC Holds Public Hearing on CWC 8th Annual Report
	November 8, 2010 CWC Meeting 
	January 10, 2011 CWC Meeting
	March 14, 2011 CWC Meeting
	April 2011 CWC Annual Report Subcommittee Meeting
	June 13, 2011 CWC Meeting

	Blank_Pages 9
	08A2_CWC_Roster



